
C H A P T E R  E I G H T :  

Mexico: Falange Concentration Point 

IF GENERAL WILHELM VON FAUPEL ever writes an auto- 
biography, he can well rate his successes in Mexico on a 
level with the Fifth Column he created for the Axis in 
Manila. Through the Falange and its chief Mexican sub- 
sidiaries-the Acci6n National and the Sinarquistas-he 
has established on the borders of the United States of 
America one of the most dangerous Axis centers in the 
entire world. H e  has created a co-ordinated movement em- 
bracing well over a half-million followers engaged in 
espionage, arms smuggling, propaganda, and sorties of vio- 
lence often reaching the scale of actual warfare. And von 
Faupel has forged this Axis army in the space of less than 
a decade. 

Perhaps, if Carlton J. H. Hayes, the American Ambassa- 
dor to  Spain, who in February 1943 chose to make a state- 
ment praising the "wise" peace policies of Francisco Franco, 
had taken time to study the end results of this policy in 
Mexico-perhaps the Ambassador would have tempered his 
words. For in Mexico the mistakes the Western democracies 
made during the Spanish War  between 1936 and 1939 have 
given birth to one of the grisliest of Appeasement's Franken- 
steins. 

Falangismo reached Mexico three years after the Germans 
had set up a widespread and expensive Nazi network. In 
addition to their legations, the Nazis had sixteen organiza- 
tions for Germans in Mexico-organizations ranging from 
the Mexican branch of the Nazi Party to the Ibero- 
American Institute and German sports clubs. The Gestapo 
had a smoothly-running center in Mexico City headed by 
Georg Nicolaus. Nazi cells functioned from Guatemala 
to  Texas. Something like twenty thousand Germans all 
over Mexico paid their dues to the Nazi collectors and car- 
ried out the orders of their local leaders. 
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In the early part of 1935, the Nazi leaders of Mexico 
received orders to cultivate the wealthier members of the 
Spanish colonies of Mexico. The Spaniards in Mexico owned 
about 60 per cent of the agricultural acreage, most of the 
real estate in Mexico City, and many mining interests. 
More than two-thirds of the textile mills in Mexico belonged 
to Spaniards. The Spanish Colony had a virtual monopoly 
of the domestic mercantile commerce of the nation, the 
printing and publishing business, and the processed-food 
industries. 

The  men who owned these enterprises looked down , 

upon Mexicans as inferiors and viewed the Mexican Re- 
public as something alien to  their best interests. They had 
important investments in Spain and, generally, considered 
the Spanish Republic to be an instrument of government as 
menacing to themselves as the Mexican Republic. 

When Hitler invaded the Spanish Republic in 1936, the 
upper crust of Mexico's Spanish Colony required little 
prodding to jump on the Axis steamroller. The Falange 
program was one that appealed to  their hearts and their 
purses, not only as the program that could do them the 
most good in Spain, but also as an eminently desirable blue- 
print of the ideal Mexican State. The Nazis in Mexico were 
able to sell the Spaniards on the idea that the triumph of 
the Axis in Spain would be the preliminary to  the establish- 
ment of a Falangist state in Mexico. 

Under Nazi supervision, the Falange was created in 
Mexico within weeks of the start of the Spanish War. By 
the time the German, Italian, and Japanese legations were 
expelled by the Mexican Government in 1941, the Axis 
had, in the Mexican Falange, an instrument capable of 
continuing its anti-American activities from the strategic 
and valuable Mexican base. Since Pearl Harbor, the Falange 
network in Mexico has, if anything, grown stronger and 
more menacing. It is not only the Axis Fifth Column nearest 
the United States borders; it is also the most powerful 
anti-American force in the hemisphere. 

Nominal chief of all Falange activities in Mexico is 
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Augusto Ibafiez Serrano, a Spaniard who had lived in 
Mexico for many years before the Nazis gave him their- 
blessing in 1936. He sometimes signs his letters as "Personal 
Representative of Generalissimo Francisco Franco in Mex- 
ico." Although he receives his mail at 1 2 3  Calle Articulo, 
Mexico City, visitors to this building would have great 
difficulty finding Ibafiez Serrano. The  best place to find 
him is in the office he maintains in the Portuguese Legation 
in Mexico City. 

Mexico, the' only country in the Western Hemisphere 
which had aided the Spanish Republic, has never had diplo- 
matic relations with Axis Spain. Portugal looks after Spanish 
diplomatic interests in Mexico. All Spaniardswho visit the 
Portuguese Legation for any reason must first be cleared 
by Ibaiiez Serrano before they will be received by the 
Legation's officials. 

From his offices in the Portuguese Legation, Ibaiiez Ser- 
rano today directs all Falange activities in Mexico. H e  is 
the direct link between the Nazis in Europe and the secret 
Fascist armies on the American border. Through special 
couriers, Ibaiiez Serrano keeps in constant touch with 
Colonel Sanz Agero, the current chief of all Falange activi- 
ties in Central America, and with the Spanish Embassy in 
Washington. Colonel Agero is the Spanish Minister to  
Guatemala. 

Ibaiiez Serrano operates through three close 
lieutenants, all of them lawyers. They are Alejandro Qui- 
jano, G6mez Morin, and Carlos Prieto. Quijano is Ibafiez 
Serrano's legal adviser. Morin supervises the activities of 
Mexican groups organized and run by the Falange. Prieto, 
among other things, keeps contact with Nuiiez Iglesias in 
the Spanish Embassy in Washington. 

These four men have the intimate and varied activities 
of Falangismo in Mexico at their fingertips. They see to it 
that the various organizations under their control contribute 
on an average of three hundred thousand pesos each 
month to defray part of the expenses of running the net- 
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work. Under the watchful eye of Gestapo-trained members 
of the Spanish Secret Service in Mexico, the four top leaders 
disburse these funds where they will do the United Nations 
the most harm. 

The official Falange Espafiola Tradicionalista de la 
J.O.N.S. en Mkjico has about 50,000 uniformed, dues-pay- 
ing members. Although the majority of its members are 
Mexicans of Spanish descent, Mexican citizens are not per- 
mitted to hold important osts in the organization. The 
chief strongholds of the formal Falange in Mexico are 
centered in Puebla, Vera Cruz, Mkrida, Comithn, Guadala- 
jara, Morelia, Mazatlhn, Guanajuato, Tampico, Monterrey, 
Torreon, and Guaymas. Here corps of blue-shined Falan- 
gistas, trained by a succession of German and Spanish mili- 
tary officers, are at the service of General von Faupel and 
his subordinates in the Americas. 

As the hour for Pearl Harbor approached, von Faupel 
considerably tightened the organizational controls of the 
Falange in Mexico. The most important move made for 
this purpose was the assignment given to Eulogio Celorio 
Sordo, who was sent from Spain to  take charge of the 
uniformed Falange of Mexico in July, I 941. Celorio Sordo's 
title is Provincial Chief of the Falange in Mexico. H e  re- 
ceives his orders directly from Madrid, and is equal in rank 
with Ibafiez Serrano, the nominal chief of Falange activities. 

Celorio Sordo works out of Messones I 27, Mexico City. 
H e  heads the delegation of Falange leaders chosen in Spain, 
rather than in the office run by Ibafiez Serrano at the Portu- 
guese Legation. These Madrid-chosen Falange officers in- 
clude personalities like Maria Luisa Gavito, chief of the 
feminine section and the Auxilio.Socia1 of the Falange, and 
Felipe Yubrita, chief of the Falange in Mexico City. 

As Provincial Chief of the Falange, Celorio Sordo super- 
vises all the activities that the Falangistas themselves classify 
as "illegal." This, however, is not a moral classification. The 
term is used merely to  designate those Falangist actions 
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which happen to  run counter to the laws of Mexico-a judi- 
cial code the Falange recognizes only as an unavoidable nui- 
sance. 

These activities vary greatly, but a mere glance at a 
few representative Falange tasks in this category is enough 
to  explain why they cannot be performed legally in Mexico. 
Three examples picked at random tell their own stories. 

A member of the Falange ran a leather-goods shop in 
Mexico City. Tourists visited the shop for handbags and 
tooled-leather belts. Falange shock troops visited the shop 
regularly-but never as customers. They went to the shop 
for sealed orders, and for packages containing rifles, bullets, 
and machine-gun ammunition. 

A certain business firm whose offices overlooked the blue 
waters of the Gulf of Mexico at Vera Cruz received regular 
shipments from Spain that never were entered in the books 
of the corporation. These special shipments arrived on 
Spanish ships of the C.T.E. line-and consisted of trained 
agents of the Axis assigned to work in Mexico or one of the 
Central American republics. 

A well-known garage in Mexico City is also the center of 
the transportation system used by agents of the Falange and 
the Spanish Secret Service. 

Centers such as these are supervised by Celorio Sordo and 
his aides all over Mexico. T o  keep them working at top 
efficiency, the Falange in Spain has been sending about five 
hundred militantes to the Americas each month since 1939. 
These Spanish Falangistas cross the ocean in C.T.E. ships as 
tourists, business men, educators, and artists. Upon arrival in 
Mexico, they are given new papers and new identities by 
the Falange chiefs and then go to work as Falange agents. 

The important Falangistas are attached to Falange cells 
all over the country. In Mexico they are concentrated 
mainly in Puebla and in provinces of northern Mexico-the 
regions nearer the United States. Chief of these centers are 
Morelia, Guanajuato, and Mazatlin. 

All of the visiting militantes are trained in the basic prin- 
ciples of sabotage, espionage, and secret warfare. Many won 
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their spurs originally as officers in the Franco forces during 
the Spanish War, and in Mexico most of them train Falangist 
shock troops and other military organizations. Acting on 
orders received even before they left Spain, they keep out 
of the limelight entirely in Mexico. They hold no offices 
in the local Falange cells and remain under cover whenever 
the Falange groups they instruct hold any type of public 
demonstration. 

These militantes were originally under the direct super- 
vision of Hans Hellerman, a veteran Nazi agent who was 
sent to Spain by General von Faupel as early as 1934. 
Hellerman remained in Spain until 1937, when he returned 
to Berlin for a short term as chief of the Spanish division 
of the Nazi Party. H e  reached Mexico late in 1938, and 
took charge of the military training of the Falange. Pearl 
Harbor, which precipitated Mexico's entrance into war, 
ended Hellerman's career as generalissimo of the Falange 
shock troops in Mexico; but nearly a year before Pearl 
Harbor, von Faupel sent a new military chief to the Mexican 
Falange. 

The man chosen to supplant Hellerman was Major Jose 
Enrique Carril Ontano, one of the most ruthless com- 
manders of the Fascist armies during the Spanish War. 
Major Carril Ontano had a specialty: he had developed to  
a fine art the technique of razing and looting undefended 
Republican villages. H e  sailed from Spain for Havana in 
January 1941. After his arrival in Havana, the Spanish 
Republican emigres learned that he was in Cuba-and the 
Major went into hiding. In May of that year he sneaked 
out of Havana and went to Mexico City. 

The apartment maintained by the Major at 2 Oriente 
Street in Puebla is seldom used, since he travels over Mexico 
constantly. Major Carril Ontano goes nowhere without 
his picked guard; Mexico has many Republican refugees, 
and the Major is in constant terror of his life. When he is 
in Mexico City, he stays in the vicinity of the Hotel Colisco. 

Two Spanish army officers who also arrived in Mexico 
shortly before Pearl Harbor are Carril Ontano7s chiefs of 
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staff. They are Major Francisco Garay Unzuenta and Cap- 
tain Carlos Aravilla. Like their chief, they are constantly 
on the move, checking on the work of the militantes in 
the Falange cells all over the country. 

Carril Ontano7s military delegation, while nominally un- 
der the direction of Celorio Sordo, receives its orders and di- 
rectives from General Mora Figueroa, chief of the Spanish 
Falange and Minister in the Spanish Cabinet. Figueroa, in 
turn, sends the Falange military delegation in Mexico di- 
rectives drawn up by General von Faupel and his staff. For 
the main part, these instructions deal with creating anti- 
American forces in areas close to the American border. 

The Falange militia in Mexico is not an army without 
arms. Spanish ships cross the oceans with great regularity, 
and many of them are little more than munitions ships at the 
service of the Falange Exterior. Just before Pearl Harbor, 
three Spanish ships reached Guatemala within a period of 
two weeks and unloaded cargoes of munitions which were 
then trans-shipped to  Chiapas, Mexico. The  arms these and 
other Spanish ships succeeded in smuggling into Mexico 
have not been wasted for mere training purposes; they have 
gone and continue to  go into the vast secret arsenals the 
Falange maintains in scores of Mexican strongholds. 

There have been times in the past three years, however, 
when bullets from these arsenals have been put to  real use. 
Among their other duties, the imported militantes from 
the Falange Fatherland act as executioners when the Falange 
passes judgment on local Falangistas who are tried and 
convicted by the organization's own courts-martial: Death 
sentences are handed out to Falangistas who try to desert the 
blue-shirt ranks or sell the secrets of the Fifth Column. 
Other infractions can send errant Falangistas into one of 
the private jails maintained by the Falange Exterior-some- 
times for sentences of five years. 

The  undercover militia represents only one aspect of 
Falangismo in Mexico. Dangerous as it is, this organized 
army represents only a token force. Von Faupel entertains 
no pipe dreams about using it to invade Texas, and, under 
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any circumstances, it would prove no match for even the 
Mexican Army. Were the Axis to make any serious moves 
in the Western Hemisphere, however, this Falange secret 
army in Mexico could and would be used to immobilize a 
sizable United Nations force and weaken our defenses. 

The Falange campaign in Mexico goes much further 
than the maintenance of a secret Axis army. Its objectives 
are very clear. Vicente Lombardo Toledano, head of the 
anti-Axis Latin-American Confederation of Labor, summed 
up the Axis aims in Mexico in a speech delivered a month 
before Pearl Harbor. H e  declared that the Axis wants: 

I .  To use Mexico as the nearest base for Nazi espionage in 
the United States. 

2. To use our country [Mexico] as a source of raw materials 
for its war. 

3.  To make Mexico a center for organized acts of sabotage 
against the United States, as well as against our own export 
trade, so that we may be prevented from sending help to the 
countries fighting the Axis. 

4. To establish a center of Fascist provocation against the 
United States, thus distracting that country's attention from 
the European and other theaters of war. 

5. T o  secure a center from which Fascist propaganda can be 
directed to all of Latin America. 

6. T o  instigate provocations against the government of Mex- 
ico from within our country itself, so that the government will 
be obliged to retaliate with restrictive measures. Afterward, 
these measures will be used to discredit the present regime in 
Mexico, and turned against democracy within and without our 
country. 

Here, in a nutshell, is the master-plan of the Falange in 
Mexico. 

The first point of the program, that of establishing 
Mexico as the nearest base for Nazi espionage against the 
United States, has become one of the cardinal tasks of the 
Falange. 

Nazi espionage in Mexico was a going concern when 
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Francisco Franco was still waiting for the Nazis to  invade 
Spain. With the establishment of the Falangist state in Spain 
in April 1939, the Reichswehr accepted von Faupel's recom- 
mendation that Spanish Fascists be trained by the Gestapo 
to work for the Axis in Latin America. 

Special schools for Spaniards were established in Ham- 
burg, Bremen, Hanover, and Vienna; institutions with Ger- 
man experts as instructors in sabotage, espionage, radio, 
secret codes, map-making, microphotography and allied sub- 
jects. Candidates for scholarships in these spy colleges were 
drawn from the ranks of the Spanish Falange. Preference 
went to those Falangistas who had joined the Franco 
movement before 1936 and had been wounded in action 
during the three-year war against the Republic. The most 
acceptable candidates, however, were those Spanish Fascists 
who had remained behind Republican lines as Falange 
agents during the war; men like the band of Fascists in 
Madrid whose co-operation with the four Axis columns 
converging on the city gave the world a new war term 
to  remember-the Fifth Column. 

Graduates of these special schools were commissioned 
as officers in the Spanish Army's Intelligence Service, the 
SIM. A small number of them were detailed to duties under 
the supervision of Gestapo officers in Spain. The rest were 
sent to Latin America to work under the direction of 
Gestapo and Japanese officers abroad. 

The work of the SIM in Latin America was intensified 
after the German legations in most of the hemisphere 
were closed in the summer of I 94 I. While the diplomatic 
break did not eliminate more than 5 per cent of the Axis 
espionage personnel in Latin America, it did add greatly 
to the importance of the SIM. The numerous Spanish 
legations n o w  became the diplomatic fronts for all Axis 
espionage, and SIM agents became liaison men between the 
Gestapo and the Spanish diplomatic network. 

In line with his master-plan, General von Faupel took 
steps to  strengthen and prepare the SIM to carry the major 
burdens of Axis espionage in Mexico. In December 1940, 
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o n  Faupel had Alberto Mercado Flores, a veteran Spanish 
Falangist official, sent to  Mexico. Flores was placed in com- 
mand of the SIM operations for Mexico. 

Flores has made his headquarters in a small town near 
the United States border. H e  owns at least three false pass- 
ports, which he uses when traveling to San Francisco, Los 
Angeles, and Washington-where, of course, he is known 
by other names. H e  is responsible for SIM operations in 
the United States and Central America as well as in Mexico. 

The  SIM chief has two principal aides: Colonel Sanz 
Agero, the Spanish Minister to Guatemala, and Major 
Eugenic Alvarez Cano. The latter works out of an apart- 
ment at the corner of Lopez and Independencia streets, 
Mexico City. His movements are guarded and very hard 
t o  trace. Twice, since April 1941, he has made trips to  
New York, where he conferred with Spanish officials and 
shipping men. In Mexico City Cano works very closely 
with Ibaiiez Serrano, co-ordinator of all Franco activities 
in Mexico. 

The  SIM organization that Flores directs in Mexico is an u 

espionage machine built along the lines of the Gestapo, 
which created it. The  work of its agents falls into two 
definite categories: military and economic espionage, and 
"control" of the Spanish colonies of the country and of 
those non-Falangist Spaniards known to  have relatives in - 
Spain. 

The military espionage arm of the SIM operates in co- 
operation with the hordes of German and Japanese spies 
still actively at work in Mexico. Since Pearl Harbor, the 
ranking military officer of the Axis espionage network in . 
this section of the world has been Colonel Sanz Agero. His 
is Flores's chief adviser in military matters. 

Part of the SIM network's fantastic efficiency can be 
traced directly to  its utilization of thousands of unpaid 
Falangistas and members of Falange-controlled Mexican 
organizations as part-time assistants. Much of the routine 
"donkey work" which takes up the energies of a profes- 
sional spy is performed for the SIM by these fanatical fol- 
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lowers of Falangismo. Every paid SIM agent has at his dis- 
posal at least one functioning cell of the Falange Exterior: a 
cell which in most cases includes a Spanish militante sent 
from Madrid to keep it functioning at maximum efficiency. 

For this reason, the field headquarters of the SIM are 
located in cities where the Falange concentrations are 
strongest. The  SIM maintains its chief field branches in the 
following Mexican centers: Monterrey, Torreon, Mazatlin, 
Tampico, Vera Cruz, Guadalajara, Puebla, Jalapa, Mkrida, 
Tapachula, and Comitin. 

There is scarcely a hamlet in Mexico without at least 
one SIM agent in its fold. Often the SIM operative in a tiny 
Mexican village will also turn out to  be the Spanish mili- 
an te  of the local Falange, or the home-town leader of one 
of the Mexican subsidiaries of the Falange. Mexico City, on 
the other hand, has over a thousand Gestapo-trained SIM 
agents working out of no less than eleven offices in the 
capital alone. 

The  SIM has a complete list of Falangistas and Franco 
partisans in Mexican government bureaus, business houses, 
shipping companies, and other offices. Using these lists as 
their levers, the SIM has established pipe lines of inforrna- 
tion in all of these places. 

The  Nazis have been flooding all of Latin America with 
SIM operatives since 1939. Sources close to  Madrid ruling 
circles estimate the SIM delegation in Mexico and Guate- 
mala at close to  ten thousand paid agents. Their routine re- 
ports reach Europe via Spanish boats, but scores of secret 
radio stations in Mexico often flash important intelligence 
to relay stations in Venezuela. The SIM in Venezuela 
sifts and transmits these reports to  Madrid within minutes 
of their reception. Often, SIM agents visit Spanish ships 
arriving in Mexican ports and arrange to use the ship's radio 
for their transmissions. The radio operators on Spanish 
boats are hand-picked Falangistas-like the notorious Axis 
agent "Camarada Martinez," who is marked for immediate 
arrest if the Cuban authorities ever catch up with him. 
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The propaganda of the Falange in Mexico is as ener- 
getically anti-United States as are the activities of the SIM 
and the militantes. The Falange controls a number of pub- 
lications and radio stations, openly or covertly as suits the 
plans of its leaders. 

Jose Castedo, a veteran of the blue-shirt ranks, edits His- 
panidad, the official magazine of the Mexican Falange. Here, 
assisted by Falangistas Adolfo Caso, Julio Luna, Delfin 
Sanchez Juarez, Francisco Ramirez, Marco Almazan, and 
A. Perez, Castedo produces a standard Falange Exterior 
organ along the lines of magazines like Avarice of Puerto 
Rico, Arriba E s p m  of Buenos Aires, Yugo of Manila, and 
the other official publications in the Americas. This maga- 
zine is sold openly, unlike the Boletin del Partido, a weekly 
distributed only to  Falange members. 

Ibafiez Serrano has a personal organ in El Diario Espa- 
601. La Semana and Mexico Nueva carry the Falange line, 
and, like Omega and El Hombre Libre, are controlled by the 
Falange. The weekly El Sinarquista, published by the 
Falange-operated Sinarquist movement, is one of the most 
potent propaganda enemies of the United Nations in Mex- 
ico. La N a c i h ,  a weekly edited by G6mez Morin (one of 
Ibafiez Serrano's three principal aides) and Alfonso Junco, 
Mexico's foremost apostle of Hispanidad, outdoes nearly 
every other Falangist publication in its campaign for the 
Axis. 

The venom of the Falangist press is reserved almost ex- 
clusively for the United States. Thus on November 14, 
1942, Luis G. Orozco blandly anounced in Omega that 
"Roosevelt is pushing his people into the pit of Bolshe- 
vism." This was in an article called "The Catholic Church 
and the World Revolution," which also said: 

Whether they know it or not, those members of the clergy 
who have declared themselves in favor of the "democracies" 
are working in favor of Bolshevism. . . . How is it possible 
that members of the clergy have made speeches from the same 
platform with members of the Masonic order? 
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This article appeared after Omega described the Ameri- 
can landings in North Africa as a "treacherous attack." 

Omega also runs large advertisements for books like 
Jews over America, by "Dr. Atl, whose competence as an 
expert on international affairs is universally recognized." 
The  chapters of the book include: "El Kabal, Roosevelt Is a 
Jew on All Sides"; "Jews in the New Deal"; "A Jewish 
leader to be feared: Felix Frankfurter." 

From El Hombre Libre, a year after Pearl Harbor, come 
such choice nuggets of Axis propaganda as this: 

The people of the United States are still under the influence 
of a government that tries to make them believe in a final vic- 
tory, so that they may accept all the sacrifices imposed upon 
them by this war-a war that in the final balance will not take 
a very great toll of their lives anyway, for individuals of these 
races never fight, and the armies that march beneath the ban- 
ners of John Bull and Uncle Sam are made up of colored peo- 
ples-black and brown-considered as inferiors by the Anglo- 
Saxons, who have always looked down upon them. 

This was more than a mere parrotinsr of the stock Nazi " 
lies; it was part of the campaign being waged against 
compulsory military service and the sendiner of Mexican 
troops to fight t h e  Axis armies abroad.  he article then 
went on to  carry the old Hispanidad line: 

The world can well understand why nations with large pop- 
ulations like England, France, Belgium, Holland, Germany, and 
Italy have sought to build up colonial empires. The United 
States, however, has a great amount of territory and only her 
ambitions, her thirst for dominating other people, have driven 
her to try to form a colonial empire with the Philippines, 
Puerto Rico, Panama, the Pacific Islands, and the British pos- 
sessions that have fallen into her hands. Still unsatisfied, she 
now wants control of all the countries of Latin America, right- 
ful sons of Spain. 

The  quotation which sums up the complete line of the 
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Falangist press in Mexico is the following, taken from 
Omega. 

A democratic government is a thousand times more danger- 
ous than a dictatorship like Hitler's or Mussolini's. Democracy 
exploits and deceives the people in the name of liberty, equal- 
ity, and fraternity. The democracies are protecting us from 
Hitler by throwing us into the arms of Roosevelt, who is the 
greatest danger of all those that menace Latin America today. 

This theme, embroidered with anti-Semitism and gilded 
with Hispanidad, is reiterated day after day in the Falange 
publications south of the Rio Grande. In radio broadcasts 
over Station XEZ and other outlets, the Falange both scat- 
ters this line and issues coded instructions to  its militantes. 
In books, meetings, pamphlets, and forums the Falange 
spreads this Nazi version of world affairs to  millions of 
Mexicans. It has had a distinct and unpleasant effect on 
Mexico's war effort, and has been responsible for the spread 
of anti-American feeling in many sections of the country. 

The  Falange in Mexico has developed more "front" or- 
ganizations than in any other country in the world. These 
fronts range from dignified cultural bodies like the Acade- 
mia Espafiola de la Lengua to the Fascist legions like the 
National Union of Sinarquistas. They all play specific roles 
in the Axis campaign to  disrupt life in Mexico and make 
things difficult for the United Nations in the Western 
Hemisphere. 

The Academia Espafiola de la Lengua is the leading cul- 
tural organization in Spain. It is the source of all Spanish 
intellectual briefs for fascism, and has branches in many 
Latin-American lands. Only the elite are invited to the 
Academia sessions-the elite which can most effectively 
influence public opinion. The  Academia works on news- 
paper publishers, college professors, statesmen, and dis- 
tinguished clerics. 

In Mexico Ibaiiez Serrano is the official representative 
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of the Academia Espaiiola. H e  has delegated the actual work 
of running the affairs of this cultural front to  his aide, 
Alejandro Quijano, and to Alfonso Junco, editor of La 
Nacibn. These fanatical enemies of the democracies run 
very exclusive forums at which the invited guests hear 
arguments for fascism, for Hispanidad, and for anti-Semi- 
tism couched in intellectual terms by the leading pundits 
of Falangismo. The  Academia Espafiola influences a small 
group of Mexicans, but their importance far exceeds their 
numbers. 

Somewhat lower on the intellectual scale is the Escuadra 
de Acci6n Tradicionalista. These "Action Squadrons" are 
just what their name implies: shock troops. They are organ- 
ized along highly secret lines; so much so that only a handful 
of members know the identity of their supreme commander. 
H e  is Major San Julian of the Spanish Army, a Fascist killer 
who joined the Falange some time before the Spanish War. 
Of Major Julian, it was said during this war that ice water 
would have frozen in his heart. Like Major Carril Ontano, 
San Julian was a past master in the art of liquidating whole 
Republican villages. 

San Julian7s talents as a shock-troop leader won him the 
post of chief of the Escuadra de Acci6n Tradicionalista of 
Mexico. Here, aided by Leon Osorio-a member of the 
Mexican branch of the German Nazi Party-San Julian 
commands a terror army of hand-picked Falangistas and 
Mexican Fascists. There are probably no more than 5,000 
men in these "action squads," but they are the most violent 
of all the Falange fighters in the Americas. 

In action, the Escuadra de Acci6n Tradicionalista assumes 
a role very similar to that assigned by Spanish fascism to 
the Falange in Spain before the Nazis entered the picture. 
Like the pre-1936 Spanish Falange, the Escuadra is at the 
service of all the Fascist organizations in Mexico. They do 
all the dirtiest jobs, for rewards which can best be imagined. 

More cultural than the Escuadra de Accibn, but far less 
exclusive than the Academia Espaiiola, is the newly formed 
Liga de Hispanidad Ibero-America. This League of Hispani- 
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dad was established to  spread the racist doctrines of the 
Council of Hispanidad. Its first leader, chosen by G6mez 
Morin, was Octavio Elizalde, a Mexican who corresponds 
regularly with Andres Soriano, late of Manila. Elizalde re- 
signed after a few months of spreading the Hispanidad 
creed. 

The league is now led by Jose Castedo, editor of Hispani- 
dad, the official organ of the Falange Exterior in Mexico. 
T w o  friends of Ibaiiez Serrano7s assist Castedo in managing 
the affairs of the League. They are Francisco Cayon y Cos 
and Adolfo Caso, a Mexico City lawyer. 

The  P.A.M. (Partido Autonomista Mexicano) is a small 
storm-troop party led by a noted rabble-rouser named 
Pedrozo, who is financed and supervised by the Falange. 
It is one of a handful of groups including the Vanguardia 
Nacionalista, the Dorados, and the Frente Anti-Commu- 
nista, financed and controlled by the Falange. These groups 
all have one commodity they place at the disposal of the 
major Fascist groups in Mexico: violence. They are scat- 
tered all over the country, and are responsible for much 
disunity in Mexico. 

Next to the National Union of Sinarquistas-probably 
Wilhelm von Faupel7s Mexican masterpiece-the Acci6n 
Nacional must rank as the most important of the Falange 
fronts in Mexico. 

The A c c i h  Nacional, formed shortly after the Falange 
appeared in Mexico, is a Fascist party directed by Gbmez 
Morin, one of the three principal lieutenants of Ibaiiez Ser- 
rano, Franco's personal representative in Mexico. It is one 
of the most "respectable" of the Falange fronts in Mexico, 
opening its doors only to  the wealthier and middle-class ele- 
ments in the Spanish colonies and business circles of the 
country. 

The program of the Acci6n Nacional is simple: a corpo- 
rate state for Mexico and "absolute Hispanidad." I t  has 
close relations with some sections of the Spanish Catholic 
Church, and is heavily subsidized by the Falange Exterior. 
G6mez Morin is in constant touch with Jose Maria Peman 
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and Carlos Peroya-two of the leading Falange propa- 
gandists in Spain. Under his leadership, the Acci6n Nacional 
has planted the Fascist doctrines of the Axis in exceedingly 
fertile soil. It has become the perfect vehicle for those pros- 
perous pro-Franco Spaniards of Mexico who lacked the 
physical courage to  join the uniformed military ranks of the 
Falange Espafiola and yet wanted to join the movimiento 
of El Caudillo. Because of its composition, the Acci6n 
Nacional is in many respects the most menacing of the 
Falange groups in all of Mexico. It cannot, however, hold a 
candle to the National Union of Sinarquistas. 

On  May 2 3, 1937, in the provincial city of Leon, a group 
of idealistic Mexicans, "motivated by the moral, political, 
and economic disorder precipitated in the Republic, resolved 
to form one union which would fight for the Christian 
Social Order." These men, Salvador Abascal, Jose Olivares 
Manuel Zermeno, and a third named Urquiza, thereupon 
formed the National Union of Sinarquistas-which in 
1943 has 500,ooo devoted members in Mexico. 

Thus runs the official Sinarquist version of the move- 
ment's actual origins. 

The facts, however, are slightly different. While the 
date is accurate, the three actual organizers of the Sinar- 
quistas were Hellmuth Oskar Schreiter and the brothers 
Jose and Alfonso Trueba Olivares. The Sinarquistas' organi- 
zation papers, as filed with the government, listed these three 
and Melchor Ortega and Adolfo Maldonado-governor 
and general secretary of Guanajuato Province-and I. G. 
Valdivia, a Mexican lawyer, as the founding fathers of 
Sinarquismo. 

Schreiter was anything but a Mexican idealist. A native 
of Germany, he carried an old, "low-number" German Nazi 
Party card. His dues to the Nazis were paid up to date on 
May 23, 1937. By profession Schreiter was a chemical en- 
gineer; but for quite some time he had been following other 
callings in Mexico. H e  had a job as professor of languages 
in the State College of Guanajuato, and served as president 
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of the province's Nazi Fichte Bund. His real job in Mexico 
can be described quite simply: Hellmuth Oskar Schreiter 
was a Nazi agent. 

The Trueba Olivares brothers were powerful Spanish 
haciendados whose great Mexican estates were veritable 
feudal domains. They were leaders of the Falange Espafiola. 

The  movement these three men created in the Sinarquistas 
was a Nazi-Falange legion identical in structure and aims 
with the Fascist parties of both Germany and Spain. From 
the beginning, Nazi agents like Paul Klement, Alexander 
Holste, Otto Hilbert, and Frederico Heinn were assigned 
to work with the frustrated country lawyers chosen to serve 
as the nominal heads of the movement. These Nazi agents 
were ultimately replaced by whole corps of Falange fnili- 
tantes and advisers sent from Spain to Mexico. 

Like the Nazi and the Falange parties, the Sinarquistas 
promised all things to all men. If the Sinarquist slogan, 
"Faith, Blood, and Victory" was more than faintly remi- 
niscent of the beer-cellar mysticism of Nazism and Falin- 
gismo, its program was simply a Mexican carbon copy of 
Fascist platforms the world over. 

Because the Sinarquist movement today has 500,ooo mem- 
bers below the United States border-and quite a number of 
devoted followers above the Rio Grande-an examination 
of its program is in order. It is of importance to  all Ameri- 
cans to know exactly why one of the last issues of Cough- 
lin's Social Justice to appear before that publication was 
banned from the United States mails for sedition carried 
'these revealing words: 

Advocates of Christian social justice in America, Christian 
Americans who once dreamed of a national union to effect a 
16-point reform, and who have watched the progress of the 
Christian States headed by Salazar, De Valera, General Franco, 
and Mussolini, will want to hear further from Mexico's Sin- 
archists with their " I 6 principles" of social justice. 

The program of Sinarquismo calls, first of all, for a 
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Corporate State-which is a Portuguese, Italian, and Spanish 
euphemism for fascism. The official publication of the Sinar- 
quist movement describes this state in these terms: 

The members of the same craft or profession must unite, 
building corporate groups. Over these professional or cor- 
porate groups, a superior power must be established, in charge 
of their mutual relationships and directing them to the common 
good. Similar professional corporations must unite within 
themselves, submitting to a supreme authority [a dictator] em- 
bodied in the political structure of the Nation. 

The "supreme authority" will be so great, according to 
the official program of the movement, that: 

Among us one does not discuss-there is our strength. Take 
away discipline, take away loyalty to the leader, and Sinarquismo 
is nothing. 

This corporate state, however, must not be an inde- 
pendent or free Mexican state. "Let us return to  Spain" is 
one of the chief slogans of the Sinarquistas. In the April 
1939 issue of El Sinarquista, an official organ, they declare: 

All those who have been concerned with dignifying the life 
of Mexico, as well as those who have wanted to point the way 
to the real aggrandizement of Mexico, speak of Spain. T o  put 
it more concretely, they speak of the work done by the Mother 
Country during the historical colonial period. She showed us 
the road and gave us our bearings. So Mexico must cling to its 
traditions to find the meaning of its future. Thus, those who 
feel the desperate uncertainty that today hangs dense and 
heavy over the nation, want to return to Spain. 

The  Sinarquist propagandists picture Mexico under 
Spanish domination as a paradise. The May 1 5 ,  1941, issue 
of El Sinarquista, for example, described pre-Republican 
Mexico in these idyllic terms: 

In the eighteenth century Mexico was the largest, the most 
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cultured, richest, most illustrious, most powerful nation of the 
Continent. 

Spain protected the workers by means of unions and the 
peasants by means of Indian legislation. All this without any 
need to resort to strikes and fights, simply because the State 
knew its duties and protected the worker, considering him a 
son of God, worthy of the same benefits as the rich. 

The government of two hundred years ago was sincere, the 
present ones are deceitful. In New Spain [Mexico] agriculture 
was entrusted to the workers and landlords. The King told the 
landlords that if he permitted them to till the soil and get 
benefits, it was only so that they would in turn dedicate them- 
selves to improving the material and intellectual lot of the 
Indians they governed. 

El Sinarquista, the weekly paper of the movement which 
constantly recalls the glories of colonial Mexico, links its 
lamentations for past glories with one pat explanation for the 
destruction of Spanish power in Mexico: the United States 
of America, as part of a Masonic-Protestant conspiracy, 
subsidized and lent military support to  Hidalgo and Juarez 
and the other liberators of Mexico. 

The National Union of Sinarquistas, which clamors con- 
stantly for a Christian Social Order, has never presented a 
complete blueprint of this order to the Mexican people. 
But among the things they have attacked as being contrary 
to  the concepts of such an order are free non-clerical public 
schools, social-security legislation, and the land reforms 
of Cardenas and Madero. 

The land problems of the nation contain the key to  the 
power of the Sinarquistas. The varied land-reform programs 
attempted during the past three decades in Mexico, while 
distributing vast tracts to thousands of landless peons, have 
nevertheless left the bulk of the great haciendas pretty much 
intact. The overwhelming majority of the peons are still 
landless. World upheavals since 1929 have added to  the 
normal hardships of the peons' life in Mexico. While in- 
creased misery is the lot of the peasantry, the powerful 
haciendados eat well and have plenty of money, but in 
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the back of their minds is always the fear of further and 
greater land reforms which may some day affect their own 
estates. 

The Sinarquistas, in the classic Fascist manner, managed 
to  win both the haciendados and the landless peons to their 
banners-just as Hitler won both the landed Junkers and 
the simple Bauern. 

The  haciendados were won over by promises of eternal 
war on the very principles of land reform. The Sinarquistas 
denounce land reform as a by-product of the Mexican 
Revolution and declare, in their manifesto, that "Sinar- 
quismo was born fighting the Revolution: Sinarquismo was 
born aggressively anti-revolutionary." 

The peons were drawn to the Sinarquist ranks by the fer- 
vor with which the Nazi-Falange cabal in the movement's 
leadership exploited their misery. Concretely, the Sinar- 
quistas promise the peons nothing: their appeal is, rather, 
along the lines of the "every-man-a-king" panaceas offered 
by Huey Long. Mysticism, violence, marches, military dem- 
onstrations-the cheapest sort of circus-are utilized by the 
Sinarquistas in their work among the landless peons. They 
convince the peons that the only solution for their problems 
lies in the destruction of the Republic-and they promise 
them arms and a chance to  kill those Republican evildoers 
"responsible" for their misery. 

Sophisticated Americans living in large cities like New 
York or Chicago might snicker at the idea of a new empire 
created out of Mexico and parts of the American southwest. 
But the Sinarquistas have presented, and successfully, the 
dream of a new Spanish domain-El Gran Imperio Sinar- 
quista-with a brand new capital city, "Sinarcopolis," built 
in what are now the plains of Texas. Hitler's dictum about 
the greatest lies being the ones that gain the widest accep- 
tance has not been lost on the architects of "Sinarc~polis.~' 

T h e  Sinarquist leaders, aided by Falange specialists as- 
signed to work exclusively with the movement, have been 
giving their followers military training for six years. The  
Sinarquist peons are too poor to afford uniforms; their 
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only "military dress" is the armbands they wear. But wear- 
ing only their everyday clothes and these armbands with 
the emblem of the movement, Sinarquist storm troops drill 
with sub-machine guns, rifles, and other arms kindly sup- 
plied by the Nazis via Spanish boats. 

From time to  time the leaders stage a military demonstra-. 
tion intended to bolster the ardor of their troops and to  
impress all onlookers with the futility of opposing the 
wave of the future. One of these maneuvers is still talked 
about: an exercise which, on May I 8, 1941, saw some 30,000 
well-drilled Sinarquistas "capture" the city of Morelia 
in forty minutes. Although the staff work was done by 
Spanish Falangistas, the tactics used in the "storming" of the 
city were unmistakably German. 

Mexico's entry into the war against the Axis has converted 
these peaceful marches into smaller but violent sorties. 
Shortly after Mexico became a belligerent, the Sinarquistas 
became the sponsors of a new organization-the Liga Anti- 
belica Mexicana-which seems to exist on paper only. In the 
name of this Antiwar League, the Sinarquistas distribute 
leaflets with calls like the following: 

Mexicans! Be alert! Watch out for seducers. Stay out of the 
war. You have no quarrel with any other country. Mexico of 
Christ the King and Santa Maria de Guadalupe, you must not 
be enmeshed in the Jewish International. 

When the Mexican lawyer and prominent Catholic lay- 
man, Mariano Alcocer, speaking in the name of the Arch- 
bishop, called upon all Mexicans in 1942 to  unite behind 
President Comacho in the war effort, the official organ 
of the Sinarquistas attacked him for condemning Germany 
rather than Russia and "equally atheistic" England. The  
Sinarquistas raised the battle call, "Death to  compulsory 
military service." Their prime objective became the hamper- 
ing of the war effort. 

In December 1942 the National Union of Sinarquistas 
issued a manifesto at their annual congress which pro- 
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claimed that the existing "Mexican government is not re- 
publican, not representative, and not democratic." It is 
rather, according to the manifesto, "based on fraud and 
violence," possessing "all the characteristics of a primitive 
dictatorship." 

This congress set the stage for the series of raids the 
Sinarquistas began to stage on defenseless towns. Brandish- 
ing excellent arms, employing the tactics taught them by 
the Falangistas who led them on these raids, the Sinarquistas 
began to assault villages all over northern Mexico. In De- 
cember 1942 three villages in Zacatecas were attacked by 
frenzied Sinarquist storm troops who, shouting "Death to 
compulsory military service and Cardenas," killed some 
thirty Mexicans, including the mayor of Miguel Auza and 
his small son. In Nieves, the Sinarquistas-like the old 
Cristeros-killed the local public-school teacher, Adolfo 
Lozano. (The Cristeros, a clerico-Fascist movement which 
reached its peak in 1927, waged unending war against non- 
clerical teachers.) 

These attacks were synchronized with the actions of rov- 
ing bands of Sinarquist troopers who disrupted railway 
communications and, like one armed battalion near the city 
of Pastora, cut and burned hundreds of telephone and tele- 
graph lines. An organized formation of Sinarquistas battled 
federal troops near Temoac for eight hours before retreating 
in January 1943. 

Since December 1942 these outbreaks have come in 
sudden waves all over northern Mexico. Early in 1943 the 
Mexican National Civil Defense Committee delivered a 
sharp memorandum to the government declaring that "the 
Axis powers are carrying on their Fifth Column work in 
Mexico through the leaders of Sinarquismo." The Chamber 
of Deputies, Mexico's lower house, voted for the dissolution 
of the National Union of Sinarquistas in January 1943- 
but the movement is still flourishing. 

Early in its existence, the Sinarquist movement started' 
to clamor for the right to settle IOO,OOO of its followers in 
the arid waste lands of Lower California. The idea, they 
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said, was to prevent "a hostile foreign power" from annex- 
ing the sparsely settled peninsula. Everyone knew that this 
hostile power was the United States of America. Lazaro 
Cardenas, then President of Mexico, turned the offer down 
without a second thought. 

The  Sinarquistas went on campaigning for the Lower 
California colony. In the spring of 1941 they repeated 
their offer to President Avila Comacho. They claimed that 
they were willing to organize industries and construct cer- 
tain planned roadworks at half of the amount set aside for 
this purpose in the Mexican budget. Comacho asked them 
to submit further details, and a year later granted the Sinar- 
quistas permission to settle a great number of their members 
on the Peninsula. 

Mexicans bitterly refer to lower California, today, as 
the "Republica Sinarquista." T o  the shores of this "re- 
public" have come German and Japanese submarines for 
smuggled shipments of valuable Mexican mercury. Within 
its borders the Sinarquistas have established a state within 
a state, and a potential powder keg of far from minute 
dimensions. The caudillo of the Sinarquist settlement is 
Salvador Abascal, former "supreme leader" of the move- 
ment itself. He  has been having some difficulties with cer- 
tain of his followers who accuse him of personally grabbing 
funds of the colony for his own pocket. The current 
"supreme leader," Manuel Torres Bueno, has backed Abas- 
cal in his present conflict. 

Were the Sinarquistas and their influence confined to 
Mexico alone, their existence would still be cause for alarm. 
However, Sinarquismo has long since crossed the borders 
to the north. It  has become an American, as well as a Mexi- 
can, problem. 

The Sinarauist movement has established itself like a can- - 1 

cer in many centers of Mexican population in the United 
States. Los Angeles, one of Sinarquismo's American strong- 
holds, has a Mexican population of 300,000. Towns in 
Texas, New Mexico, and Arizona have suddenly discovered 



FALANGE 
that local branches of the Sinarquist organization are ter- 
rorizing their Mexican quarters, producing bloodshed and 
disorder. The offices of an anti-Sinarquist Mexican organi- 
zation in Chicago were invaded and wrecked by an armed 
mob of Sinarquistas late in 1942. In places as far north as 
the Bronx, New York, F.B.I. agents have arrested Sinar- 
quist agents who were inciting loyal Mexican-Americans to  
treason. 

In Los Angeles the movement is so well intrenched that 
it publishes a special edition of El Simrquista, the official 
organ of the Mexican parent organization. In Los Angeles 
the Sinarquistas are aided by notorious figures like Jesus M. 
Jiminez, whom President Cardenas exiled for Gold-Shirt 
and Nazi activities, and by members of German and Italian 
organizations dissolved after Pearl Harbor. The Los Angeles 
Sinarquist movement has been held directly responsible for a 
crime wave which broke out among unemployed Mexican 
youths in 1942, and figured as a prime factor in at least 
one California murder case. 

The California editon of El Sinarquista calls for blood. 
In October 1942 it wrote: 

Do not expect our struggle to go smoothly and peacefully. 
Never gossip about your leaders. Understand that this struggle 
cannot fail, and that blood and suffering will bring us victory. 

An idea of what the American aspects of this "struggle" 
are can be glimpsed in the resolution passed by the C.I.O. 
Union Council of Los Angeles, which has many loyal Mexi- 
can members. In November 1942, at the request of its 
Mexican members, the Council made a study of Sinarquist 
influence in the United States. The result was a resolution 
characterizing the Sinarquistas as an "evil influence among 
Mexican workers in the United States whose program coin- 
cides with that of Franco's Fascist Spanish regime." The 
resolution went on to  reveal that: 

The Sinarquistas are telling the Mexican people in the United 
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States not to enlist in war activities, such as Civilian Defense 
and the Red Cross, not to purchase war bonds, and in general 
not to support this country's war effort, because the "Mexican 
people have nothing to gain from an Allied victory." 

Shortly after this resolution was made public, the Office 
of War Information started a drive to explain the war aims 
to the Spanish-speaking peoples of California and the South- 
west. The campaign was made necessary by the power of 
Sinarquist propagandists operating in the United States. 

In Mexico the Sinarquistas have been making statements 
designed for United States consumption only-ambiguous 
statements which give their defenders in America an oppor- 
tunity to defend the Sinarquistas as a patriotic and Christian 
legion interested only in saving the Western Hemisphere 
from Bolshevism. This subterfuge does not fool bureaus 
like the F.B.I., however, which recognizes the Sinarquist 
movement for the Axis instrument it really is. 

The  Spanish canvas of Mexico grew more crowded than 
ever in 1939, when the Falange and anti-Falange colonies 
woke up to find themselves with a new antagonist. H e  was 
a handsome, middle-aged gentleman whose passport de- 
scribed him as Luis Gonzago del Villa, the Marques de 
Castellon of Spain. 

The Marques announced himself as the official repre- 
sentative in Mexico of the Spanish Monarchist Union. T o  
all who would listen, the titled visitor explained that the 
Spanish Monarchists had broken with Franco. H e  and a 
small group of aides set up shop in Mexico City and started 
to reveal secrets about Franco Spain and the Falange. Their 
revelations were often accurate, but never news to the Mexi- 
can Government. In brief-they were revealing facts al- 
ready known. 

Although the Monarchists in Spain had every reason to be 
pleased with Franco, the Marques declared that they were 
out to overthrow Franco. Of course, this overthrow would 
not be followed by the restoration of the "Bolshevik" 
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Spanish Republic. Perish the thought! What they wanted 
was the restoration of the old Spanish monarchy. 

Seemingly well-supplied with funds, the Marques ran 
lavish parties for the Mexican and American society crowds 
in Mexico City, and special parties for the diplomatic 
social sets. He  established good relations with the Arch- 
bishop of Mexico, saw only the very fashionable people, and 
generally cut quite a figure. 

Rumors began to fly about Mexico City after Pearl 
Harbor that the British Government was backing the 
Monarchists, that the United States looked upon their cause 
with favor, and that a Monarchist Spanish government-in- 
exile was about to be formed. The exiled Spanish Republi- 
cans in Mexico became worried, and they started to check 
up on the Marques's history. 

The Marques claimed to have been both a Lieutenant- 
Colonel in the Spanish Army and an aide-de-camp to Gen- 
eral Mola. Neither fact showed up in any Spanish military 
directory of the period. T o  the Republicans, these omissions 
were challenges. 

Some months later-it was in May 1942-the Republicans 
presented grave charges to the Mexican authorities. They 
presented a dossier on the Marques which indicated that 
all was not as it seemed. According to this dossier, the 
Marques was not Spanish, but a Mexican named Luis 
Sevilla, whose parents still lived on Mexico City's Calle de 
Insurgentes. It went on to say that in 193 I Luis Sevilla 
sailed for Spain while out on bail pending charges of 
swindling a sum of money from General Limon. 

The dossier disclosed that during the Spanish War Sevilla 
worked in Marseilles as an agent of Franco's Secret Service 
-posing, during this period, as an agent of the Spanish 
Monarchist Party. In I 93 8 Sevilla, carrying letters of safe 
conduct, visited Premier Juan Negrin in Barcelona, told 
the Loyalist leader that the Monarchists were against 
Franco and the Falange, and tried to negotiate a deal 
whereby the Republic would yield in favor of a monarchy. 
In 1939 he went to Mexico where, according to  the Repub- 
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licans, he maintained relations with Ibafiez Serrano, Franco's 
official representative. 

The dossier on the Marques caused a blast which rever- 
berated throughout the Spanish-speaking world. The Mar- 
quis proceeded to quietly disappear, but in withdrawing 
he left some troubled suspicions floating over the Mexican 
capital. Anxious anti-Axis Mexicans and Spanish Republi- 
cans wonder if the Marques really had some of the non- 
Axis backing he claimed to have. 



C H A P T E R  N I N E :  

Patagonia to Panama 

THE PHILIPPINES, Cuba, Puerto Rico, Mexico-the Spanish- 
speaking countries which have the most direct bearing on 
the United States-tell the story of Falagismo on the 
march. But by no means the whole story. If the preceding 
chapters have dealt with the Falanges of these sectors at 
greater length, it is because they affect the lives and the 
security of all North Americans more immediately than, say, 
the Falanges of Argentina or Peru. 

The complete story of the Falange penetration and or- 
ganization on the South American continent and the Central 
American republics is being compiled in scores of govem- 
ment bureaus in the Americas. In July 1942 a report on the 
Falange was submitted to  the Venezuelan Congress by a 
special sub-committee-a report which named many gov- 
ernment officials as members of the Falange Espaiiola. In 
Uruguay the Consultive Committee for the Political De- 
fense of the Continent-an official investigating body sup- 
ported by the democracies of the Americas-continues to  
accumulate evidence proving that the Falange is growing 
more dangerous hourly. From all over the hemisphere 
documentary data continues to  pile up-evidence that in 
the Falange Exterior the nations of the Western Hemisphere 
are confronted with one of their most pressing problems. 

The complete dossier on the Falange in South and Central 
America lists names of over a million active adherents be- 
tween Patagonia and Panama. It lists secret arsenals, radio 
stations, fueling bases, military shock troops, and espionage 
centers in country after country. It lists names of hundreds 
of known statesmen and military leaders whose ties to Falan- 
gist Spain are far more binding than the formal .ties they 
maintain with Washington. It is, in short, a dossier -that 
cannot be revealed in its entirety until the Axis is completely 
crushed. 
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But certain facts that make up this dossier should be 
known now. Facts like those contained in the report sub- 
mitted to the Argentine Congress in 1941 by Deputy Raoul 
Damonte Taborda, chairman of the Congressional Commit- 
tee investigating Axis activities-the report which the Cas- 
tillo government has suppressed completely. 

The Taborda Report, which covered the Nazi penetra- 
tion in the Argentine, deals briefly with the Falange Ex- 
terior as an instrument of the Nazi Fifth Column in that 
country. 

In this report, Taborda revealed the close link between 
General von Faupel and his Ibero-American Institute and 
the Spanish Falange. Speaking of the Ibero-American Insti- 
tute, Taborda said: 

Its real objective: while, on the one hand the Germans build 
their "aryan minorities" with German Nationals abroad, on 
the other hand they attempt to stir up the nationalistic senti- 
ments of the masses of Spanish origin. 

Taborda maintained that the greatest obstacle to this 
campaign was the Spanish people themselves. 

The proven liberalism of the Iberian residents [in Argentina] 
constitutes a barrier for the Falangistas who try to group them 
as a minority. 

The report quoted von Faupel as declaring that: "The 
Panamerican idea is an unsound invention, and it is necessary 
to oppose to it the idea of an Iberian America. The countries 
of South and Central America arenearer to Spain than to  the 
United States." 

After declaring that "Germany and Italy sponsor the 
imperialistic policy of Franco,'' the Taborda report re- 
viewed the career of Germany's regent in Spain-Wilhelm 
von Faupel. It revealed that, while serving as military coun- 
selor to the Argentine Army, von Faupel, "in his teachings 
about Patagonia . . . advised that it should be abandoned 
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in case of war, considering it defensele~s.'~ The  report went 
on to  prove that the Nazis are behind t \ e  current agitation 
for the independence of Patagonia-thereby underlining 
the fact that fully a decade before the Reichstag Fire, Wil- 
helm von Faupel was playing the Nazi game in Argentina. 

The Taborda report declared that Von Faupel's "stay in 
Spain served, among other things, to  found in San Sebastian 
in May, 1938, a Nazi college for Argentine citizens. From 
there would come the future directors of the Fascists of the 
Argentine Republic." In its way, this college is concrete 
evidence of the complete domination of Franco Spain by the 
Nazis. 

The  suppressed Taborda Report minced no words in its 
analysis of Falangismo: 

With Franco, the Spanish Falangt triumphed in the Mother- 
land. With the Spanish Falange, the Ibero-American Institute 
triumphed in Berlin. In exact terms-Nazism. The Falange is a 
copy of the Nazi Party-a blueprint to such a point that it 
made a literal translation of all the principles that fascism uses 
to plant the seeds of propaganda. Nazi technicians take part in 
their plans, directing them politically. Their work in the Latin- 
American countries is oriented toward the forming in solid 
blocks of the great Spanish masses, an attempt to achieve what 
the Nazis achieved with the German "blood comrades." It is a 
strong Ibero-Americanism practiced from Berlin. The simplest 
reading of the program of the Falange tells us to beware of it. 

Then the Report goes on to  quote points 3,4, and 5 of the 
Falange Program (see Chapter I) to prove the subversive 
nature of Falangismo; and then: 

The Spanish Falange aspires to set back the clock of history 
b two centuries, but it will not succeed. But insofar as it is 
ahve, it is a factor of disorder that should be annihilated. 

Since Argentina has remained at peace with the Axis, 
the Argentine Falange is still kept in the background as 
part of the greater Nazi network. The Nazis not only have 
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g a n i z e d  the Germans there, but also control and finance 
a number of native Fascist organizations. The Taborda Re- 

ort, revealing that this Fifth Column operated clandes- 
{ne radio stations and secret military bases, declared that 
it works alongside a Nazi-Falange secret service which has 
up-to-date maps and data on roads, bridges, waterways, and 
detailed plans of arsenals, bases, electric plants, and vital 
factories. 

Do not believe that we are shouting in the dark [says the 
historic report, citing the Nazis' own estimate that] 22,000 
perfectly disciplined men are ready, plus 8,000 Germans from 
the Nazi Party, 14,000 members of the German Workers 
Front, 3,000 Italian Fascists, I 5,000 Falangistas, and many 
others from the Juventud Germano Argentina and many other 
thousands affiliated with the Alianza Nacionalista Argentina- 
all ready to strike. 

Although Taborda's hard-hitting report was suppressed 
by the Castillo government, the rising anti-Axis sentiment 
of the Argentine people themselves has continued to  grow 
since the war began. Despite the diplomatic stand taken 
by President Castillo, the Argentine Government has had 
to  rely on Franco Spain to  an increasing extent in its deal- 
ings with the Axis. After Pearl Harbor it was a foregone 
conclusion that Spain was going to loom larger than ever 
in the Argentine diplomatic picture. Argentine democrats 
expected Spain to  make a big move early in I 942-but the 
Spanish Falangista chosen to  make this move was a surprise 
even to those Argentine foes of fascism who had grown 
used to expect all sorts of insolence from the Nazi puppets 
in Madrid. 

In May 1942 Spain dispatched a trade mission to  Buenos 
Aires-a mission headed by one Eduardo Aunos. If ever a 
cabal gave away its intentions by a stroke of over-confidence 
born of arrogance, the men that chose t o  put Aunos at the 
head of this mission committed just this blunder. 

Aunos was admittedly a man of many talents-but for- 
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eign commerce was not one of his specialties. A lawyer 
by profession, Aunos had served as Minister of Labor in 
the old Primo de Rivera dictatorship in Spain. After the 
fall of the de Rivera government, Aunos wrote The Corpo- 
rate State and a number of other books proving that fascism 
was the solution to the problems of the world. 

Early in the course of the von Faupel-Sanjurjo conspiracy 
to destroy the Spanish Republic, Aunos was admitted into 
the inner councils of the Spanish conspirators. He  joined 
the Falange in 1935, and was named Counselor of its Na- 
tional Council. 

After joining the Falange, Aunos paid the first of his many 
visits to "La Fragate," a modest villa overlooking the sea 
at Biarritz, then the main headquarters of German espion- 
age in southern Europe. The secret radio under its tiled 
roofs broadcast daily instructions to Nazi and Falange 
agents in Spain, Spanish Morocco, and the Canary Islands 
between the summer of 1935 and July 19, 1936. 

These visits proved both instructive and fruitful. With 
the German-Italian invasion of Spain in 1936, Eduardo 
Aunos moved to Paris, where he established himself as the 
chief of Falange espionage in France at 2 I Rue Berri. H e  
remained at this post for two years. 

As chief of Falange espionage in France, Aunos made his 
reports to the Exterior Service of the Falange, then located 
in Salamanca, Spain. His reports to Salamanca were relayed 
through another high-ranking officer of Fascist espionage, 
Colonel Sanz Agero, then stationed near the Franco-Spanish 
border at Iron. Sanz Agero is today the Spanish Minister 
to Guatemala. 

Aunos did a good job for the Axis in France; so good a 
job that in 1938 he was appointed Ambassador of Franco 
Spain to Belgium. His diplomatic duties never were allowed 
to interfere with his other work. In Belgium Aunos estab- 
lished extremely "cordial" relations with the Rexists-the 
Belgian Fascist party proven to have been controlled by the 
Nazis. Eduardo Aunos remained in Belgium until the Ger- 
mans occupied that little nation in 1940. (The Rexists, who 
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helped ease the way for the Nazis, later sent a token force to 
fight alongside of the Spanish Blue Legions in the Nazi 
armies at the Russian front.) 

These facts about Eduardo Aunos were not exactly a se- 
cret in diplomatic circles when he embarked for Buenos 
Aires. Despite the reams of publicity put out by Axis and 
appeasement sources in Argentina-propaganda aimed to  
make Argentinians believe that the commercial pact be- 
tween Spain and Argentina would bring great prosperity t o  
the country-Argentine democrats looked to other direc- 
tions for a line on what had really brought Aunos to Buenos 
Aires. 

While speculation as to the nature of the Falangist mission 
raged, Argentine Foreign Minister Ruiz Guinazu-whose 
anti-United Nations feelings are seldom camouflaged-at- 
tended a banquet held in Aunos's honor in Buenos Aires. 
The foreign Minister made a long speech in which he not 
only praised Aunos and Franco Spain, but also predicted a 
trade treaty between Spain and Argentina that would be of 
immeasurable benefit to both countries. 

Then word began to leak out that Aunos was in Argen- 
tina for the negotiation of a pact of more than merely com- 
mercial significance. While Aunos and the other Falangistas 
of his mission met with scores of government and political 
leaders, careless attaches of the Spanish Legation in Buenos 
Aires took to boasting in cafes and drawing rooms about a 
new Madrid-Buenos Aires airline, about a cultural pact with 
trick hidden clauses, and about a mysterious about-to-be- 
established Argentine free port in Spain. 

A special Spanish commission prepared a complete memo- 
randum on the planes of the war-grounded Italian Lati Air 
Line-especially the transports "interned" in Brazil after the 
Rio Conference. Papers in Madrid spoke out about using 
these planes in the establishment of an air line linking Spain 
and Argentina. 

Falangist papers in Buenos Aires like the Diario Espafiol 
and the Correo de Galicia began to paint vivid pictures of 
the great benefits-both economic and moral-Argentina 
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would derive after the trade pact was signed. They went to 
great pains to point out that the wheat rotting in the ware- 
houses, the corn being used as fuel in locomotives, and the 
millions of pounds of unsold beef in the packers' storage 
houses were being wasted because the United States was 
utilizing the war as a device to destroy Argentine agricul- 
ture. O n  the other hand, ran the Falange propaganda line, 
immortal Spain, the great Mother Country which had slain 
the twin dragons of liberalism and communism, not only 
needed Argentine agricultural products to sustain herself, 
but also had the ships and the gold to pay for them. And as 
for Argentina's growing shortages of manufactured goods 
and machinery-why, Spain would probably be able to bar- 
ter manufactures for food. 

This was the official line, and to make it stick, Aunos be- 
gan to flood the Argentine with imported Spanish lecturers, 
movies,, and entertainers. For the head of a commercial mis- 
sion from a land ravaged by starvation to a nation with a 
tremendous food surplus, Eduardo Aunos exhibited a sur- 
prising lack of desire to get a pact signed as quickly as pos- 
sible. The negotiations seemed to drag on for months on end. 

Perhaps, if Aunos's sole mission in Buenos Aires was the 
trade agreement, the pact would have been drawn and 
signed within a month of the start of the talks. The truth 
about the Aunos mission was that its chief was concerned 
primarily with the Falanges of South America first and the 
commercial treaty second. 

Aunos had arrived in Buenos Aires with great powers 
delegated to him by the Falange Exterior National Council 
in Madrid. During his entire stay in Argentina-and he did 
not return to Spain until October-he was acting as von 
Faupel's Extraordinary Inspector General of the Falange 
Exterior in the Americas. Most of his time was spent with 
delegates of the Falanges of Latin America and Argentina. 
H e  reviewed the reports they had to make on the Falanges 
in their respective countries and gave them orders both for 
their groups and for the Spanish diplomatic legations which 
worked with their groups. 
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The Aunos mission played its cards with a finesse that as- 
tounded all observers. In August I 942, for example, Aunos 
saw to it that Argentine President Ramon Castillo received 
the Grand Collar of the Order of Isabel-one of Spain's rar- 
est decorations. After the decoration was received, Aunos 
ordered the press attache of the Spanish Embassy in Buenos 
Aires, Jose Ignacio Ramos, to hold regular joint meetings 
with the envoys of Germany, Italy, and Japan-sessions at 
which the all-Axis propaganda drive was planned and co- 
ordinated. 

Not until September 8, 1942, was the Aunos-Guinazu 
pact finally signed. By the time it was ready for the signa- 
tures of pro-Franco Argentine Ambassador to Madrid Es- 
cobar and Spanish Foreign Minister G6mez Jordana, it had 
become both a trade and a cultural pact. 

The text of the agreement was never made public. But as 
in earlier agreements between Franco Spain and Argentina, 
the Iberian Axis nation promised to barter manufactured 
goods for Argentine grain and beef. In January I 94 I Argen- 
tina had sent 3 50,000 tons of corn to Spain-which, in pay- 
ment, was to deliver an unspecified amount of iron and steel. 
Argentina is still waiting for the metals. A later barter deal 
became a cash deal after Spain had received Argentine cattle 
and beef-and paid for them out of the earnings of the Com- 
pafifa Argentina de Electricidad, subsidiary of Chade, the 
Spanish utility trust. 

Spain, whose exports of food and minerals to  Germany 
are now at an all-time high, is today receiving vast shipments 
of Argentine food under the terms of the new pact. The 
projected air line between Madrid and Buenos Aires, while 
covered in the treaty, has not yet been established. It has, 
instead, become another of the aces in the Spanish blackmail 
deck; an ace the Axis will not hesitate to play whenever fur- 
ther concessions are sought from the democracies. The cul- 
tural angles of the pact were made quite plain on October 
12, 1942-Columbus Day. 

The Falange celebrates Columbus Day in Latin America 
as El Dia de la Raza-the Day of the Race. In Buenos Aires 
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there were many celebrations, official, religious, and politi- 
cal. Foreign Minister Ruiz Guinazu, in a speech broadcast 
to Spain as well as over the Argentine networks, exchanged 
sentiments with Madrid short-wave speakers in a special 
two-way radio celebration staged by both countries. 

Guinazu pledged that Spain and Argentina, "which find 
themselves traveling the same road and which have parallel 
interests," would be bound by still closer bonds-bonds, he 
declared, that would be created "not with words but with 
deeds." 

President Castillo celebrated the day by attending a sol- 
emn ceremony devoted to extolling Franco Spain and the 
concept of Hispanidad-which calls for the return of Ar- 
gentina to the Spanish Empire. 

Later in the evening, two great Fascist rallies were held 
in Buenos Aires, and the speeches made at these rallies were 
broadcast over the radio to the entire country. The larger 
one was held by the Alianza de la Juventud Nacionalista, the 
Fascist party organized and backed by the Germans and the 
Falangistas. Its leader, anti-Semitic General Juan Bautista 
Molina, had been formally charged with treason by the late 
President Ortiz, and his trial was still pending at the time. 

Flanked by Argentine and Falange flags draped around 
signs reading "HOMAGE T O  SPAIN," Molina delivered a 
violently anti-Semitic, pro-Axis, and anti-United States 
speech that had his frenzied 18,000 followers cheering and 
giving the stiff-arm Fascist salute between paragraphs. 
Among the things assailed by Molina and other Fascists at 
the Columbus Day rallies were Pan-Americanism, Jewish 
Imperialists, the United Nations, liberalism, Roosevelt, Sum- 
ner Welles, and the Atlantic Charter. 

These speeches were all broadcast. But the radio micro- 
phones were absent from one other meeting held in Buenos 
Aires that night-a meeting that was held only after a pro- 
longed fight with the government for permission to stage it. 
Not only were its speeches not broadcast, but the papers 
were forbidden to report their texts the next day. This meet- 
ing was staged by labor and liberal organizations of Buenos 

Patagonia to Panama 187 

Aires to affirm the pro-United Nations sentiments of the 
Argentinian people. Its speakers included Deputy Raoul 
Damonte Taborda, Colonel Francisco Galan of the Spanish 
Republican Army, and many Argentine labor leaders. 

The  press did not report the keynote speech delivered by 
Pedro Chiaranti, the noted Argentine labor leader, who 
shouted: 

We in Argentina can aid the Spanish people by fighting the 
Spanish Falange and by forcing our country to take the side 
of the United Nations against the Axis Powers. 

Shortly after the Columbus Day celebrations, Argentine 
Deputy Juan Antonio Solari, who succeeded Taborda as 
chairman of the congressional committee investigating anti- 
democratic activities, made a report which explained the 
cultural and political results of the Aunos mission more 
fully. 

Solan exposed the fact that the Fascist parties of Argen- 
tina were now relying more than ever before on the facade 
of Falangist Spain as a front for their attacks on the democ- 
racies. In his report, which was neatly squelched by the 
Castillo administration, Solari charged that the Spanish Am- 
bassador, Jose Coil Mirambell, was supervising the activities 
of the Falangist Casa de Espaiia-ordered closed by Presi- 
dent Ortiz in May I 939. 

The Deputy further revealed that the Spanish ships which 
crossed the ocean to  take on cargoes of Argentinian grain 
and beef brought not manufactured goods but tons of 
Falangist propaganda to  Argentina. This propaganda was 
all openly pro-Axis. These, then, were the benefits Argen- 
tina received from the Aunos mission-propaganda and in- 
creased Falangist activities. (Aunos himself was rewarded 
handsomely by von Faupel for his mission: H e  is now Min- 
ister of Justice in the Spanish Cabinet.) 

The complete dossier on the Falange in the Americas 
would not overlook Argentina's democratic neighbor to the 
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west, the Republic of Chile. Here the strength of the Chil- 
ean labor movement and the organized democratic political 
parties has forced the Falange to keep its thirty-five Chilean 
cells well under cover. 

The Falange in Chile is confined largely to the southern 
part of the country, which has an enormous German popu- 
lation. The  anti-Falange sentiments of the Chilean people 
are so marked that after Pearl Harbor Madrid sent a con- 
fidential memorandum ordering all Spanish Falangistas in 
Chile to seek Chilean citizenship and to cease appearing in 
public in the Falange blue shirts. 

The  bombing of Pearl Harbor, however, made the 
Falange and the Spanish diplomatic network in Chile very 
important to the Axis. In January 1942 the Falange sent 
Jose Gonzalez Honares from Spain to  Chile. Honares, the 
chief liaison man between the Japanese and the Falange, was 
ordered to Chile to take over the work of the Japanese on 
that west-coast South American bastion. 

Today, Honares and the Spanish diplomats are the chief 
Axis agents in Chile, but their efforts are not made any easier 
by one of the most vigilantly democratic peoples in the 
world. 

The  anti-Falangist, anti-Axis feelings of the Chilean peo- 
ple are so pronounced that in at least one instance known to  
United Nations Intelligence services the Falange in Chile 
has been forced to distribute Spanish propaganda through 
the diplomatic machinery of a certain Latin-American lega- 
Don in Santiago de Chile. 

Brazil takes up a surprising amount of space in the com- 
plete dossier on the Falange in South America. 

Late in 1940, the Falange in Madrid announced the for- 
mation of the All-Iberian Confederation of Portuguese and 
Spanish Falange parties. The organization was a joint com- 
mittee of the Fascist parties of both Portugal and Spain, and 
as such had governmental backing in both Lisbon and 
Madrid. 

With the launching of the Confederation, Spain sent a 
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new ambassador to  Brazil. H e  was Rairnundo Fernandez 
Cuesta, the former chief of the Falange in Spain and one of 
its earliest members. Although sadly lacking in experience 
as a diplomat, Cuesta needed little coaching in the theory 
and technique of operating a Falange Fifth Column. Before 
Brazil entered the war, and prior to the arrival of the Aunos 
mission to  Argentina, Cuesta directed all South American 
Falange activities from his embassy in Rio de Janiero. 

The  Falange leader not only managed the continental 
Falange Exterior affairs, but he also set up an organization 
in Portuguese-speaking Brazil which added to his laurels in 
Madrid. Cuesta had five secretaries in the Embassy. They 
were all trained Falange officials who, protected by their 
diplomatic passports, aided Cuesta in his tasks of propaganda 
and organization. 

Cuesta camouflaged the Hispanidad line in Brazil. Instead, 
he appealed to  the Portuguese origin of Brazilians by link- 
ing Salazar, Dictator of Portugal, and Franco as the joint 
chiefs of a great Iberian empire-to-be. The All-Iberian Con- 
federation became Cuesta's wedge in Brazil, and he used it 
with telling effect. 

From Rio, Cuesta set the Falange propaganda line for the 
entire continent through Nueva Espana, the Falangist paper 
published at 70 Avenida Porto Alegre. Through this paper 
and through news furnished the Berlin radio by the Spanish 
Embassy at Rio-news the Berlin radio rebroadcast to  all 
of Latin America-Cuesta kept Falange propaganda going 
along the paths determined in von Faupel's Madrid office. 
The great bulk of Ambassador Cuesta's large staff was com- 
posed of Falangist inspectors who maintained liaison be- 
tween their chief and the Falanges of neighboring countries. 

When Brazil broke with Germany, one of Cuesta's five 
secretaries, Manuel Montero, was entrusted with the mis- 
sion of taking confidential documents of the closed German 
Embassy to  Spain for trans-shipment to Berlin. H e  sailed on 
the Cabo de Hornos in May 1942, just as Aunos was arriving 
in Argentina. 

The  war forced all of the Falanges in South America to  
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pull in their horns. In Brazil all members of the small but 
influential section of the Falange Espafiola were given copies 
of the confidential circular which was published in Madrid 
and sent to the Spanish legations in Latin America. The 
Brazilian edition of the circular, which bore the heading, 
"Extraordinary Bulletin of Instructions," said, in part: 

Complying with orders received from our Superior Chiefs, 
because of special difficult circumstances that have arisen and 
affected our propaganda in America . . . all work will be 
interrupted until further notice. Persecuted by certain govern- 
ments at the service of International Jewry, we must forbid 
all visits to our meeting places, even if they remain open for 
purely commercial ends. The following orders have been re- 
ceived- 

I .  Avoid visiting the Embassy, and only in cases of absolute 
necessity call for information at Department 142. Any other 
consultation should be made personally with the chief of the 
group to which each member belongs. Never use the telephone, 
not even for discreet conversation. 

2. Keep careful reserve in dealing with natives of the coun- 
try [Brazil], who did not rate our complete confidence before 
this time, because they may now become very dangerous to 
the sacred cause of the Empire with the new change of the 
tide [Brazil's declaration of war]. 

3. Maintain the spirit of action, guiding it principally 
through the Portuguese feeling in opposition to the fluctuating 
Pan-Americanism. Beware of employing the terms Hispanidad 
and Hispanismo-words that may hurt the extreme sensitivities 
of these [Brazilian] people. 

These are instructions received from the Consejo de His- 
panidad, and should not be mentioned in any conversations. 
If others quote these instructions, you must affirm that it [the 
Consejo de Hispanidad] has been dissolved. . . . 

6. Never forget the spirit of sacrifice of the Falange Espa- 
fiola, nor the punishment that is reserved for all the traitors or 
cowards who might compromise in any way-such as answer- 
ing police questions or exhibiting copies of this bulletin, which 
must be returned within three days of its receipt. 

The slogan "Attack for Victory" is now changed to the 
new slogan, "Discretion for Victory." . . . 
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This circular is worth noting for the clear way in which 
it identifies the Spanish Embassy with the subversive activi- 
ties of the Falange Exterior. Note, too, the reference to  
"International Jewry" as being the sole force opposed to  
the Axis in the war, and the line about avoiding the usual 
Falange meeting places "even if they remain open for purely 
commercial ends." Many Spanish business houses in Latin 
America act as headquarters for Falange cells, and the Span- 
ish firms in Brazil were no exception. 

Brazil's declaration of war on Germany and Italy not only 
forced the Brazilian Falange to retrench, but also made it 
inadvisable for Spanish Ambassador Cuesta to operate out 
of Rio. The Axis was afraid to  risk having him interned if 
the United Nations ever widened their war front to  take in 
all Axis nations, including Spain. One of the jobs assigned 
to the Aunos mission was making Cuesta's retreat from the 
Western Hemisphere an orderly one. 

The center of Falange activities on the continent was 
shifted to  Argentina. Shortly after Aunos completed his mis- 
sion, Cuesta was recalled from Brazil and named Spanish 
Ambassador to Rome. In the general shifting of leaders and 
headquarters, one other significant change was made. Colo- 
nel Manuel de la Sierra, attached to the Spanish Embassy in 
Washington, was transferred to the legation at Buenos 
Aires. Sierra is one of the key figures in the Spanish Secret 
Service, and his new assignment was made as part of a broad 
master-plan for all of the American nations. 

One of the most amazing parts of the dossier on the 
Falange in South America is the section dealing with Peru. 
A prominent Peruvian writer put his finger on the strange 
power of Falangismo recently. 

Falangismo speaks for feudalism as an ideal. In Peru, where 
feudalism is not an ideal but a bitter reality, Falangismo there- 
fore found fertile soil. On the Peruvian hacienda, the hacien- 
dado is All Powerful. Each hacienda represents, in spirit, a 
perfect Falangist state in miniature. It is therefore not surpris- 
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ing to find the Falange strongest among the great landowners 
and their spokesmen in the press and the government. 

The power of Falangismo was felt in Peru very early dur- 
ing the course of the Spanish War. Jose Maria Arguedas and 
Manuel Moreno, two Peruvian writers, organized a meeting 
at the University in Lima and spoke up in favor of the Span- 
ish Republic. They were immediately arrested and kept in- 
communicado for six months in prison before protests from 
all over Latin America forced the government to release 
them. After that, there were no open anti-Falange manifes- 
tations in Peru. 

The country's "Two Hundred Families" vied among 
themselves to see who could do the most for the Axis cause 
during the Spanish War. When Eugenio Montes, one of the 
most important Falangist propagandists, visited Peru during 
this war, he had limousines and villas put at his disposal 
wherever he went. Montes returned to Peru to lecture after 
the Axis triumph. H e  was followed by Jose Maria Peman, 
the Falangist writer whose lectures were attended by Peru's 
President, Manuel Prado, and other leading Peruvian dig- 
nitaries. 

The man generally credited with being the real leader of 
the Falange in Peru is Jose de la Riva Aguero, one of the 
country's wealthiest citizens. He  likes to be known by his 
Spanish title, the Marques de Aulestia-a title he had re- 
validated in Spain in I 934. Riva Aguero is one of Peru's lead- 
ing intellectuals, and in both the press and on the public 
platform he is the most outspoken exponent of Falangismo 
and Hispanidad. 

T o  the Peruvian Falange, whose slogan is, "Spiritual 
Unity between Spain and Peru," Riva Aguero has been an 
intellectual and financial tower of strength. H e  visited Spain 
in 1940, and on his return in 1941 was quoted in the maga- 
zine Tourismo as declaring that Falangismo "is necessary 
for the life of Peru . . . the movement in Spain is an in- 
spiration for all of us." 
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Riva Aguero's ties with the Japanese in Peru-where they 
formed the most powerful Fifth Column in the country- 
were as close as were his ties with Franco. 

When Peru, at the last minute, cast its diplomatic lot with 
the United Nations, the hysterically anti-United States or- 
gan of the Peruvian Falange, Unidad, was suspended by the 
government. This, however, was little more than a gesture- 
because the most powerful voice of the Falange also hap- 
pens to be one of the largest papers in Peru, El Comercio. 

There are many points of similarity between El Comer- 
do ,  of Lima, and Havana's Diario de la Marina. Like the 
Diario's Pepin Rivero, El Comercio's guiding genius, Carlos 
Miro Quesada Laos, also won the Maria Moors Cabot Prize 
for Journalism in I 94 I-the prize awarded to the editor who 
does the most to cement North and South American friend- 
ship. Like the Diario, El Comercio also jumped on the 
Franco bandwagon with the first shots of the Spanish War. 
Like Pepin Rivero, Miro Quesada also enjoyed good rela- 
tions with Axis diplomats other than those of Spain. 

H e  was, in fact, violently opposed to Peru's diplomatic 
break with Japan. "There is no harm at all in the Japanese 
being in Peru," he told an American magazine writer about 
a week before Pearl Harbor.He also told this American 
that, "There is nothing like the progressive character of Na- 
tional Socialism. However, Falangismo is even a step higher 
than National Socialism." 

During the Spanish War, Miro Quesada visited the 
Franco side as correspondent for his paper. El Comercio has 
long preached Hispanidad and Falangismo, and if Miro 
Quesada's detractors sometimes describe him as "Franco's 
Unofficial Goebbels," they can hardly be blamed or accused 
of exaggerating the role of El Comercio. 

In addition to his journalistic writings, Miro Quesada also 
wrote a book based on his interviews with Hitler, Franco, 
Salazar, and Mussolini. Needless to say, this book-which 
bore an introduction written by Riva Aguero-had nothing 
but praise for these dictators. For Miro Quesada likes dic- 
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tators as much as he hates Spanish Republicans, whom he 
calls by one name only: "Reds." H e  was the man most in- 
fluential in keeping the Spanish Republican refugees out of 
Peru. His uncle is one of the intimate advisers of President 
Prado. 

The Falange and its partisans in Peru abound in such col- 
orful personalities as Riva Aguero and Miro Quesada. There 
is also, for example, Raoul Parras Barrenechea, who is noted 
both as a toreador and as an essayist. H e  served as an attache 
in the Peruvian Legation in Franco Spain, where he spent a 
good deal of time doing research in the archives of the 
Council of the Indies, the historical predecessor of the Coun- 
cil of Hispanidad. 

Upon his return to Peru, Barrenechea published a work 
based on "new material" he had found in the ancient ar- 
chives-a book proving that Conquistador Pizarro was not a 
murderous looter but a shining and kindly knight of Chris- 
tian brotherhood. The unique thesis of the book took hold in 
Peru's wealthy Spanish colony, but Peruvian democrats 
laughed and coined a nickname for the author: "Pizarro the 
Good." 

Barrenechea now holds a post in the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs. An intimate of Riva Aguero's, he is openly anti- 
United States and a fervent propagandist of Hispanidad. 

Another important member of Riva Aguero's social set 
is Raoul Ferrero Rebagliatti, a Peruvian lawyer of Italian 
descent. An admirer of Mussolini, Rebagliatti once tried to  
found a "real" Fascist party in Peru. H e  praises Riva Aguero 
as a "master of Peruvian youth." In 1941 he delivered a 
famous pro-Franco lecture to the foreign students (most of 
them from the United States) at the summer school of the 
University of San Marcos in Lima. 

Riva Aguero's close friend Hoyos Osores, editor of the 
daily La Prensa of Lima, is an outspoken pro-Falangist. 

El Comercio and La Prensa are addressed to adults, but 
the Falange message is served to Peruvians from the moment 
they begin to read. An official textbook used in all Peruvian 
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schools describes Franco as a savior of Christianity "against 
the assaults of Jewish Communism." 

Now that Peru has broken diplomatic ties wit the Axis \ nations, Spain has taken over all Axis representati n. Fran- 
co's Ambassador, D. Pablo Churruca, is active in public 
functions day in and day out. His words and public activities 
are breathlessly recorded in the openly pro-Falangist press 
of the country, to whom he is a statesman of world im- 
portance. 

Peru's own envoys to  Spain have been as ardently for 
Franco and Hispanidad as Churruca. In 1940 Peru's Ambas- 
sador was Ex-President Benavides, who was decorated by 
Franco and given a banquet by Spanish military officers in 
Barcelona. H e  now represents Peru in Argentina. Pedro 
Irogoyen, who succeeded Benavides as Ambassador to  
Spain, made a Columbus Day address in 1941 in which he 
declared, "The Spanish movement should serve as an exam- 
ple for South America." 

These personalities are a reflection of the strength of 
Falangismo in a country whose importance must never be 
underestimated. The Falange itself was never large in Peru 
-it never had to  be. The  Axis relied on the huge Japanese 
and Italian Fifth Columns for manpower there. 

Since Spain took over the Axis diplomatic front in Peru, 
the Falange has increased in importance. Shortly after Pearl 
Harbor, Antonio Luis Escobar, a high-ranking officer in the 
Spanish Secret Service (SIM) arrived in Peru from Spain to  
serve the Axis in ways that need no description. H e  is still 
there. 

Peru's impoverished neighbor, Ecuador, is no less afflicted 
with the Falange virus. As in Peru, the Falange did not be- 
come the dominant Axis front until after Pearl Harbor. T h e  
Italian Army had a contract to train the Ecuadorian officers. 
The  largest school in Quito was the German Collegio 
Aleman. And the Japanese had a large hand in the economic 
destinies of the country. 
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Because of this all-Axis front, the most important organ 

of Falangismo, El Debate, was financed not only by Spain 
but also by Italy, Germany, and Japan. It was run by Mari- 
an0 Suarez Veintemilla, now a deputy in the nation's Con- 
gress, and Senator Moises Luna-a statesman who de- 
nounced the Rotarian Congress held at the University in 
Quito as a "Masonic-Jewish" conspiracy against Ecuador. 
El Debate, like the Falangist organs Hoja Popular and 
Crisol, was finally banned in May 1942. 

Since Ecuador's diplomatic break with the Axis powers, 
the Nazi Transocean News Service, which reached all Ecua- 
dorean papers free of charge, has been replaced by the 
Franco news agency, EFE-which also furnishes a free serv- 
ice. The EFE wires go to  all papers in Ecuador with the ex- 
ception of anti-Fascist publications like El Dia and La 
Def e m .  

Before Pearl Harbor, the Nazis maintained a number of 
clandestine radio stations in Ecuador. Many of them are now 
operated by the Falange. 

Ecuador's wealthy Spanish Colony is as fervently Falang- 
ist as that of Peru. Nevertheless, in 1940 the Falange worked 
with the Japanese and the Nazis to stir up still another war 
growing out of the century-old border controversy between 
Peru and Ecuador. 

Little was said in the press of the world about this war. 
Described in most North American papers as a typical minor 
"border dispute," it was very much of a real modem war 
during the months that it raged. The von Faupel- and Japa- 
nese-trained Peruvian Army finally crushed the Italian- 
trained Ecuadoreans-but at a cost in human lives far be- 
yond the space they won in the headlines. It was a war 
which saw Italian Caproni bombers in the hands of the Peru- 
vians blot out whole villages, and such bombings spell death 
even in unpublicized wars. (Italy sold to both sides.) 

When the shooting-was over, and the disputed territory 
securely in the hands of Peru, the Falange in Spain sent a 
delegation of prominent Falangistas to Peru to  commemo- 
rate the 450th anniversary of Columbus. The most distin- 
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guished of the delegates, who came as guests of the Peru- 
vian Government, was the Marquesa de la Conquista, de- 
scendant of Pizarro-a fitting note, since the prime purpose 
of the delegation from Spain was to  lend moral authority to  
the Peruvian conquest. This feat they accomplished by cit- 
ing ancient maps of the Council of the Indies which justified 
Peru's border claims. 

More than Peru and Ecuador were involved in this war, 
however. It was nothing more than a well-timed dress re- 
hearsal of the hell the Nazis are prepared to  unleash in all of 
Latin America. 

Border wars, military uprisings, civil wars, fake minority 
movements like that of Patagonia-all these are weapons, in 
Latin America, against the United Nations and particularly 
against the United States. T h e  Axis aim in Latin America is 
to  increase the war-borne hardships to  acute misery, and 
then convert this misery to  chaos-a chaos that will have a 
telling effect on the war effort of every American nation. 

Spain became a Nazi colony as a result of a fake military 
uprising organized by the Germans. Today Spain is nearer 
to  many Latin American countries than the United States. 
And the Nazi-run Spanish Falange is active and large in 
these countries. It will cost the Germans next to  nothing in 
men and materials to  stir up serious disturbances in Latin 
America through the Falange Ekpafiola. 

The all-over dossier on the Falange in Latin America gets 
very hot when it touches Colombia, the strategic land which 
flanks the Panama Canal on the South. 

Here the Falange pattern seems like a carbon copy of 
Cuba's. As in Cuba, Falangismo came to  Colombia's wealthy 
Spanish Colony and to  one of the country's largest publish- 
ers long before the Falange could send an agent from Spain 
to Bogota to formally organize the Falange Exterior 
branches. 

The two dominant figures in the Franco camp in Colom- 
bia in 1936 were Laureano G6mez and Hilario Rajul. 
G6mez publishes the influential daily, El Sigh, one of the 
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most violently anti-United States papers published any- 
where in the world, including Falangist Madrid. H e  is also 
the leader of the Conservative Party of Colombia. Rajul, a 
Spanish citizen in his fifties, is a well-to-do Bogota business 
man. 

Aided by other Spaniards and wealthy Colombians, 
G6mez and Rajul kept the Franco fires burning brightly 
until the end of 1937, when the Falange in Spain sent Gines 
de Albareda to  Bogota (the Falangistas always used the 
ancient name of Sante FA de Bogoti for the Colombian cap- 
ital) to  organize the Falange Exterior cells. 

Laureano G6mez gave the visiting Falange agent a lavish 
banquet, at which the young men of the Caro Academy 
acted as Albareda's guard of honor. For weeks, Albareda sat 
as the guest of honor at a series of dinners and receptions. 
Special Masses were said in his honor at the San Ignacio and 
other Spanish Churches. Were Albareda a less cynical fel- 
low, he might have imagined that Colombia was ripe for a 
Falangist uprising of its very own. 

But the average Colombian, and even the average Span- 
iard in Colombia, was not at all like Laureano G6mez. Al- 
bareda sensed the anti-Falangist feeling of the Colombian 
majority and therefore, in setting up the Falange Exterior 
structure, he gave it the name of "Cfrculo Nacionalist. Es- 
~ a n 0 1 . ~ ~  

When Albareda tried to  speak at meetings to  which the 
general public had been invited, he met with near disaster 
so often that he decided to  confine his orations to  more ex- 
clusive gatherings. At  least, at closed meetings attended only 
by  Falangistas and their sympathizers, he could make himself 
heard. 

At  one of these meetings, Albareda heard Laureano 
G6mez make a speech that brought the house down. It was 
an impassioned address which ended with these tingling 
words: 

All Spain, coming forward as the solitary fighter for Chris- 
tian culture, has taken the vanguard step of all malions of the 
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accident in the reconstruction of the Empire of Hispanidad, 
in whose Falanges we inscribe our names with indescribable 

j O L e  bless God because he has allowed us to live through this 
epoch of unforeseen transformation and because we are able 
to exclaim with a cry that comes forth from our deepest feel- 
ings-Arriba Espha, Catholic and Imperial! 

As he sounded this tocsin call, his face purple, sweat pour- 
ing into his tear-filled eyes, Laureano GomLz snapped to at- 
tention and flung his hand up in the stiff-arm Fascist salute- 
the brazo en alto. 

Albareda led the applause which greeted this speech. It 
told him that the time had come to begin circulating among ' 
the wealthy Spaniards of Colombia to collect large sums for 
the cause of El Caudillo. H e  had little difficulty in raising a 
most respectable war chest. The  Falange organized and the 
money collected, Gines de Albareda decided to take his 
leave. 

Before sailing for Spain, Albareda appointed Antonio 
Valverde to the post of chief of the Colombian Falange. 

His pockets heavy with the money he had raised in Co- 
lombia, Albareda said farewell to the leading Falangists of 
Bogota with the classic brazo en alto and a manly embrace 
for each man. But according to an account published in 
Buenos Aires quoting El Liberal of Bogota, the money 
proved to be more powerful than the ideology of Nueva 
Espaiia. Gines de Albareda was there accused of personally 
pocketing every penny of the moneys donated to El Cau- 
dillo by the Colombian Falangistas. H e  was never sent 
abroad on a confidential mission again. 

Valverde tried to make the Falange over into an ascetic 
religious order. H e  soon gave up this tack. After the triumph 
of Franco, Valverde had a series of arguments over the work 
of the Falange with the first Franco Minister to Colombia. 
H e  resented this interference so much that he turned the af- 
fairs of the Colombian Falange over to his assistant, Luis 
Roldan, and went to Spain to  seek justice. One of the results 
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of this trip was a letter to Roldan (quoted in Chapter I)  
promising that the Minister would soon be placed under the 
orders of the Falange chief. 

The letter was no idle boast. Shortly after Roldan re- 
ceived it, the Spanish Legation in Bogota received a new 
secretary, one Onos de Plandolit. Plandolit was new to the 
diplomatic business, but he had grown up with the Falange 
in Spain, and he had the implicit confidence of men like 
General von Faupel and the highest-ranking Spaniards in 
the Falange. 

Plandolit became the absolute chief of the Legation, and 
i t  was he who restored order to the Falange in Colombia. H e  
became, in effect, the actual chief o f t h e  Falange, and re- 
mained in Bogota until his post-Pearl Harbor transfer to  the 
Spanish Legation in Panama. 

In Bogota, Plandolit busied himself with more than 
merely Colombian affairs. During his tenure the Spanish 
Legation was taking advantage of the Pan-American Postal 
Convention franking privileges to  send propaganda to  the 
United States and other countries. The following excerpt, 
taken from a bulletin the Spanish Legation in Colombia sent 
to  New York City via franked mail, is a fair sample of Plan- 
dolit's work. 

. . . Roosevelt . . . will do all he can to aid in the defeat of 
Hitler and of the European people who are fighting for their 
liberty against Bolshevik barbarism and the sordid egoism of 
the democratic, Jewish, and Protestant plutocracies. 

During the Spanish War, Valverde started a campaign to  
raise funds for the Axis forces. The  campaign-which was 
announced as a "permanent" one-was assisted by a per- 
manent announcement appearing daily in G6mez7s El Sigh. 
This announcement, which bore the heading, in big capital 
letters, "VIVA FRANCO! ARRIBA ESPANA!" called 
for funds for Franco and published honor lists of those who 
contributed the money. 

Ghmez's fervor for Falangismo had very interesting, if 
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pathological, roots. H e  not only hated the Spanish Republic 
but, with equal venom, the Republic of Colombia as well. 
During the Spanish War, the Bogota publisher found a way 
of addressing an impassioned plea to Franco personally, a 
plea for aid in overthrowing the government of Colombia. 
Franco answered this request with a definite promise of 
military aid-after the Spanish Republic was destroyed. 

Franco's solemn promise made G6mez work all the harder 
for the' triumph of the Falange in Spain. The  zeal of the 
Colombian Falange's most fervent member did not diminish 
when Luis Roldan succeeded Valverde as chief of the Fa- 
lange in 1940. G6mez gave Roldan the full support he had 
shown Valverde. 

Roldan remained chief of the Colombian Falange until 
August I 941, when he was transferred to Panama-one of 
the most important Falange concentration points in the 
world. On  December I 8, 1941, he sailed from Panama to  
Havana on a Chilean liner, the Imperial. H e  was in Havana 
to  await passage on board a C. T. E. steamer bound for 
Spain. But Roldan's movements in Havana Falange circles 
aroused the suspicions of the Cuban Secret Police, who were 
in possession of letters Roldan had sent to  Alejandro Villa- 
nueva in 1940, when Villanueva was the Inspector General 
of the Falange in the Americas. 

The  Cuban police arrested Roldan on January 2, 1942. 
H e  was tried ten days later, but was acquitted-largely by 
his promise to take the next boat out of Cuba. 

Roldan's arrest, however, led to the revelation of many 
of the secrets of the Colombian Falange, for he had been 
carrying a case of important documents and a file of his 
correspondence to  Spain when the Cuban police arrested 
him. 

The documents included copies of orders Roldan had 
sent to Dario Cuadrado, the landowner and textile magnate 
who succeeded him as chief of the Colombian Falange; 
orders received by Roldan from Spain; letters linking Ger- 
man and Italian diplomats with Falangist activities in Latin 
America; and assorted documents relating to  Falangist ac- 
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tivities in Bolivia, Costa Rica, Puerto Rico, El Salvador, 
and other Latin-American nations. There were official com- 
munications to Roldan from Valverde-then his Falange 
chief-sent from Venezuela, Panama, Germany, England, 
France, and Spain. Roldan had kept a complete file-in- 
eluding copies of every letter he sent as a Falangist officer. 

Among these, as a starter, was the letter he had sent to 
Valverde in Barranquilla, Colombia, in December I 93 8, a 
letter which contained these sentences: 

I already went to the Italian Legation to take leave in your 
name and to tell them to cable to Caracas your arrival there. 
The [legation] secretary promised to do so. 

A later letter (the italics are mine) from Roldan to Val- 
verde was mailed when the then-chief of the Colombian 
Falange was in Zaragoza, Spain. It said, in part: 

. . . As I announced to you in my previous letter, I have 
completely organized the Auxilio Social and to that section I 
have dedicated number four and five of our Review. . . . I 
have distributed the girls in groups as well as the boys, and I 
have ordered them to make a collection among all the friends 
and businessmen of Bogota who sympathize with our Move- 
ment. . . . Immediately after, that is, on the first Sunday of 
March, we will hold a grand bazaar, which surely will be held 
in the Plaza de 10s Martires. . . . I am giving a religious char- 
acter to the organization of this Bazaar to collect funds for 
the reconstruction of the churches demolished in Spain. . . . 
In this manner I believe I will achieve a greater success, since 
I will have the collaboration of almost all the religious orders 
which I warned in advance, and will get the support of all the 
Colombian people who in their inner self are religious even 
though they take a liberal pose. . . . All this, as it is natural, 
I will manage, and I will distribute the women of the Auxilio 
Social in the various booths, and the funds, I don't have t o  even 
tell you, 'will be exclusively for the Falange. . . . 

This letter speaks volumes for the sincerity of the Fa- 
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lange's noisy crusade for Catholicism, and for the real char- 
acter of the Auxilio Social, the Falange's own "relief" 
society. 

But the most sensational document of the Roldan collec- 
tion was a copy of a report Roldan sent to the National 
Delegation of the Falange Exterior in Spain on February I 5, 
1939. This report said, in part (the italics are mine): 

The circle of conferences that I initiated here I had to stop 
because of serious reasons which exist in this country [Co- 
lombia]. Here the political atmosphere is heavy now, for 
among the Conservatives themselves there have been splits 
because some, among them Laureano Gbmez, wish violent or 
revolutionary attitudes . . . these gentlemen have adddressed 
themselves t o  our victorious Caudillo [Franco] requesting 
help t o  accomplish i n  this country a revolution similar to ours 
[in Spain], and the Caudillo has answered them that they shall 
have everything they wish after our war finishes. . . . Under 
these conditions the officials of the government here have 
thought that these activities are being carried on through the 
Falange and ordered a raid on our office by the Secret Police. 

I t  was a bombshell in Colombia. Here was a signed ad- 
mission from the former chief of the Colombian Falange 
that Laureano G6mez had petitioned Franco for aid in 
overthrowing democracy in Colombia! 

El Liberal, the newspaper of Colombia's present Presi- 
dent, ~ l f o n s o  Lopez, published the Roldan-Valverde- 
Falange Exterior documents in full in February 1942. The  
nation was shocked-and the Colombian police began a 
series of raids on the homes and offices of Falangistas and 
Franco partisans. 

The raids produced some amazing results. At  the home 
of Dario Cuadrado, the Falange chief of Colombia, police 
found orders sent from Madrid and signed by Jose Gimenez 
Rosado, the Secretary General of the Falange Espafiola. 
There were also copies of orders sent by Cuadrado to re- 
gional heads of the Falange in Colombia, and their reports 
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to  him. When questioned by the police, Cuadrado adrnit- 
ted that Laureano G6mez attended secret meetings of the 
Falange. 

At  the home of Hilario Rajul, the police were insulted 
by  the Spanish Falangista's wife, who called them "Red 
Communists" and similar names. While the detectives were 
at Rajul's files, Irwin Goldtucker, the German chauffeur 
of the Spanish Legation, arrived at the Rajul household 
and cursed them out roundly. They were about to arrest 
him when he whipped out his Spanish diplomatic passport 
and flaunted it in their faces. 

The raid produced one document that shook the coun- 
try. It revealed that, prior to  Pearl Harbor, the Falange 
and the Conservative Party had formed a working alliance, 
and that a Falangist official traveled throughout the Re- 
public (with all expenses paid by publisher G6mez's party) 
and converted the Conservative Party into a replica of the 
Falange. The  name of this Falangist agent was revealed to  
be Arturo Rajul-son of Hilario and Chancellor of the 
Spanish Legation. 

Rajul's tour was followed by a circular letter sent to  all 
chiefs of the Conservative Party in Colombia on December 
20, 1941, announcing the start of a new drive for power. 

The  raids of February 1942 served only to  make the 
Falangistas more discreet in Colombia. The Nazis have very 
good reasons to keep the Falange functioning at top effi- 
ciency in Colombia. The  reason can be best expressed in 
two words-Panama Canal. 

The  Darien Mountains, between Colombia and Panama, 
are only sixty miles from the Canal. They are crawling 
with Axis agents, and are so important to the Nazis that 
the Ibero-American Institute in Berlin has a separate "Office 
of Darien Affairs" run by a staff of specialist officers. 

While the Falange has been made illegal as such in Co- 
lombia, it continues under the name of the Acci6n Na- 
cionalista Popular, and publishes a magazine called Falanje. 
It is still aided by the Spanish Legation, and it is still a 
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menace to the Republic of Colombia and to  the war effort 
of the entire Western Hemisphere. 

Another fascinating section of the Falange Exterior dos- 
sier covers the Dominican Republic. When the Spanish 
War  broke out, the Spanish Republic was one of the big- 
gest customers for Dominican produce and cattle. Rafael 
Trujillo, the Dominican dictator, sympathized with Franco 
-but the Spanish Republicans paid their bills on time, and 
Trujillo had important private investments at home that 
depended on these bills. 

Ninety per cent of the Spanish merchants were openly 
pro-Franco. Like their colleagues in Havana, they collected 
vast sums of money, coffee, tobacco, rum, and other sup- 
plies for the Axis forces in Spain. The pro-Nazi chief of 
Dominican Intelligence, Major Miguel Angel Paulino, had 
many supporters of the Spanish Republic arrested and im- 
prisoned. Then, in I 93 7, the Spanish Falange sent Francisco 
Almodovar to  Trujillo City to  organize the local division 
of the Falange Exterior. 

Almodovar visited Trujillo at his home, where he re- 
ceived funds and promises of other aid. When Almodovar 
left Santo Domingo, the Falange ordered another agent, 
Francisco Larcegui, to continue the organization job in 
Santo ~ o m i n ~ o . ~  

Larcegui was stationed in New York when he received 
these orders. A veteran Falangist, Larcegui entered the 
United States as the accredited correspondent of three 
Latin-American papers-Pepin Rivero's Diario de la Ma- 
rina, Laureano G6mez's El Siglo, and the Falangist Diario 
Espafiol of Montevideo, Uruguay. He, too, received some 
funds from Trujillo. H e  remained in Santo Domingo for 
some months, establishing a strong branch of the Falange. 

In December 1937, after Larcegui had returned to  New 
York, the Franco Junta in Burgos sent a Captain Torres to  
ask Trujillo to break off diplomatic relations with the Span- 
ish Republic. The Captain's mission was unsuccessful, for 
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Trujillo was then in the process of selling a large order of 
cattle to  the embattled but solvent Republic. 

The Falange, however, made great headway among the 
Dominican Republic's upper crust. Listin Diario, one of 
the nation's leading newspapers, jumped on the Franco 
victory chariot. The paper ran a series of pro-Franco 
stories by Emilio S. Morel, President of the Superior Junta 
of the dominant Dominican Party. When Franco took 
power, Morel was named Dominican Minister to Madrid- 
where he placed a wreath on the tomb of Jose Antonio 
Primo de Rivera in Rafael Trujillo's name and then sank 
into obscurity. 

Since Pearl Harbor, the Falange in Santo Domingo has 
been running a vigorous anti-American campaign and at- 
tempting to take up the tasks of the Nazis imprisoned or 
expelled by the Realpolitik fortunes of the war. 

In June 1942 alert American Intelligence agents discov- 
ered that the Captain of a Spanish ship had deposited 
$3oo,ooo in a Dominican bank, and that the money was 
to  be used to meet the expenses of the Nazi agents in the 
Americas. News of the discovery of this cache leaked out 
to  the newspapers of several Central American countries. 
Trujillo quickly announced that he was confiscating the 
$300,000-but until the news broke in the press, he had 
been attempting to  convert the money into Cuban cur- 
rency. His agent in this transaction had been Sanchez Ar- 
cilia, the former staff writer of the Diario de la Marina who 
was serving as Cuba's Minister to Santo Domingo. Arcilla 
was very close to the Falange. 

The Spanish Legation in Trujillo City not only transmits 
orders from Madrid to the Falange of the Dominican Re- 
public, but also certain confidential letters from Germany 
to pro-Nazi Dominican government officials. It also acts 
as a forwarding station in the information service the Axis 
maintains in the Caribbean. 

When you learn that the Falange in Santo Domingo is 
today the front for one of the most powerful Fifth Columns 
the Nazis succeeded in establishing in the Americas before 
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Pearl Harbor, you understand why General von Faupel is 
held in such high esteem in Berlin. For the Caribbean is 
one of the graveyards of United Nations shipping in the 
Atlantic. Between Miami and Venezuela, the Axis-through 
the Falanges of Cuba, Santo Domingo, Puerto Rico, and 
the Vichysois of Martinique-maintains an almost un- 
broken chain of observation posts and secret radio stations 
in constant contact with Nazi submarine and surface raiders. 

The northern coast of Venezuela is infested with hun- 
dreds of Falangist agents-many of whom have casually 
and without ecclesiastical authority donned the robes of 
priests-whose radio instructions lead Nazi submarines 
across the paths of United Nations oil tankers. 

The dossier is endless. Wherever you turn in Latin Amer- 
ica, whether in small but strategic Panama or in large and 
powerful Argentina, the Falange Exterior hits you between 
the eyes. 

There is no mistaking the facts once they face you. Spain 
has taken over the diplomatic fronts behind which Axis 
Fifth Column work is carried out in Latin America. In 
every Latin-American country, the Falange Exterior has 
an active, well-trained, well-financed organization-either 
under its own name or under such false fronts as the A c c i h  
Nacionalista Popular of Colombia; the Fatherland, Order, 
and Liberty Society of Uruguay; or, as in Mexico, under 
both its own and the false banners of Sinarquismo. 

Upwards of a million Falangistas and their dupes-acting 
on orders dictated by Nazi General Wilhelm von Faupel 
in Madrid-are actively engaged in warfare against the 
United Nations, for the Axis. 

This warfare is waged on many fronts: political, eco- 
nomic, military. The  fronts are endless. A recent confiden- 
tial survey of Axis operations in the Americas revealed that 
the Spanish Secret Service, the SIM, has 14,763 operatives 
functioning between the Rio Grande and the wind-sheared 
pastures of Patagonia. 

Wilhelm von Faupel makes few speeches, but when he 
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does mount the rostrum he never minces his words. In June 
1939, during the Pan-American Conference in Lima, von 
Faupel delivered a lecture before the German Academy in 
Berlin. Pointing to Lima on the large map beside the lec- 
tern, von Faupel quietly declared: 

A victory for Fascist Spain will cement our relations with 
Latin America and will be a rude shock to the Good Neighbor 
Policy of President Roosevelt. 

Today, to make this shock even ruder, von Faupel main- 
tains a special school in Barcelona for Latin-American Fa- 
langistas. The school is in the Barcelona Building of the 
Ibero-American Institute, and from it pour Latin-American 
Falangistas who know just how best to serve the Axis in 
their native lands. 

The increasing tightness of the war situation is grist to 
the Falange mill. As the war continues, we can expect an 
increase of Falangist activities which will exploit the hard- 
ships and the sacrifices the war is forcing on all civilians 
in Latin America. 

Granting that it is perhaps far-fetched to speak in terms 
of a German or an Italian or a Japanese invasion of Latin 
America, the fact remains that the Falange is with us in 
force in the Americas now. Hitler is not fooling-and the 
Falanges in Latin America are Hitler's. 

One immediate step can cripple the Falanges of the entire 
Western Hemisphere, can make their objectives a thousand 
times more difficult to achieve than they are now. The 
Falangist diplomatic front must be eliminated: every lega- 
tion of Axis Spain must be shut down and its officials sent 
back to Madrid. This will not end the Falange menace by 
any means, but it will certainly pull some of its sharpest 
teeth. 

The initiative for this hemisphere-wide diplomatic move 
rests in only one place-Washington. As the United States 
moves, so move the nations of Latin America. They fol- 
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lowed us into the war, and the average Latin-American is 
more than anxious to see the Franco legations driven from 
his country forever. Yet, until we make the initial move, 
the Latin-American nations are powerless to act. 



C H A P T E R  T E N :  

The Falange in the United States 

THE FRANK and revealing book La Falange Exterior which 
the Nazis tried so hard to  destroy completely after it was 
published in Santander, Spain, contained a most interesting 
paragraph on page 20. In translation, this paragraph reads: 

In some countries there are but few Spanish colonies. But 
in those where it is convenient to assist the cause of Spain, in 
a sense of effective propaganda, groups of foreign sympathizers 
have been constituted, maintaining also a close and continuous 
relation with the [Spanish] compatriots residing there. Al- 
though their number might not be sufficient to create a formal 
organization of the Falange Espafiola Tradicionalista de la 
J.O.N.S., delegates and representatives have been named that 
carry out a useful work for our Movement. 

The  United States is one of these countries where "there 
are but few Spanish colonies." But early in the Spanish 
war the United States became the home of the other type 
of Falange Exterior organizations described in the above 
paragraph. Never very large numerically, the Falangist or- 
ganizations and their American off-shoots have nevertheless 
proved themselves to be one of the most effective of the 
Falange Exterior Fifth Columns in the world. When the 
history of the Second World War  is written, the role the 
Falange Exterior played in the successful American cam- 
paign to prevent the lifting of the Arms Embargo on Loy- 
alist Spain will fill some of the blackest pages in that tragic 
chronicle. 

In January, 1937, a group of Franco partisans held a 
formal meeting in the Alhambra Coffee House, at 2 Stone 
Street, New York. Most of the men present were Spaniards 
living in the United States but retaining their Spanish citi- 

210  

T h e  Falange in  the United States 2 1 1  

zenship. Some were powerful Puerto Ricans, others were 
Spanish-born American citizens. 

The most powerful men in Spanish-American shipping, 
Marcelino Garcia and Manuel Diaz-owners of the firm 
of Garcia & Diaz-dominated the first meeting of this 
group. Jose Maria Torres Perona, personal representative 
in New York of Havana's Pepin Rivera, and Francisco 
Larcegui, the Spaniard carrying credentials from Rivera's 
Diario de la Marina and other papers, were among the others 
in the group. They shared ideas and delicacies with Dr. 
Ramon Castroviejo, Julio Rojo, a Puerto Rican Spaniard, 
Benito Collado, Felix Lopez, Jose Reyes, and other prom- 
inent members of the Spanish big-business set in New York. 

Out of this meeting came the organization of the Casa 
de Espaiia (House of Spain), a club which set up head- 
quarters in the Park Central Hotel. The manager of the 
Spanish department of the Park Central, a charter member 
of the Casa de Espaiia, was Tomas Collado. His brother 
Benito, also a charter member, owned El  Chico, a Green- 
wich Village night club. 

The Casa de Espafia was the first American branch of 
the Falange Exterior. Like all foreign Falanges, it soon 
organized the local branch of the Auxilio Social of the 
Falange. In the United States the Auxilio Social took the 
form of two American committees-the Spanish Nationalist 
Relief Committee and the American Spanish Relief Fund, 
and one Spanish organization, the National Spanish Relief 
Association, Incorporated. The directors of the Spanish 
association included Emilio Gonzalez, Dr. Castroviejo, and 
Juan Gallego, a Spanish shipping man of New York. 

Among the "foreign sympathizers" whom the handbook 
of the Falange Exterior sought were the American mem- 
bers of the Spanish Nationalist Relief Committee. These 
included Americans like W. Cameron Forbes, former 
American Ambassador to Japan; James W. Gerard, former 
Ambassador to Germany; Dennis Cardinal Dougherty, 
Archbishop of Philadelphia; Mrs. Harry Payne Whitney; 



2 12 FALANGE 

Anne Morgan; Mary Pickford; and Dr. A. Hamilton Rice. 
The literature of this committee stated that it was the 
"American representative for raising funds in the United 
States for the Auxilio Social-Social Help Service-which 
represents in a marvelous manner the spirit and unity of 
New Spain." 

While the Auxilio Social organizations raised funds for 
the Axis in Spain, the Casa de Espafia concentrated on mak- 
ing propaganda for the Fascist armies in the Spanish War. 
The  Park Central Hotel became the scene of endless din- 
ners, forums, dance and music recitals, and lectures on the 
Franco movement. O n  the tables of the Casa de Espafia 
visitors and the seven hundred-odd members could always 
find Fascist propaganda pamphlets and magazines printed 
both here and abroad. A large painting of Francisco Franco 
hung on the wall of the club headquarters. 

The feminine section of the Falange, run by Pilar Primo 
de Rivera in Spain, had its American representation in the 
feminine section of the Casa de Espafia. Prominent in the 
leadership of this section was Mary Greevy Garcia, wife 
of Marcelino Garcia, and a native of the United States. 
The  leader of the American feminine section was Mrs. 
Etelvina Lubiano of Yonkers, N. Y. 

Francisco Larcegui, one of the founders of the Casa de 
Espaiia, was originally its closest link with the Falange in 
Spain. A veteran member of the Falange in Spain, Larcegui 
operated both in Central America and the United States. 
Always well supplied with funds-Larcegui loved to  flash 
an impressive roll of big bills at the slightest provocation- 
he proved to be the American correspondent for the Diario 
de la Marina of Havana and the fervently anti-American 
El Sigh of Bogota, Colombia. From time to  time Larcegui 
went to  Havana to have his visa renewed at the American 
Legation there. But these visits to Havana also saw Larcegui 
conferring with Falange Exterior leaders like Juan Adrien- 
sens, Alejandro Villanueva, and Miguel Espinos. 

Although Larcegui's job was primarily of a propaganda 
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nature, he was-at least in the early days of the Casa de 
Espaiia-a contact man for the espionage network then 
being created by the German masters of the Falange. 

Larcegui, however, was not as important to  the Spanish 
Fascists as were Garcia and Diaz. The role of these two 
Spanish shipping men in New York was brought to  the 
attention of the United States Senate as early as May 1937, 
when Senator Gerald P. Nye charged them with being 
Franco spies who "would look with favor upon the viola- 
tion of the Monroe Doctrine." 

The knowledge which caused this outburst by Senator 
Nye-whom even the most fervent American Fascists could 
not accuse of Communist bias-was contained in two letters 
taken from the files of Garcia & Diaz in New York. The 
letters were inserted into the Congressional Record. Both 
letters were written on the letterhead of Garcia & Diaz, 
17 Battery Place, New York City. 

The first, sent via air mail to  Sefior Don Federico Varela, 
Apartado 60, Vera Cruz, Mexico, was signed only by Man- 
uel Diaz, and dated February 20, 1937. I t  said: 

In accordance with your indication, and in order that you 
should know that we had received the code, I have just sent 
you the following cablegram: 

"Just received your letter February 17. Many thanks." And 
when in the future we have to communicate with you by cable 
we will make good use of the words that you were so good 
to prepare. 

I am very pleased to see that you so disinterestedly offer 
yourself to keep us posted about everything going on there; 
this, of course, encourages me to continue bothering you: but 
in the same manner I wish to offer myself to you for anything, 
in case I can be of any service, and without anything further 
for the moment, I am, yours truly, 

MANUEL DIAZ 

The full meaning of this letter was indicated in the second 
letter, dated March 5, 1937, and mailed to  Juan Claudio 
Guell, Conde de Ruisenada, Hotel Fernando Isabel, Valla- 
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dolid, Spain. The second letter said, in part (the italics are 
mine) : 

Here we live hour to hour pending news from Spain. The 
press, in its majority Jewish, is rather hostile to our cause and 
while it advances the lies of the Reds (they make enormous 
propaganda) it makes efforts to belittle the success of our 
glorious army. 

The help from Russia is well known, as well as the enormous 
help from Mexico. It is a pity that there is not a speedy armed 
ship in the strait of Yucatan. If there were, not one of the ships 
with armaments would get through. The place could not be 
any more advantageous because for the provisioning of its 
needs the ship could be helped in Puerto Barrios, Guatemala, 
a friendly country. 

Fond greeting from your good friends, 
MANUEL DIAZ 
MARCELINO GARCIA 

Senator Nye minced few words in his denunciation of 
the two leaders of the Casa de Espaiia. (Garcia, in fact, 
was president of the club.) 

I t  is plain to be seen from a study of the Garcia and Diaz 
correspondence that this firm is party to and aware of activ- 
ities which violate and threaten American neutrality. It is 
evident as well [Nye declared], that these persons would look 
with favor upon violation of the Monroe Doctrine and en- 
courage the presence of foreign warships in American waters 
to destroy shipping related to the present Spanish Govern- 
ment, which is recognized by our government.. 

Nye reminded the Senate of the fate of the Mar Canta- 
brico, a Spanish ship which sailed from New York in Jan- 
uary 1937 with a cargo of food, medicines, and munitions 
(the last arms sold to the Republic before the Embargo 
was declared). The ship was torpedoed by a German sub- 
marine off the coast of Spain toward the end of the voyage. 

During the entire time the ship was in American waters 
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[Nye told the Senate], it appears to have been spied upon by 
agents who were reporting to Garcia and Diaz in New York, 
who, in turn, were reporting to the higher-up agents of the 
General Franco forces. 

The Senator had more than a complaint to  lodge, how- 
ever; he also had a suggestion. In the course of his investi- 
gation he discovered that, although both Garcia and Diaz 
had been in the United States for over thirty years, neither 
of them had become an American citizen. "They and their 
kind should be no part of us," Nye told his Senate col- 
leagues. "It seems to me that Garcia and Diaz are engaged 
in activities that subject them most absolutely to depor- 
tation." 

The Government took no action on this suggestion. But 
Garcia and Diaz did. O n  February 28, 1938, Manuel Diaz 
became an American citizen in the Federal Court of the 
Southern District of New York. On  March 10, 1938, Mar- 
celino Garcia was made an American citizen by the Eastern 
District Court of New York. Today, the Garcia and Diaz 
firm is the American agent for the notorious Compaiiia 
Transatlantica Espaiiola, Hitler's bridge of spies between 
occupied Europe and the Western Hemisphere. 

About six months after the Casa de Espafia was founded, 
the Nazis in Burgos sent Jose Gonzalez Marin to  organize 
the Falange "shirt" cells in New York and Puerto Rico. 
The effeminate poetry reader, an "Old Shirt" of the Falange 
in Spain, gave several recitals at the Casa de Espaiia and 
then got down to  the real business of his American tour. 

Because of the widespread anti-Fascist sentiments of the 
American people, General von Faupel felt that it would 
be wiser to  choose another name for the Falange in the 
United States. The name chosen was the Club Isabel y Fer- 
nando. Marin appointed Jose de Perignat, a Spaniard who 
lived at 500 West 144th St., Manhattan, chief of the New 
York Falange. Second and third in command were Antonio 
Gallego and Abelardo Campa. Most of the 700 members 
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of the Casa de Espafia signed up with the formal Falange 
organization, but an hysterical speech Marin delivered at a 
secret meeting of the Club Isabel y Fernando sent the ma- 
jority of them scurrying for the nearest exits. Marin, in his 
speech, declared that all who joined the Falange would have 
to return to Spain to bear arms on the front lines-and the 
prosperous Spanish importers and shipping men who 
formed a majority in the Casa de Espafia got cold feet. 

Only a hundred-odd fanatics remained in the Club Isabel 
y Fernando after Marin left for Puerto Rico. Burgos then 
ordered Alejandro Villanueva, the ranking Falange official 
in the Americas, to visit New York to correct this state of 
affairs. 

Villanueva reached New York early in 1938. H e  
promptly purchased a Packard roadster with Falange funds 
and began touring the brothels of New York. After a month 
of high living, Villanueva visited the Casa de Espafia, where 
he addressed a secret session of the Club Isabel y Fernando 
for something like ten minutes. He  had seen enough of New 
York to learn that if he ever ordered his Falangists to don 
blue shirts and appear in-public like the uniformed Falan- 
gistas of Latin America, mayhem would be the mildest of 
the results. "Camaradas," he said, "I must depart for Havana 
at once. But carry on for our glorious cause despite what 
the Jewish-controlled press of America says about us." And 
with these parting words, Villanueva skipped to Havana. 

There just was no place in the United States for the type 
of Falange organization Gonzalez Marin had tried to or- 
ganize, and the practical Villanueva was the first to see this. 
In his report to the Falange in Burgos, however, Villanueva 
did not underestimate the effective job the Casa de Espaiia 
and its subsidiaries were doing for the Axis cause in Spain. 
Charles Coughlin's Social Justice had become in many re- 
spects a house organ for the Falange, and both the members 
and the publications of many native American Fascist 
groups were spreading the Franco propaganda widely. 

The Casa de Espafia worked very closely with Juan F. 
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Cardenas, who had held diplomatic posts under both the 
Spanish monarchy and the Spanish Republic. At the start 
of the Spanish War, Cardenas set up headquarters in New 
York's Ritz Carlton Hotel as the official representative of 
Francisco Franco. He  was made an honorary member of 
the Casa de Espafia, and, via orders received through the 
Italian Consulate in New York, he was able to guide the 
organization's destinies effectively. 

The Casa ran special affairs two and three times each 
week. At one of these, held in 1938 at the School of the 
Franciscan Fathers, 300 West 16th Street, New York, they 
offered as a speaker Magistrate Sylvester Sabbatino, an old- 
line Tammany politico. Sabbatino delivered a long speech 
attacking the American authorities for their "persecution" 
of the Spanish Fascists. The affair is recalled here because 
it was so typical of the Casa activities during those days. 
At such affairs, and at "patriotic celebrations" sponsored 
by Fascist groups like the Christian Front and featuring 
Casa speakers like Marcelino Garcia, the Casa de Espafia 
brought its propaganda to large bodies of Americans. 

Casa leaders like Garcia also enjoyed close relations with 
Americans of the stripe of Merwin K. Hart, intimate of 
native American Fascist leaders and himself a spokesman 
for all the hate-England, hate-Roosevelt, and other reaction- 
ary causes. Hart made a trip to Franco Spain in 1938 and 
wrote a book about his experiences which left no doubt 
about where he stood in the war between the Spanish Re- 
public and the armies of Germany and Italy. Hart's useful- 
ness to the Falange in America was limited, however, to 
that lunatic fringe of the American Fascist movements. Few 
Americans outside of this lunatic fringe ever took Hart's 
words very seriously. 

In direct contrast to Merwin K. Hart was the middle- 
aged and somewhat dipsomaniac Marquesa de Cienfuegos. 
The Falange organizations in America imported the Mar- 
quesa in 1938-and turned her loose on reporters, radio 
audiences, and paying guests at various Fascist rallies. They 
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sent her forth to modest duplex apartments on Park Avenue 
and to the most exclusive homes in the exclusive suburbs of 
many great American cities. 

The Marquesa de Cienfuegos was everything that the 
local Falange could want in their dreams. She bore a noble 
name; fine for the Park Avenue trade. She was a native of 
Atlanta, Georgia, having been born plain Jane Anderson. 
This gave her story a neat American appeal. She had been 
jailed by the Spanish Republic in Madrid, and held there 
on charges of being a Franco agent. She won her freedom 
through the intervention of the American Embassy-and 
then went on tour to prove that the Spanish Government 
had not jailed her in error. 

The Marquesa had rare oratorical talents. She clenched 
her fists, and closed her eyes, and sobbed with nearly every 
sentence. The effect, to  detached observers who knew some- 
thing of her past, was that of a small-time actress giving 
an imitation of Hitler and Eleanora Duse rolled into one. 
But to those who took her at her face value, the Marquesa 
de Cienfuegos was a sensation. Monsignor Fulton Sheehan 
of the Catholic University declared that the Marquesa was 
"one of the living martyrs7' of history. The Catholic Digest 
described the Marquessa as "the world's greatest woman 
orator in the fight against communism." 

The Marquesa regaled her listeners with blood curdling 
accounts of the doings of the Spanish Republicans-like 
her Falangist colleagues, she called them the Reds-and 
then went on to speak of the glories of Franco Spain. Mil- 
lions of Americans read her words in their newspapers- 
the Marquesa got a good press-and the fact that she was 
just a simple Georgia girl added credibility to  her claims. 
Thousands were swayed by her act on the public platforms, 
and hundreds of influential Americans who sat through in- 
formal dinner parties with her were completely sold on 
the Franco cause by the American-born noblewoman who 
had suffered so cruelly at the hands of the "Reds." 

After the Spanish War, the Marquesa de Cienfuegos dis- 
appeared from the American scene. But her words were 
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not to  be lost to American ears. Shortly after the second 
phase of World War  I1 started in Warsaw, the Marquesa 
turned up in the real capital of Spain-Berlin. Here, as plain 
Jane Anderson, the Georgia cracker gal, the tear-jerking 
Marquesa continued her career along logical lines. Seated 
before a microphone in the Nazi short-wave sending station, 
Jane Anderson started to  make regular broadcasts to  her 
native land in Georgia English. 

These broadcasts continued after Pearl Harbor, but now 
they were made more often. During the first week of Jan- 
uary 1942, Jane Anderson made four separate broadcasts 
to  her native land. The broadcasts had a familiar ring to  
them. T o  her many friends in America, plain Jane Ander- 
son shrieked that the entry of the United States into the 
war was part of a Jewish plot to  save the necks of Joseph 
Stalin and the International Bankers. Her other broadcasts 
were all in this vein. 

Jane Anderson's success as a Nazi short-wave radio 
speaker won her a new noble t i t le-one she acquired with- 
out marrying another nobleman. The newspapers unani- 
mously chose to  call Jane Anderson Lady Haw-Haw. The 
Government of the United States, in January 1943, chose 
to  indict Plain Jane de Cienfuegos Haw-Haw Anderson 
along with other "radio traitors" like Ezra Pound, Robert 
Best, and Fred Kaltenbach. If this "living martyr" ever does 
return to  her own, her native land, it will be as a federal 
prisoner. 

But in 1938, when Jane Anderson toured the United 
States for the Falange, she was able to play a highly im- 
portant part in the Axis campaign to  keep the State De- 
partment from lifting the embargo on arms to the Spanish 
Republic-a step that many Americans in all walks of life 
were demanding of their government. Perhaps, next to  the 
versatile Garcia and Diaz, the future Lady Haw-Haw was 
the one person who accomplished the most for the Falange 
Exterior in the United States during the organization's first 
period. For in the United States, as in Latin America, Gen- 
eral von Faupel had planned for the Falange to  go through 
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three distinct periods: the organization and propaganda pe- 
riod ending with the triumph at Madrid, the period of 
tightening and preparation between the victory at Madrid 
and the bombing of Warsaw, and finally the period of 
maximum effort. 

The second period of the Falange in the United States 
got off with a grand flourish. The battered body of the 
Spanish Republic was still warm when the United States 
recognized the Franco gang as the legal government of 
Spain. Even as the victorious Fascists started organizing 
firing-squad parties in Spain, the gates of the United States 
were swung wide open by a considerate State Department 
for a veritable army of Falange agents bearing diplomatic 
passports. 

Juan F. Cardenas was accepted as Spanish Ambassador 
t o  the United States. The  Falangistas in Madrid assigned 
Miguel Echegaray to the Embassy in Washington to super- 
vise the real work of the Spanish diplomatic corps in the 
United States. Echegaray was given the nominal title of 
Agricultural Attache. Then to  check on both Echegaray 
and Cardenas, General von Faupel sent Colonel Sierra to  
Washington as Military Attache. Sierra's real job was Chief 
of Spanish Military Intelligence for the United States. 

Timid Daniel Danis, the new Minister Plenipotentiary in 
Washington, was detailed to handle one of the most con- 
fidential jobs in the Legation. Danis was the contact man 
between Cardenas and Augustin Ibaiiez Serrano, the Falange 
Exterior Chief in Mexico. H e  worked out a system early 
in his career of maintaining this liaison through the Portu- 
guese Legation in Washington. It was-Danis who arranged 
for Ibaiiez Serrano to get an office in the Portuguese Em- 
bassy in Mexico City. Because of his extreme caution, Danis 
decided to use third persons for most necessary trips be- 
tween Ibafiez Serrano and Washington. Most of these 
couriers were girls, one of them being the daughter of a 
Mexican general. 

The Spanish Consulate in New York became an impor- 
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tant Falange outpost in the Americas. Miguel Espinos, the 
current Consul General, is a completely pro-Axis Fascist 
who has previously worked for the Falange in Manila and 
in Havana. One of the friends he sees very often today is 
Andres Soriano, the powerful associate of the Philippine 
Falange who serves as Secretary of Treasury in the Philip- 
pine government-in-exile. Another intimate of Espinos's is 
Jose Maria Casabo, personal representative of Francisco 
Cambo. Sefior Cambo heads Chade, the international public 
utilities corporation whose ties with corporations in Rome, 
Berlin, Lisbon, and Buenos Aires bulked so importantly 
during the Spanish War. 

Under Espinos, the Consulate in New York started to  
work overtime for the Axis. Juan Adriensens, one of the 
earliest organizers of the Falange in Cuba, was brought to  
New York and installed as Vice-consul. H e  and Antonio 
Mendez de Quiros, the new Counselor of the Consulate, 
were put in charge of direct contact with the Falange in 
the United States. 

Adriensens tried to continue the organization of the 
"shin" Falange where Gonzalez Marin had left off. H e  
began holding regular clandestine meetings with Falange 
Chief Jose de Perignat. 

The most efficient Falangista in the New York Consulate 
is Joaquin Sunye. A protege of the Count de Guell, Sunye 
takes his orders directly from Echegaray in Washington. 
Sunyk helped organize much economic support for the 
Franco regime, assuming the post of secretary of the Span- 
ish Chamber of Commerce to aid his efforts along these 
lines. His brothers are powerful officials of the Compafiia 
Transatlantica in Spain. 

On  the Pacific Coast, the Consulate was staffed with men 
highly acceptable to General von Faupel. The Consul Gen- 
er5l in San Francisco is Francisco de Amat, a cousin of the 
Philippine Resident Commissioner in Washington, Octavio 
Elizalde. His Vice-consul, Captain Jose Martin, played a 
major share in the organization of the Falange fronts on 
the Pacific Coast. The confidential liaison work between 
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de Arnat and the Embassy in Washington is handled by 
Maria Arrillaga, who carries messages that can not be en- 
trusted to  the mails. 

Before the Republic fell to the Axis troops, the Falange 
maintained a formal propaganda service in the United 
States. The Cardenas "Junta" published an elaborate mag- 
azine in English, Spain, and operated a bureau known as 
the Peninsular News Service. 

Sunye converted the magazine into the official publica- 
tion of the Spanish Government, and made Larcegui head 
of Peninsular News Service. But this was not in line with 
von Faupel's more ambitious plans. Larcegui's amorous life 
made him a bit unreliable for the major job of running all 
Falangist propaganda in the United States. Before many 
months had passed, Madrid sent Gaytan de Ayala, a rotund 
and heavy-drinking "Old Shirt," to  Sunye. 

The newly arrived de Ayala was given diplomatic stand- 
ing as an attache of the Embassy. Under Sunye's immediate 
supervision, de Ayala opened a separate office in New York 
called the Spanish Library of Information. This new bureau 
took over the duties of the Peninsular News Service, the 
publication of Spain, and the other propaganda tasks of the 
Falange Exterior in the United States. 

The Falange had an existing mailing list for its propa- 
panda when Ayala reached the United States. It had been 
compiled by the Casa de Espafia and its various offshoots. 
Agents of General von Faupel immediately arranged for 
this list to be amplified by a still larger list-that of the Ger- 
man Library of Information in New York. Subscribers- 
paid and free-to the publications George Sylvester Viereck 
was putting out for the German propaganda office began 
to  receive Spain and other publications of the Spanish prop- 
aganda bureau. Further to cement the friendship between 
Madrid and Berlin, people on the old Falange propaganda 
lists began to  receive publications of the German Library 
of Information. 

Larcepi,  who was retained as assistant to de Ayala, 
started a new service devoted to Central American affairs. 
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H e  established independent headquarters in the Hotel Lin- 
coln in New York and operated the Inter-American News 
Service-a convenient blind for his real activities. 

Under Ayala's supervision, the Falange published or sub- 
sidized the following organs: 

Spain. This was a most expensively printed monthly mag- 
azine, crammed with pictures, and devoted mainly to prop- 
aganda about the marvels Franco was accomplishing in 
Falangist Spain. It was written in English. 

Cara a1 Sol (Face to the Sun). The name is taken from 
the anthem of the Falange. A Spanish-language weekly, it 
was listed in the official handbooks of the Falange in Ma- 
drid as the official organ of the Falange in the United States. 

Espaiia Nueva (New Spain). A Spanish language 
monthly, edited by A. F. Arguelles. Mailing address P. 0. 
Box 84, Station W., New York City. Violently pro-Axis, 
anti-Semitic, anti-British. Although on the surface a private 
venture, it was supported by advertisements from the Span- 
ish Consulate, Spanish banks, and other enterprises of the 
Spanish Government. 

Epoca. Another Spanish magazine, published at I 77 5 
Broadway, New York City, by Rafael 0. Galvan. Epoca 
received similar subsidies through de Ayala. 

In addition to these periodicals, the Spanish Library of 
Information published hundreds of pamphlets and brochures 
which received wide distribution both through the mailing 
lists at De Ayala's disposal and through the schools and 
colleges of the land. 

Under the Cardenas unofficial Junta, Spain had employed 
a bombastic adventurer named John Eoghan Kelly as a 
writer on military and historical subjects. Kelly, who held 
a captain's commission in the United States Army Reserves, 
cut quite a swath in the lunatic fringe of the native Ameri- 
can fascist movements. 

Son of a German mother and an Irish nationalist father, 
Kelly was trained as an engineer. During the last World 
War, he was in Mexico, he claims, as a "civilian attached 
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to Military Intelligence," but his former wife has a less 
charitable version of why Kelly spent the war in Mexico 
as a civilian. 

Early in the Spanish War, Kelly popped up in New 
York as one of the glamour boys of the Franco camp. With 
Merwin K. Hart and Allen 2011, he served on the board 
of the American Union for Nationalist Spain. Kelly, in 
fact, was the secretary of this Franco group. 

Before this, he had maintained an engineering office at 
17 Battery Place, New York. Here he had met a German 
named Buelow, who introduced him to  the Steuben So- 
ciety. Kelly started to  move in circles which included na- 
tive American Fascists like George Deatherage, Van Horn 
Mosely, and James Campbell. H e  became a Lieutenant in 
the United States Army Reserves, and subsequently won 
two promotions in rank. When the charter papers of the 
Christian Front were filed with the New York State Su- 
preme Court, the name of John Eoghan Kelly was regis- 
tered as one of the organizers. 

During the three years of the Spanish War, Kelly made 
a number of trips to Spain and Germany. On  May 2 2 ,  1939, 
Kelly was introduced at a Brooklyn Christian Front meet- 
ing as a "representative of the Spanish Government." 

When Merwin K. Hart wanted to go to the Franco zone 
during the Spanish War, he found himself halted by the 
fact that his passport had been stamped "not valid in Spain." 
Hart managed to get to Spain and even wrote a book about 
his trip. Not included in the book was a certain letter 
written on his behalf to the Passport Division of the State 
Department. The  letter explained that Hart wanted to  go 
to  Franco territory and concluded: 

I would greatly appreciate any help that you can give 
Mr. Hart and have asked him to convey my personal regards. 

This letter was signed by John Eoghan Kelly. 
In 1938 Kelly started to  write for the Peninsular News 

Service, the propaganda agency of the Franco Junta in New 
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York. H e  spoke at scores of Fascist rallies, and became a 
leader in the Falangist campaign to keep the United States 
from lifting the arms embargo applied against the Spanish 
Republic. H e  wrote for Spain, and, after the triumph of 
the Nazis in Spain, received a fee from the Spanish Library 
of Information of twenty-five dollars for every Franco 
meeting he attended. Although the Spanish Library and its 
chief, Gaytan de Ayala, were registered with the State De- 
partment as paid agents of foreign powers, Kelly never 
registered. 

Kelly's activities led to his being dropped from the Army 
Reserves in 1941, after he had attained the rank of major. 
On March I ,  1943, John Eoghan Kelly was arrested by the 
F. B. I. in California following a federal grand jury indicc- 
ment in Washington. The jury charged that Kelly had 
failed to  register as an agent of the Fascist Spanish Gov- 
ernment. In announcing Kelly's arrest, Special Agent Nat 
J. L. Perrin said that Kelly had made "defeatist" statements 
in California-where he had operated a mine-and had tried 
to talk two young Americans out of joining the Army. 

The Fascist character of Spain and other Falangist pub- 
lications in the United States was never disguised. Openly, 
firmly, at times arrogantly, the Falangist organs in the 
United States attacked democracy, American institutions, 
and our defense outposts. 

On  the subject of fascism, Spain has printed some very 
explicit statements. 

Fascism is at least theistic and it respects and promotes the 
values of religious institutions. . . . The Fascist dictatorship, 
which respects individual liberty and dignity, private property 
and savings, the family and the nation, morals and religion, 
inserts itself in an ordered civilization. 

In still another issue, Spain carried these words: 

Authentic fascism establishes order, invokes unity of destiny 
and gathers together all the vital forces of a people. 
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Only a few months before Pearl Harbor, Spain, like all 
Falangist publications in Spain and Latin America, sneered 
at  American influences in the Philippines. The  issue of Sep- 
tember 1941 carried a story on the Philippines which said, 
among other things: 

It is a seat of Hispanicism and as such should receive the 
attention of our greatest intellectuals. Today the entire Uni- 
versity [Santo Tomis] has come under the spiritual and sym- 
bolic rectorate of the Caudillo of Spain. By having rescued 
culture from barbarism, he made a peace with his sword for 
the continued flowering of the sciences, letters, and the arts. 

A t  the time this was written, Caudillo Franco's chief 
representative in the Philippines was Jose del Castano- 
who was then very busily engaged in preparing the way 
for the Japanese allies of the Caudillo. 

T h e  weekly publication of the Spanish Library of In- 
formation, Cara a1 Sol, was openly acknowledged to be the 
official organ of the Falange in the United States. Each 
issue bore the yoke and arrows emblem of the Falange, and 
the official orders of the Falange Exterior were always car- 
ried in this magazine. 

A n  editorial in Cara a1 Sol which typifies all of the edi- 
torials the magazine carried was the lead editorial of the 
February 25, 1939, issue. This began with these words: 

Our movement is not democratic; it is rather the greatest 
opposition that can be raised up against democracy. The de- 
mocracies need, in order to "fulfill" the will of the people, to  
bother them with continuous calls to drop papers in voting 
urns. . . . 

Shortly after this editorial ran, Cara a1 Sol ran an article 
by  Rafael Sanchez Mazas, then chief of the Falange Ex- 
terior. This article ran not only in Cara a1 Sol, but in every 
other official organ of the Falange Exterior from Avarice 
in Puerto Rico to Arriba in Argentina. (The italics are 
mine.) 

The Falange in the United States 227 

The Falange from its center, from its heart, is born and 
grows like the spiral of the Empire. At least a third of the 
great work, the total work, of the Falange lies with you of the 
foreign service. 

This appeared shortly after Card a1 Sol editorialized: 

It is indispensable that the good Spaniards who live outside 
of Spain, without class distinctions, impose on themselves the 
obligation of aiding in the aggrandizement of Spain. 

T h e  significance of the "third of the total work" Mazas 
mentioned and the "aggrandizement of Spain" was further 
amplified by Cara a1 Sol in a subsequent issue. 

Our missionary labor has begun. Spanish America again turns 
its eyes to us and again on the other side of the Atlantic there 
are bent knees for the triumph of Franco. The race has heard 
once more the voice of God, and Hispanidad, aware of its 
historic mission, is again on the march behind the proud ban- 
ners of national-syndicalism. . . . It is now the work of the 
Falange to unify the desires of those millions of Spaniards who, 
far from the Motherland, feel . . . in their souls the pride of 
our old glory; and to . . . shout to the world that our juris- 
prudence, our industry, and our spiritual influence have the 
right of hegemony over a third of the earth. . . . Hundreds 
of thousands of Blue Shirts scattered over the continents de- 
mand this with their arms raised in salute, their faces to the 
sun, and in each corner a flag with the Yoke and Arrows . . . 
speaks of the imperial mission of Spain. This is the essential 
function of the Foreign Service of Falange, and this is our 
arduous missionary task. 

Such editorials never affected the security of the United 
States proper. But Cora a1 Sol reached many Spaniards in 
America who took it  to heart. What such sentiments, once 
accepted by  their readers, meant to  our security when the 
"imperial mission of Spain" clashed with the armed forces 
of the United States in Manila after Pearl Harbor is some- 
thing else again. 
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The sentiments expressed in Spain and in Cam al Sol were, 
however, very mild beside the fiery words flung by Espaiia 
Nueva, the privately owned monthly supported by paid 
advertising from the Spanish Consulate, the Spanish Library 
of Information, Spanish banks, the National Spanish Relief 
Association, and similar clients. 

From Espana Nueva its readers learned that Pan-Ameri- 
canism is "of Jewish and Protestant origin." Speaking of 
the war, Espafia Nueva declared: 

If among the results of the present war we can count the 
appearance of a world free from the Jewish press in place of 
the perpetuation of the Jewish free press, European blood will 
not have been shed in vain. 

The  Jewish problem, in fact, has long been one of Espana 
Nueva's greatest worries. Like the Nazis, the men behind 
this New York magazine feel it incumbent upon themselves 
to  protect all Americans from the Jews. EspaGa Nueva 
makes its reasons for fearing the press quite clear. In no 
uncertain terms, it wrote-and these writings were carried 
through the United States mails and distributed free of 
charge by the Spanish Library of Information to  thousands 
of American high school students-editorials like the fol- 
lowing: 

The Jewish press, whose mission is none other than Marxist 
and Bolshevik propaganda, personifies the international 
clique which applauds or hisses at Moscow's command. The 
champions of Stalin, those who conferred Zionist honors on 
Roosevelt, those who take tea with Mrs. Roosevelt, those who 
applauded the robbers of the Spanish treasury and the assassins 
of the Spanish people must logically attack and defame Franco 
and the ideals he personifies. 

This particular outburst was brought on by an article 
in that organ of international Marxism and Bolshevism 
known as "the New York Times." 

Espaiia Nueva, however, also carried messages of cheer 
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for its readers. If it exposed the nefarious plots of the Jews, 
it also pointed the solution to  these plots. In the March 
1940 issue, A. Sanchez Saavedra wrote: 

The Jewish chain, in order to shackle with efficiency and 
to continue deceiving the universe, needs to maintain intact 
all its links. Fortunately, the appearance of Hitler on the po- 
litical and diplomatic scene has pulverized the Jewish-German 
link and whatever may be the outcome of the present war, 
the world is witnessing the last act of the great Jewish farce. 

This and other issues of Espaiia Nueva were among the 
thousands of pieces of Falangist propaganda the Spanish 
Library of Information sent, without charge, to hundreds 
of Spanish teachers in American high schools. On  such 
tidbits of the language, thousands of American high-school 
students learned Spanish. 

Although all of these publications reached Falangist sym- 
pathizers on the Pacific coast, they were supplemented by 
a Los Angeles publication-Boletin de la Casa df Espa5a. 
It was published by an organization larger than the New 
York Casa de Espafia. 

California's Casa de Espafia was founded in 1 9 3 7  by 
Gregorio del Amo, a wealthy Spaniard who had long been 
an intimate of Francisco de Amat, Franco's Consul General 
in San Francisco. The Casa worked very closely with local 
native fascist organizations, and its thousand-odd members 
were guided by instructions emanating from the Casa de 
Espafia of New York, the Spanish Library of Information, 
and the Spanish Legation. Their Bulletin, whose editors 
were never named, was one of the most violently anti- 
British and anti-Democratic organs in the United States. 

The other groups of Falangistas in the United States had 
no publications of their own. These included the Club Isabel 
y Fernando, of Boston; the Renovacih Espafiola, organ- 
ized and led by Marcos Garcia in San Francisco; and small 
centers in Tampa, Houston, Philadelphia, Baltimore, and 
other ports touched by Spanish ships. Falangistas in these 
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cities were kept informed largely through the publications 
of the Spanish Library of Information. 

The propaganda of the Falange in America has been 
aided no little by David Rubio, Curator of the Hispanic 
Foundation of the Library of Congress. Rubio wrote often 
for Spain, and his official position lent great weight to  his 
articles. H e  is no stranger at the Spanish Embassy. In fact, 
he was one of the speakers at the ceremonies held in Wash- 
ington when Juan Cardenas formally took over the Lega- 
tion's building. Wrote Cara a1 Sol at the time: 

Then Father Rubio spoke, praising the Motherland and its 
civilizing work, with which the spiritual Empire of our race 
was founded-the Empire that caused the material and spiritual 
reconquest of Spain itself, center of Hispanidad, by the glo- 
rious troops of the Generalissimo and Caudillo of Spain. 

If Cara a1 Sol's rhapsodic phrases are an accurate reflec- 
tion of Rubio's remarks on that day, his appointment to  
the Library of Congress post raises some interesting ques- 
tions. The Hispanic Foundation was organized to spear- 
head the American effort to establish closer cultural rela- 
tions with Latin America. It must, of necessity, combat the 
efforts of the Falangist propagandists who have been paint- 
ing the United States as the enemy of culture in the Spanish- 
speaking countries of the Western Hemisphere. It must, 
by virtue of its sponsorship, uphold the banners of democ- 
racy in the war against fascism. The standard bearers of 
fascism in Latin America are led by the Falange Espafiola. 
And Rubio was an open and acknowledged Falange parti- 
san. Qub passe? 

While Falange propaganda poured from all of its many 
outlets in the United States, other Franco activities attracted 
little attention. Lopez Ferrer and Captain Julio de la Torre, 
who made tours for the Falange in the early days of the 
Spanish War, visited the Casa de Espafia in New York in 
1937. They had tittle difficulty in getting visas. 
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Later, Carlos Montoya, a guitarist who had served as 
secretary of the Falange in Paris, transferred his activities 
to the Casa de Espafia in New York. The  dancer Manuel 
del &now in Berlin with his entire troupe-joined 
Montoya in the New York club. 

Many Casa members often enjoyed outings at the Alpine, 
New Jersey, estate of Manuel Rionda. 

But the activities of Dr. Ramon Castroviejo, Vice-Presi- 
dent of the Casa de Espafia, were the most interesting of all. 
An excellent ophthalmologist, Castroviejo was one of the 
charter members of the Casa. H e  made many trips to  Latin 
America, combining medical with political business quite 
neatly. T h e  Falange of Puerto Rico turned out en masse to  
honor him at a dinner in San Juan in 1938. In each Latin- 
American country Castroviejo visited, he was always feted 
by the local Falange. 

In 1941 Castroviejo started a new magazine, America 
Clinica. Written in Spanish, distributed mainly in Latin 
America, the magazine had the backing of Laboratories An- 
dromaco of Barcelona-a German-owned chemical firm. 

The editor of America Clinics was an up and coming 
young man named Enrique Cervantes. During the Spanish 
War, the Republicans caught and jailed Cervantes for espio- 
nage. Upon his release from prison, Cervantes made his way 
to the United States. Despite his record, he had no difficulty 
in gaining admission to  the country. T h e  Falange in New 
York welcomed him to  its bosom as a hero of the w a r  

New York's Park Central Hotel, headquarters for the 
Casa de Espaiia, became the stopping place for all Falange 
agents in transit from Spain to Latin America. T o  the Park 
Central, in November 1941, came the Number One man 
of Falange espionage in the Atlantic-the notorious Miguel 
Barcelo Martinez. Traveling as usual as the chief radio op- 
erator of a Spanish C. T. E. liner, the much-hunted "Cama- 
rada Martinez" reached New York on the Marquis de 
Comillas. 

In Martinez's party was a delegation of important Spanish 
Falange officials en route to  Peru for the Falange-inspired 
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celebration of the 400th anniversary of the conquests of 
Pizarro. The delegation was led by the chief of the National 
Council of the Falange in Spain, Jose Maria Areliza, and 
also included three official representatives of the Spanish 
Army, the Spanish Navy and the Spanish Air Force-the 
Duke of San Lorenzo, Captain Francisco Regalado and 
Colonel Francisco Iglesias Brage. 

Although Martinez's presence was kept quiet, the pres- 
ence of the official delegation was made known to the 
press. Alarmed Spanish Republicans, patriotic Protestant 
laymen like H. Rutledge Southworth, and publications like 
the newspaper PM correctly saw the delegation as a danger 
signal to the progress of Pan-Americanism and the Good 
Neighbor Policy. 

PM, which revealed that the delegation consisted prin- 
cipally of members, of the Council of Hispanidad, quoted 
Arriba, official organ of the Falange in Madrid to the effect 
that: 

The Council represents the ambitious foreign policy of 
Spain in its most vital sense. 

And then PM went on to say: "Why the State Depart- 
ment should have given them permission to enter this coun- 
try, even in transit, is one of those diplomatic mysteries that 
ought not to remain unsolved until it is too late." 

Warnings like these fell on seemingly deaf ears. Even the 
publication (by PM) of the official orders naming Jose del 
Castano as Regional Chief of the Philippine Falange Exterior 
caused hardly a ripple in the Washington calm-although 
this warning was published less than a month before Pearl 
Harbor. 

The Japanese bombs which fell on Pearl Harbor on De- 
cember 7, 1941, had their immediate effect on the Falange 
and its branches in the United States. 

In Washington, a new sign went up on the white gates of 
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the Spanish Embassy. It read: "SPANISH EMBASSY: I N  
CHARGE OF JAPANESE INTERESTS." Few signs 
have ever revealed more truths in fewer words. 

Before Pearl Harbor, Miguel Echegaray, the "Agricul- 
tural Attache" of the Spanish Embassy, took a trip to the 
Pacific coast. He  left for the West immediately after 
Ambassador Cardenas returned from an emergency trip to  
Madrid. 

Echegaray's visit was described, officially, as a pleasure 
trip. Actually, his trip was made in connection with one 
of the most important aspects of the Axis espionage network 
in the United States. Prior to America's entry into the war, 
confidential Axis correspondence reached Europe via the 
Spanish diplomatic pouches. With the bombing of Pearl 
Harbor, the Nazi masters of Spain feared that the Spanish 
diplomatic pouches would lose some of their immunity- 
particularly when cleared through the British censorship sta- 
tion at Bermuda. The Nazis, therefore, arranged for new 
routes for confidential papers clearing through the Spanish 
Legation. Echegaray's job was to establish these new routes. 

Before Pearl Harbor, confidential communications from 
the military chief of the Spanish espionage network in 
Central America-Colonel Sanz Agero, Spanish Minister to 
Guatemala-cleared through Washington via the Spanish 
Consulate in San Francisco. After Echegaray's visit to San 
Francisco, Sanz Agero's reports were sent to General von 
Faupel via Sangroniz, the Spanish Minister to Venezuela. 

The most important communications of the Spanish net- 
work were placed on this same route. They now leave 
Washington via courier to San Francisco, and then find 
their way to Madrid and Berlin via Guatemala and Vene- 
zuela. When greater speed is needed, the Falange communi- 
cates with Nazi Europe via the diplomatic pouches of 
Finland and Portugal. The Spanish pouches which still go 
from Washington to Madrid via the old pre-Pearl Harbor 
routes contain little material of vital importance. 

While these arrangements were being made by the 
Falange legations, the Casas de Espaiia of Los Angeles and 
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New York were suddenly dissolved. Just as the Falange 
of Puerto Ricefrightened by the prospects of United 
States participation in the war against the Axis-quietly 
and officially folded its tents, the main Falange groups in 
the United States mistook Pearl Harbor for the handwriting 
on the wall. Franco's Spanish Blue Legions in Russia, the 
speeches of Franco and all of the Falange leaders in Madrid, 
and the open Fascist line the Falangist publications had 
followed in the United States up to Pearl Harbor led most 
Casa members to presume logically that within weeks of 
the Pearl Harbor attack Axis Spain would make its war on 
the United Nations an official one. 

The Club Isabel y Fernando-most fanatical of the 
Falange cells in New York-did not disband. This group 
continued to hold meetings on Thursday nights at the 
Reno Cafe, 154 West 145th Street, New York. Headed by 
Jose de Perignat, Jr., these shined Falangistas (their uni- 
form, incidentally, is confined to blue undershirts) have 
continued their activities to this day. 

As in Manila and Puerto Rico, the Falangistas and their 
closest collaborators rushed into every type of Civilian 
Defense and civilians' military service organization. 

Benito Collado, charter member of the Casa de Espafia 
and one of the leaders of the Franco movement in America, 
became a member of the New York City Recreation Com- 
mittee. He joined the Red Cross, along with Casa members 
like Lucrezia Bori and with Falangist Spaniards like Ramon 
Salo Munoz, personal representative of Count Vallellano, 
head of the Spanish Red Cross. Collado's night club, El 
Chico, began giving free tickets to service men through 
the U.S.0.-and service men are still relaxing and drinking 
in this hangout for local and visiting Falangists from Spain. 

The Condesa Santa Cruz de 10s Manueles, former wife 
of del Amo, and herself a member of the Casa de Espaiia, 
wormed her regal way into the Asociacih Cultural Inter- 
Americana, which has been raising money to buy am- 
bulances for American armed forces. Gaspar Mediavilla, an- 
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other Casa member, is active in the Cornit6 Hispano Pro 
Defensa Nacional. 

Not all Casa de Espafia members in defense work are 
volunteers, however. Many outspoken partisans of Axis 
Spain today hold important civilian war jobs. There is, for 
instance, Alberto Cugat, a native of Catalonia. A member 
of Casa de Espaiia, Cugat got himself a job as chief of the 
Spanish Branch, Political and International Division, Postal 
Censorship. Cugat, who is stationed in New York, super- 
vises the work of a whole section of censors. 

Other Casa de Espaiia members employed as censors in 
the New York Post Office include Bernabe Solis, a native 
of the Philippines; Ricardo Mendoza; and Roberto Forbes. 
Mendoza was the editor of Cora a1 Sol, official organ of the 
Falange Exterior in the United States. Forbes, a Spanish- 
born American citizen, also owns the Eagle Travel Agency, 
of New York. Through this Agency, he is always well 
informed about various ship movements. 

The official English organ of the Spanish Library of In- 
formation, Spain, ceased publication in February 1942. It 
was replaced by a mimeographed weekly news bulletin 
which lasted about three months. Then this bulletin ceased 
publication, and Gaytan de Ayala started to make prepara- 
tions to close his office and transfer its activities to Washing- 
ton. 

This retrenchment, however, was not one of cadres. In 
fact, shortly after Pearl Harbor, the Falange dispatched 
one of the most important of its propagandists from Madrid 
to New York. This man, Francisco de Lucientes, was the 
chief editorial writer of Arriba, the official organ of the 
Falange in Madrid. In Spain, the official papers often called 
Lucientes the "Virginia Gayda of Spain." 

Suddenly, in December I 94 I, Lucientes appeared in New 
York Harbor as a passenger on an incoming liner. Although 
his papers were in order-his credentials, incidentally, 
showed him to be the new American correspondent of 
EFE, Franco Spain's official news agency-he was taken 
to Ellis Island and held for deportation. 
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Lucientes's deportation had immediate diplomatic re- 

percussions. The  Spanish Government threatened to expel 
every American correspondent from Spain if Lucientes 
were not admitted to the United States. Juan Cardenas, the 
Spanish Ambassador, had to make a special plea to the 
State Department to get the Falangist editor admitted. 

Once allowed to enter the country, Lucientes began to  
divide his time between New York and Washington. H e  
made Francisco Larcegui his chief assistant, and they started 
to  send daily one thousand word cables to Madrid. W h y  so 
important a Falange writer holds so minor a post is a ques- 
tion that time alone will answer-perhaps the clue to his 
real role in the United States lies in the communications 
he exchanges regularly with Jose Ignacio Ramos, press 
attache of the Spanish Embassy in Buenos Aires. 

These moves were in line with the post-Pearl Harbor 
reorganization of the Falange on an active, belligerent war 
basis. A confidential report submitted by a responsible 
source to our government early in 1942 described the 
Falange organization in the United States in these words: 

The Falangists act by the cell system. They are also divided 
into First, Second, and Third Line. Each of these lines have 
their work marked out. Each of these lines are split into groups 
of five men, of whom one is the leader. The orders are received 
by the Regional Chief, who in turn transmits them to the 
local chiefs. . . . In the Spanish Consulates, there is a Falan- 
gist responsible for transmitting orders to the local and the 
Regional chiefs. In New York, this person is Juan Adriensens, 
the Vice-consul; he is sometimes replaced by the Chancellor, 
Mendez Quiros. In the Spanish Embassy in Washington, there 
are many men with this mission. There is Miguel Echegaray, 
Mr. Gortaza, Mr. Nunez, and Colonel Sierra, who is also in 
charge of the Secret Service. Gortaza is in charge of direct 
relations with the Japanese. Gortaza and Nunez are connected 
with the Falange groups in Mexico. They use young ladies 
for liaison work with the Mexican Falange cells. 

This reorganization was accompanied by the establish- 
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ment of a complete espionage network covering all ports 
in the United States. Falange agents on water-front assign- 
ments make their reports either to their Falange chiefs or to  
officers of visiting Spanish vessels who take their orders 
from Miguel Barcelo Martinez. 

Among the Falange agents now in our ports permanently 
are men like Jose G6mez and Julio Torres. Gomez (alias 
Conacha) was a spy for Franco in Spain during the Spanish 
War. H e  now works out of New York with Torres, a for- 
mer sailor who lives in the Puerto Rican section of Harlem. 
Both Torres and Gomez, who have no visible means of sup- 
port, are always well dressed and well supplied with funds. 
They frequent bars used by seamen of all nations in the 
New York area. One of their regular hangouts is the Inter- 
national Bar on South Street, opposite the New York and 
Cuba Mail Pier. They mingle regularly with Italian long- 
shoremen in Brooklyn and with known members of the 
Christian Front on the New York water front. At  least once 
a week they tour the bars frequented by sailors on tankers 
plying out of Bayonne, New Jersey-the Standard Oil re- 
fining and shipping center. 

Other Falangistas in American ports are occupied pri- 
marily with the task of smuggling vital and embargoed war 
materials to Spain. O n  at least two occasions, the United 
States Government has had to arrest Franco partisans for 
illegally sending aid to  the Axis via Spanish ships. 

The  Spanish freighter Isla de Teneriffe, operated by a 
Spanish company, was seized in New York on December I 5, 
1941, by federal agents as it was about to sail with a cargo of 
lubricating oil, airplane silk, and enough radio parts to  build 
fifty powerful short-wave transmitting stations. These war 
materials were being taken out of the country in violation 
of the export-control provisions of the Neutrality Act. 

Jose Albert! and Eduardo Fernando, captain and radio 
operator of the ship, were arrested. Marcelino Garcia and 
Manuel Diaz, representatives of the shiping line, and Jose 
Mayorga, a shipping broker, were placed under bond. 

The materials had been listed in the manifest as "ship's 
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stores." Garcia and Diaz were cleared of the charges when 
the Federal Attorney admitted that the government had no 
evidence to prove that they were directly implicated. 
Mayorga and the two ship's officers were fined $1000 each, 
the shipping line had to pay fines and penalties totalling 
$2 2,000, and the war materials were confiscated. 

Less than a year later, the F. B. I. announced that the 
captain of the Spanish liner M o t o m  and four other men 
in Baltimore and New York had been arrested on charges 
of smuggling platinum out of the United States. In addition 
to the captain and the first mate of the C. T. E. liner, the 
F. B. I. arrested three Spaniards in New York-Dr. Juan 
Tomas Bareno, Manuel Rodriguez, headwaiter at the Park 
Central Hotel and member of the Casa de Espafia, and Juan 
Gallego, a shipping man and leader of the Franco forces 
in New York. 

What Gallego never knew was that some of his Casa de 
Espafia camaradas who also happened to be his business rivals 
had had more than a little to do with his arrest. 

Early in 1943, the F. B. I. ended the American career of 
Francisco Larcegui, dean of the Falange agents in the 
United States. Without consulting the State Department, 
the F. B. I. quietly saw to it that Larcegui departed for 
Madrid. The Falangista left behind a mistress employed by 
a government bureau and a host of fellow Spanish Falan- 
gistas still enjoying the hospitality of the United States. 
But he left with the certain knowledge that if he tries to 
return to the United States during the war he will wind up 
in a federal prison. He  is now believed to be in Argentina. 
But his old superior, Francisco Lucientes, is still function- 
ing in Washington. 

The Falange in the United States, at this writing, is still 
an effective organization-doing Hitler's work with what 
amounts to immunity, and doing it well. Its chief strength 
lies in the diplomatic immunity the Falange legations con- 
tinue to enjoy. Outside of Larcegui, none of the other key 
Falangist agents has been molested. Against the diplo- 
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matic immunity the leading Falangistas enjoy, the excellent 
work of the F. B. I. and of Army and Navy Intelligence is 
almost completely wasted. Only the end of diplomatic 
relations with Hitler Spain can seriously affect the machina- 
tions of the Falange Exterior in the United States. 

Yet even the breach of diplomatic relations with Franco 
might be somewhat nullified in a strange manner. 

Early in 1941 an individual named Augustin Guitierrez 
de Balbontin, or the Marques de Aguiar, arrived in Washing- 
ton on a British passport. The Marques registered with the 
State Department as the official representative of the Catho- 
lic and the Royalist parties of Spain. His mission, he told 
reporters, was to win American aid in a movement to throw 
Franco out of power. T o  replace Franco, the Marques 
proposed to restore the old Spanish monarchy. 

T o  reporters, the Marques conveyed information which 
had long been known to all governments. He  revealed that 
the Falange, directed by Berlin, was working actively in 
Latin America. He  revealed that, since November 1940, 
there had been at least twelve German divisions in Spain. He  
even described the Nazi military installations in the Canary 
Islands and in Spanish Morocco. 

The Marques sounded like a man who meant business. 
Spanish Republicans, however, refused to throw their hats 
into the air and cheer. Guided primarily by the knowledge 
that Republican opponents of Franco had less chance of 
getting United States visas than lepers, they began a quiet 
investigation of the Marques. 

A slight probe revealed that the royal title claimed by 
the distinguished visitor was not Spanish but Portuguese. 
It further disclosed that the last person to hold the title of 
Marques de Aguiar in the twentieth century was Prince 
Dom Luis de Portugal. Dom Luis married Donna Maria de 
Mendoza. They had one son, who died while very young- 
thereby extinguishing the title. 

On closer investigation, the claims of the gentleman in 
Washington began to seem as dubious as his title. 

About the only thing that could be learned about the 
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man in Washington was that he was the probable owner 
of a large estate in Rapallo, Italy. In 1942 he visited Mexico 
accompanied by an officer of the British Intelligence Service. 
In Washington he joins the Falangistas in damning the Span- 
ish Republic and talks about recruiting a legion of Spanish 
Royalists to fight against the Axis. 

The Marques, and his agent in Mexico-"the Marques 
de Castellon" born Luis Sevilla-seem to have won accept- 
ance as the official opposition to Franco. In  the light of 
events like the Darlan deal in North Africa, there would 
seem to be a real danger that in such "opposition forces" we 
can see the germ of a new appeasement scheme being de- 
vised by the State Department. 

On paper, the anti-Franco statements of men like the 
Marques de Aguiar sound good. But it must never be for- 
gotten that the parties the Marques says he represents 
formed the Spanish part of the Axis armies in the Spanish 
War. It was they who plotted with the Nazis to  overthrow 
the Republic, and it is they who enjoy all the privileges of 
trusted Quislings in Spain today. They live well, they eat 
surpassingly well, and they have regained each of the 
privileges they had lost under the Republic. There is no 
reason why they should rise against Franco-unless Hitler 
orders such a rising. 

Remember always that Hitler's chief use of Spain in this 
war is a source of oil and other supplies, and as a base of 
operations for spies and agents. T o  maintain these values, 
Hitler will not hesitate for one moment to sacrifice Franco 
for another puppet government which will perform the 
same services for him in Spain. 

Reviving the Spanish monarchy might well turn out to  
be one of Hitler's trump cards in Spain. The Spanish Mon- 
archists themselves-the huge landowners and industrialists 
- cou ld  continue to serve the Axis, and the Falangistas could 
simply change their uniforms. They know the art of chang- 
ing uniforms well. In fact, Jose Maria Alfaro-who arrived 
in Washington as a member of Marques de Aguiar's "offi- 
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cial" Monarchist mission in I 94 I-subsequently turned up 
at a Nazi congress in Weimar, Germany, in November 
1942. Alfaro and Ernesto Gimenez Caballero spoke as offi- 
cial representatives of the Spanish Falange at this congress. 

The Marques and his Mexican agent spread many stories 
about dissension in the Spanish Army. They are the source 
of endless rumors about Spanish generals becoming dis- 
satisfied with Franco, angry at the Nazis, and anxious to  
assume the mantles of the Spanish Girauds and Peyroutons. 
These stories would sound better if Spanish generals were 
not now commanding Axis troops on the Russian front and 
doing Hitler's police work in Spain. They would sound still 
better if they did not come on the heels of similar rumors 
from Germany. 

During the first World War, we heard similar tales about 
the German generals turning on the Kaiser. But after that 
war, the German generals destroyed the Weimar Republic 
and organized Hitler's armies. Even before the beginning 
of World War  11, the Nazis were starting whispering cam- 
paigns abroad about dissension between the generals of the 
old Reichswehr and the Nazis. These whispers rise to a shrill 
crescendo every time the Allies slap another German army 
around. But somehow the Nazi legions never seem to lack 
for Junker generals. 

On the heels of these rumors, the stories about the dissatis- 
faction of Franco's generals have an all too familiar Reichs- 
wehr ring. But then, it is a Reichswehr general who runs 
Spain today. His name, lest we ever forget it, is General 
Wilhelm von Faupel. 

The Marques de Aguiar, despite the dubiousness of his 
title, might be perfectly sincere. But he is admittedly the 
representative of those Spanish parties which joined with 
Hitler to destroy the Spanish Republic and bring Spain into 
the Axis. H e  is admittedly still an enemy of the only Span- 
iards who stood up and fought the Axis invasion of the 
Spanish Republic. His toleration by the State Department 
must therefore be classed as one of the most disturbing 
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aspects of the Spanish icture today. If he does succeed in ? winning the support o London and Washington, we will 
find ourselves backing the creation of a Spanish government 
composed of just those Spaniards who have made the 
Falange a menace to our security as a nation. 

C H A P T E R  E L E V E N :  

Womb of Postwar Fascism 

THE FALANGE EXTERIOR is the "Auslands division" of Hit- 
ler7s Spanish-speaking offensive against the United Nations. 
In this book we have seen the way the Falange Exterior 
operates in the Latin-American lands closest to our own 
borders, in the United States itself, in the Philippines, and- 
briefly-on the continent of South America. We  have seen 
the Falange Exterior for what it is-a vast, organized, and 
highly dangerous Axis Fifth Column poised to strike in full 
force at the first word from the German High Command. 

But what of Falangist Spain itself? Does Spain hold the 
same degree of menace for the United Nations? Or  is 
Hitler's chief concern in Latin America? 
, On December 7, 1942, the first anniversary of the bomb- 

ing of Pearl Harbor, Generalissimo Francisco Franco y 
Bahamonde, the nominal chief (by courtesy of the Third 
Reich) of the Spanish State, acknowledged Hitler's birth- 
day greetings with a gracious thank-you telegram. "Many 
thanks to you and the German peoples," Franco wired Hit- 
ler. "May your arms triumph in the glorious undertaking 
of freeing Europe from the Bolshevik terror." 

What Franco meant by "Bolshevik terror," of course, 
is known in the non-Axis world as the United Nations. 
Lest this be misunderstood, Franco, on the day following 
his wire to Hitler, delivered a long speech to the National 
Council of the Falange Espafiola Tradicionalista de la 
J. 0. N. S. in Madrid. The speech was broadcast to the en- 
tire nation. Among the honored guests of the Falange, at this 
meeting, were the German Ambassador; Sir Samuel Hoare, 
the British Ambassador; Carlton J. H. Hayes, the Ameri- 
can Ambassador; the Papal Nuncio; and other top-ranking 
diplomats. 

Franco spoke at length about Spain's role in the world at 
war, spoke in the weird mystic sentences so typical of 
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Falingismo. The war, he declared, was one which con- 
fronted the world with only one choice: fascism or com- 
munism. And Spain, he said, chose fascism. 

In his speech Franco praised Mussolini as the founder of 
"the Fascist revolution-a social urge and a national idea. 
Later," Franco continued, "Germany found a new solution 
for the popular yearnings in national socialism, which unites 
the national and social idea for the second time in Europe 
with the special peculiarities of a race thirsting for inter- 
national justice. 

"Those are not isolated movements," Franco told the 
Falangistas and diplomats present to hear his speech, "but 
rather aspects of one and the same general movement and 
mass rebellion throughout the world. On the face, a new, 
useful consciousness emerged, which reacts against the 
hypocrisy and inefficiency of the old systems." 

Franco pulled few punches in his address. "The moment 
of disillusionment is not far distant," he continued. "When 
the war ends and demobilization begins, the moment will 
arrive to settle accounts and to fulfill promises. 

"Then, whatever projects there may exist now, the his- 
toric destiny of our era will be seeded, either according 
to the barbarous formula of Bolshevist totalitarianism, or ac- 
cording to the spiritual, patriotic formula Spain offers us, 
or  according to any other formula of the Fascist nations. 

"Those are mistaken," Franco said, "who dream of the 
establishment of democratic liberal systems in Western 
Europe, bordering on Russian communism. Those err who 
speculate on liberal peace agreements or a bourgeois solu- 
tion." 

The speech of Francisco Franco, like his wire to Adolf 
Hitler, was clear as crystal to everyone but government 
officials in Washington and London. Both the White House 
and the State Department refused to comment on the speech 
at all. A United Press survey of official circles in London 
came up with the news that British leaders saw the speech as 
"mere lip service" to the Axis. The U. P. quoted one "Lon- 
don commentator" as saying: "Lip service to the Axis can 

Womb of Postwar Fascism 245 

be expected from the present Spanish leaders up to Ger- 
many's final defeat. This does not alter the fact that Spain 
wants to remain neutral and Franco knows it." 

Berlin, to be sure, saw the speech in a more realistic light. 
The diplomatic correspondent of the Nazi Transocean 
News Agency reported that Berlin felt it was a "great speech 
championing the European cause and as a spiritual declara- 
tion of war against liberalism, democracy, and Bolshevism." 

Eight days after the speech was delivered in Madrid, For- 
eign Secretary Anthony Eden blandly refused to heed the 
demands of many members of the House of Commons, that 
Britain send Franco a stiff note for his utterances. Eden de- 
clared that he could sense "no value" in such an action. 

At the moment Hitler was chuckling over Eden's answer 
to the House of Commons requests, Franco called up the 
third military class to be conscripted since November 1942. 
And the Spanish Blue Legions, IOO,OOO strong, went on 
firing their guns from the Nazi front-line positions in the 
Soviet Union. 

On January I 5, I 943, American Ambassador Carlton 
Hayes delivered a speech of his own in Madrid-this time to 
a group of diplomats and Spanish officials. The topic of 
his talk was "American War  Aims." Ambassador Hayes 
attacked Germany, Japan, and Italy, praised the Atlantic 
Charter, and then attacked what he chose to define as Axis- 
inspired murmurs that Falangist Spain could not survive a 
United Nations victory. 

"If the political and social institutions of this country 
(Spain) undergo change or modification in future years," 
Hayes declared, "it will be the work of Spaniards within 
Spain-not of the United States or  of Spanish 6migr6s." 

Less than a week after this speech was delivered, I had 
dinner with a group of Latin-American diplomats in Wash- 
ington-all of them individuals in close touch with their 
countries. T o  a man, they swore (and not too pleasantly) 
that with these few ill-chosen words, Hayes had set the 
United States back at least fifty years in Latin America, and 
all but destroyed our prestige with that vast majority of 
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Spaniards within Spain who live only for that day they can 
strike a mortal blow at their Nazi overlords. The Hayes 
speech was instantly interpreted as an American guarantee 
that Falangist Spain will not be held to account for its 
open, if undeclared, war on the United Nations. 

The remarks Hayes made about the "Spanish emigres" 
were particularly painful reading to all enemies of the 
Axis. For these emigres include those whole companies of 
Spanish Republican soldiers who were among the first to 
instruct and fight with the British Commandos; those regi- 
ments of emigre Spanish Republicans who joined the French 
Foreign Legion to continue their armed struggle against 
Hitler7s troops and who were interned in North African 
prison camps by Pitain and Lava1 after the fall of France; 
those thousands of emigre Spanish Republicans who risk 
their lives daily in their unceasing campaign against Falan- 
gist spies and agents in the New World. In effect, Ambas- 
sador Hayes said that those Spaniards who have been waging 
war against the Axis since July 1936 are undesirables; that 
the only Spaniards worthy of American support are those 
Latin Quislings who hold empty offices merely by the good 
graces of Adolf Hitler and General Wilhelm von Faupel. 

The Hayes speech came at a time when American troops 
in North Africa were exposing their flanks to the Nazi- 
armed and Nazi-led troops of Spanish Morocco. This Span- 
ish colony itself was the seat of all anti-American Fifth 
Column activities in North Africa. Here Falangist chiefs 
were and are working with all elements who can add to 
the toll of American lives in the African theater of this 
war. Among the men who are working so closely with 
the Falange in Spanish Morocco are Merebi Rebbo, the 
Hitler-blessed "Blue Sultan" and the former chief of the 
pro-Axis Iraq government, Rashid Ali El-Gailani. (In 
Spanish Morocco, while Spain was still a republic in 1936, 
the government had a garrison of 1683 officers and 40,383 
men. The Fascists increased this garrison, in 1939, to two 
complete army corps-a force of over 200,000 soldiers. By 
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1943, this 200,000 strong army had been more than doubled 
in size.) 

Were the Hayes speech the isolated remarks of a not- 
too-intelligent American citizen, it could be overlooked. 
It is no secret that, during the Spanish War, Carlton Hayes 
was one of Franco7s most outspoken partisans in American 
university circles. As an individual who attacked today's 
Spanish emigres when they started to fight Hitler7s legions, 
Hayes has a perfect right to retain his animosity for the 
Spanish Republicans. But when Hayes spoke in Madrid on 
January 15, 1942, he no longer spoke as a medieval-minded 
professor in a private university. He  spoke as the United 
States Ambassador to a Spain which at that moment held a 
minimum of 16 divisions of Nazi troops within its borders 
-Nazi troops poised to take Gibraltar and kill American 
soldiers in North Africa. 

For obvious reasons, the Hayes speech is a warning signal 
to all Americans that something has gone wrong somewhere. 
It is a sign that the full significance of Axis Spain must be 
examined-and at once. 

The time has come for all whose destinies are bound up 
with victory for the United Nations in this war to turn 
the spotlight on the menace Spain holds for just this victory. 
W e  must examine and evaluate and act-lest our delay add 
at least another million lives to the cost of ultimate victory. 
W e  must begin to see Falangist Spain in its true colors- 
Hitler Spain with its networks of spies and hidden war 
bases in the Western Hemisphere, its Blue Legion of IOO,OOO 
troops fighting against our allies in Russia, and its terrify- 
ing "neutrality." 

This neutrality of Falangist Spain is one of Hitler's rich- 
est Iberian bonanzas. It pays enormous dividends daily. 
T o  thousands of United Nations seamen, one of the divi- 
dends Hitler gets from Spanish neutrality has never been 
a secret. This dividend is oil. 

Since the summer of 1939, a fleet of nearly eighty tankers 
and merchant ships flying the crimson and gold flag of 
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Franco Spain has been carrying oil and gasoline from 
Curacao and other ports in the Caribbean to the Canary 
Islands, Tangiers, Vigo, Barcelona, Ceuta, Cadiz, and other 
neutral Spanish ports. These ships were often supplemented 
by the tankers of other nations-including the United States 
-which maintained diplomatic relations with Franco Spain. 

None of the Spanish tankers are painted wartime gray or 
otherwise camouflaged. Not one of them has been deliber- 
ately torpedoed or attacked by air since the war began, 
although United Nations freighters bound for United Na- 
tions ports have been sunk regularly in these waters since 
September 1939. 

At Teneriffe the fuel carried by these neutral Spanish 
ships is transferred to  the storage tanks of the great sub- 
marine base the German Navy started to construct in 
1937. This Canary Islands depot not only fuels Nazi sub- 
marines but also transfers vast quantities of oil to Italian 
and German tankers which visit the port regularly. 

A newer German submarine base is serviced by the Span- 
ish tankers which call at Vigo, in Galicia, an important port 
near the Portuguese border. Vigo is more than a German 
submarine base, however. It is also the city which harbors 
the chief southern European headquarters of German.Inte1- 
ligence. 

The Nazis maintain naval fueling stations at Ceuta, 
Melilla, Cadiz, and Tangiers, as well as emergency air bases 
for all Axis aircraft. These bases, too, are serviced by the 
tankers which ply blithely between the Caribbean and 
Spain. 

When gasoline rationing began to  affect thousands of 
American motorists, the Nazis in Madrid made political 
capital out of the Hitler oil line to Spain. They released 
a story, shortly before Christmas 1942, to the effect that 
a new pact with the United States had eased the restrictions 
on gasoline for private automobile owners in Spain. Wash- 
ington authorities issued quick denials. The Associated 
Press quoted one anonymous official who denied that gaso- 
line supplies were flowing from the United States to Spain, 
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but affirmed that Spanish tankers were loading up at Carib- 
bean ports. 

T o  date, no American official has seen fit to comment on 
the ultimate consumers of this oil. The Nazi bases which get 
this oil are not imaginary. Hundreds of American seamen 
have seen them. Nevertheless, the newspapers and radio 
commentators periodically repeat the Nazi-propaganda 
story about Franco's latest refusal to  cede these bases to the 
Nazis. With each repetition of this fairy tale, the myth 
of Franco's independence has grown. The fact that all of 
these stories have originated from such obvious sources of 
Nazi propaganda as Switzerland, Turkey, and Stockholm 
has .been generally overlooked. 

The quest for oil has long been one of Hitler's principal 
war aims. H e  has, to date, received probably more oil via 
Spanish neutrality than he has through European conquest. 
The Nazi efforts to preserve this Spanish oil line have also 
proved far less costly in men and material since September 
1939 than the drives for the oil of Roumania, Trans-Cauca- 
sia, and the fields of Maikop. For the preservation of this 
Spanish oil line, then, if for no other reason, Hitler can ill 
afford to  sacrifice Spanish neutrality for the sake of a few 
redundant headlines in the German press. 

Hitler's anxiety to preserve Spanish neutrality is there- 
fore much easier to comprehend than the frantic official 
anxiety over this specious neutrality that crops up on Mon- 
days and Thursdays in London and Washington. Apologists 
and official spokesmen for the Foreign Office and the State 
Department explain our continued appeasement of Franco 
Spain in only one way: United Nations appeasement of 
Spain is preserving Spanish neutrality. 

These apologists for appeasement present a case that 
would be impregnable if it had the remotest relation to  the 
ugly realities of the world of 1943. The case is based largely 
on the map of southern Europe and North Africa, a map 
which includes Gibraltar and the Mediterranean. Pointing to  
this map, the spokesmen for appeasement point to Spanish 
Morocco and the 500,ooo troops it harbors. They point to 
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Spain's strategic position, its proximity to Gibraltar and 
France. 

"Here then is the map," runs a typical appeasement argu- 
ment. "If we offend Franco, he will send his 500,000 troops 
in Spanish Morocco against our troops in North Africa. 
Moreover, Spanish troops will attack Gibraltar. Therefore, 
we must remain on good terms with the Spanish leader. 
Moreover, if we get Franco angry, he will turn over the 
Canary Islands and the Balearics to  Hitler for use as sub- 
marine and air bases against us. Moreover, Hitler will then 
overrun Spain itself." 

The commanders of the Nazi submarine and air bases in 
Spanish Morocco, the Canaries, and the Belearics, like the 
officers of the minimum of sixteen divisions of German 
troops in Spain itself, find this argument comforting reading 
when British and American papers fall into their hands. 
They are even more amused by the argument put forth in 
London and Washington, and repeated frequently in the 
British and American press, that Hitler represents the 
greatest threat to  the neutrality Franco is trying valiantly to  
preserve. 

The Nazis are far from loath to spread this story. Nazi 
propaganda mills in Berlin, Bern, Ankara, Stockholm, and 
Madrid have been keeping this story alive since 1939. From 
the very start of the war, Nazi-planted stories have kept the 
press of Britain and America speculating at great length 
about Franco's chances of making a firm stand against the 
rapacious Nazis. This propaganda has been so successful 
that all newspaper war maps of Europe always show Spain 
as a neutral nation-in contrast to Axis-Germany and Italy 
and Axis-dominated France and Holland and other Axis- 
occupied countries. 

This Nazi plan to  paint Francisco Franco as the Great 
Neutral has, in many instances, followed certain proved 
Nazi formulae. One of these has been the creation of an 
Ersatz set of Axis foes within the portals of an Axis govern- 
ment. Since 1933 the Nazis found that this stunt worked 
quite well in Germany: starry-eyed statesmen and corre- 
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spondents accepted at  face value Nazi fictions which di- 
verted their attention from Nazi realities. Chief among these 
fictions has been the once-well-believed story that Herman 
Goering was really a moderate conservative who joined the 
Nazis only to  stamp out communism, but was really a friend 
of the Western Democracies. The  Goering myth still lin- 
gers, as does the other hardy Nazi lie about the Reichswehr 
generals who always hated Hitler. 

In Spain, the Nazis created a neat little straw man to  
play Hitler to Franco's Goering. This straw man was Ser- 
rano Suner, Franco's brother-in-law and, before July 1936, 
a nonentity of minute proportions. Carefully the Nazis built 
Suner up as the very symbol of Spain-Axis collaboration. 
Suner was made Foreign Minister of the puppet Spanish 
State. His visits to Berlin and Rome were broadcast'to the 
world by the Nazis. His violent pro-Nazi speeches were 
conceived and edited by  no less a personality than General 
Wilhelm von Faupel himself. 

When Suner was sufficiently, tarred by the Nazi brush, 
the Nazi rumor mills in Turkey and Switzerland began to  
put out wild stories of dissension within Spain. The  wilder 
the stories, the more credence they gained in our press. T h e  
gist of these stories was that Franco and Suner were quar- 
reling over Spain's neutrality: Suner was demanding that 
Spain go in on the side of the Axis, whereas Franco, the 
anti-Nazi, was holding out for neutrality. 

These rumors were reaching their peak in the summer of 
1942. By that time, the German High Command started to  
realize that the Soviet oil fields were not going to fall into 
Nazi hands for at least another year-if ever. Anxious eyes 
in Berlin looked toward the Spanish oil line from the 
Western Hemisphere to Nazi Europe. Nazi leaders locked 
heads over the problem and started to work out a means of 
making this Spanish oil field more secure. 

A plan was devised in Berlin, with the assistance of von 
Faupel in Madrid. It called for Falangist leaders in Latin 
America to start weeping for the art treasures of old Spain 
in the presence of American diplomats and good-will mis- 
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sions. When the dewy-eyed Americans handed the weeping 
Falangistas their handkerchiefs, the Latin-American art 
lovers were then to  hint broadly that if the United States 
would only do something about restoring the ruined paint- 
ings and churches of Spain, Franco would surely do some- 
thing to please the Jew-Protestant-Masonic dogs of Yankees. 

The  plan worked like a charm. Toward the end of August 
1942 President Roosevelt announced that, in co-operation 
with Latin-American leaders, the United States would set up 
a project to restore Spain's churches, roads, and art treas- 
ures after the war. The  pro-Axis press in Latin America 
picked this up and played it as a Roosevelt endorsement of 
Franco. The astringent-tongued Clare Booth Luce, then 
running for Congress, quickly painted this move as "our old 
friend appeasement under a new name." While the Nazis 
gloated, Mrs. Luce went on to say: 

The insidious thing about the proposed art project in Spain 
is that it implies that Franco will be there after the war. If any 
Fascist dictator is there after the war, we will already have 
lost the peace. 

But Mrs. Luce7s all-too-rational words were buried in the 
mountains of columns the press devoted to the Spanish event 
which followed the President's announcement. For on Sep- 
tember 3, 1942, the appeasement gesture brought forth a 
redundant dividend: Suner was dismissed as both Foreign 
Minister and Chief of the Falange. 

Typical of the headlines on this story was the one 
appearing in the N.  Y. Post on that day: "FRANC0 
KICKS O U T  SUNER, NAZI STOOGE." Said the United 
Press: 

Serrano Suner was the foremost advocate of all-out collab- 
oration with Hitler and chief backer of the totalitarian Falange 
Party. For many months there have been repeated reports of 
a split between Serrano Suner and General Franco over the 
question of complete Spanish collaboration with the Axis. . . . 
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The Spanish censorship prevented correspondents from indi- 
cating what factors lay behind General Franco's sudden move. 
However, it was noted that only last week President Roosevelt 
advanced a program of American aid in restoring Spanish art 
treasures and cultural monuments damaged in Spain's bitter 
civil war. . . . The upheaval indicates at least the possibility 
of a Spanish swing away from the Axis orbit and toward that 
of the Allies. 

In Washington, State Department appeasers pointed 
proudly to Suner's dismissal as a positive achievement of 
master diplomacy. N o  one bothered to look into the records 
of the "moderates" who entered the Spanish Government in 
this "anti-Nazi shake-up." Had the new Ministers been in- 
vestigated, the appeasers might have been forced to sing 
another tune. 

T o  replace Suner as head of the Falange, Franco "chose" 
Manuel Mora Figueroa-who had to return from the Soviet 
Front, where he was a leader of the Nazi Army's Spanish 
Blue Divisions, to accept the job. Figueroa, who was also 
made Minister of Industry and Commerce, is a veteran 
Falange leader whose pro-Nazi views were never kept 
secret. General Carlos Asensio Cabinallas, who became W a r  
Minister in the purge which pushed Suner out of the gov- 
ernment, is another old Falange leader who proved his worth 
to von Faupel by strengthening the Nazi grip on the Spanish 
Army long before the "Suner Crisis." Bias Perez Gonzalez, 
the prominent "moderate" who became Minister of Govern- 
ment in this shake-up, previously served as the Attorney- 
General of the Supreme Court-where he was responsible 
for the legal veneer given to  the Nazi terror waged on all 
anti-Nazis in Spain. 

Within the Falange itself, those Falangistas who had been 
closest to  Suner were promoted to more important posts 
after Suner was dropped. 

These realities, however, seem to have been overlooked in 
London and Washington. Franco7s move, although plainly 
dictated by the oil-hungry Nazis, was fervently accepted at 
its face value. The Spanish oil line remained untouched. 
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By the time Francisco Franco made his December 8 

speech to the Grand Council of the Falange, Serrano Suner 
had long since been restored to his position on the Falange 
National Council. Suner was sitting on the dais as big as 
life when the American and the British ambassadors heard 
Franco call for an Axis victory over the United Nations. 
But despite Suner, despite Franco's words, our own ap- 
peasers were still making bright sayings about the anti- 
Axis importance of Spanish neutrality even after the Russian 
Army increased Hitler's dependence on the Spanish oil 
lines by retaking the Maikop oil fields in the January 1943 
offensive. 

General Wilhelm von Faupel, architect of Falangist Spain 
and its actual ruler, is no fool. H e  knows exactly how 
popular Adolf Hitler is in the non-Axis world, and he 
knows precisely what the consequences would be if Spanish 
neutrality were ended by an overt move on the part of the 
Spanish and German armies in Spain or Spanish Morocco. 

The Nazi Gauleiter of Spain knows full well that appease- 
ment, which bore such a heavy responsibility for the tri- 
umph of Nazi arms in Spain, is still the key to the defenses 
of Hitler's Spanish outpost. The thunderous reverses the 
Nazis have suffered on the Russian and African fronts- 
which have decimated German reserves of both men and 
materials-have made Axis Spain more dependent than ever 
upon appeasement as a prerequisite of Fascist power. 

Any overt military move would, by sheer weight of rnili- 
tary logic (which is generally closer to earth than diplo- 
matic logic), force the end of appeasement in Spain. An 
analysis of the certain consequences of what would follow 
if what the appeasers claim they fear most materializes, ex- 
plains why. The appeasers justify their action by making 
dire prophecies that Spain will attack Gibraltar from the 
Spanish mainland and our own troops in Africa from 
Spanish Morocco unless we give in to Franco at every 
turn. 

But von Faupel could and probably has drawn a blue- 
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print of what would follow if Spanish neutrality ended in 
this manner. In essence, this blueprint would run some- 
thing like this: 

As soon as the attacks were launched, the American and 
British military chiefs would counter with force. This 
counter-move would bring with it a declaration of war on 
the part of the United Nations against Spain. War  would 
end Spanish neutrality, and with the end of this neutrality 
would come the end of the Spanish oil line which supplies 
Hitler's armed forces with oil from the New World. 

The  immediate effect of this open attack, then-even 
if Hitler's Spanish puppets raze Gibraltar and kill thousands 
of American soldiers in North Africa-would be the total 
loss of a vital oil supply for the oil-starved Nazi war ma- 
chine. 

The Nazi submarine bases in the Canaries and the Ba- 
learics would be bombed incessantly by American planes 
and, probably, captured by combined American and British 
naval and aerial forces. 

The  fleet of C. T. E. liners which today deliver hundreds 
of Axis spies and agents to all of the Western Hemisphere 
and transport vital food and war necessities from the 
New World to  Nazi Germany would no longer be free 
to  cross the oceans. The end of this vital link with the 
Americas, plus the closing of the Falange-controlled Iega- 
tions in every North and South American country except 
Argentina, would cripple the effectiveness of the Falange 
Exterior. 

Within Spain itself, our armies would discover a popula- 
tion which will receive them as long-waited liberators. 
The  hundreds of unsung Spanish Republican guerrilla bands 
who are making Nazi lives miserable in Spain today would 
seek out the American troops and join forces with them. 
In the hills of the Asturias alone, there is a guerrilla army 
of some 50,000 trained men who have been waging un- 
ceasing war on the Nazis since 1939. This and similar exist- 
ing armies would fight alongside of our troops in Spain. 
Our military leaders would quickly discover that Spain has 
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over 500,000 trained veterans of the three-year war against 
Hitler-a half-million tested soldiers ready to pick up 
American guns and use them for the extermination of Nazis. 

The development of the American counter-offensive in 
Spain would quickly create the kind of second European 
front Hitler has successfully avoided since the start of the 
war. Under the combined weight of American troops and 
Spaniards armed with American guns, Spain would not re- 
main in Axis hands for more than six months. The liquida- 
tion of fascism in Spain would hasten the United Nations 
drive on France-perhaps from both Spain and England 
at the same time. The United Nations drive on France 
would certainly cause the Russians to  intensify their own 
drive on Germany. 

This entire prospect is enough to  give the Nazi leaders 
nightmares-and to guarantee against their allowing it to 
happen of their own free will. Spain's neutrality, like von 
Faupel's Hispanidad, is carefully utilized and protected by  
the Nazis as a war instrument of the Third Reich. 

The fruits of this neutrality must never be ignored. Oil 
from the Americas. Phosphates-without which soils lose 
their fertility-from Spanish Morocco. Oranges and olive 
oil from Spain. Wheat, cattle, leather, wool. Copper, zinc, 
mercury, silver. The riches of Spain and the fruits of Span- 
ish commerce. Only the neutrality of Spain can keep these 
necessities flowing into the increasingly hungry German 
maw. The  last figures released by the Spanish Ministry of 
Commerce tell the story in their own way: Spanish exports 
to  Germany rose from 14 million pesetas in I 940 to I 6 I mil- 
lion pesetas in I 94 I, placing Germany squarely at the top of 
the list of Spain's export customers. Little wonder that the 
1942 figures were not revealed! (Nor, in citing these figures, 
must we overlook the aid given to  the Axis by Portugal, that 
other Fascist state of the Iberian Peninsula. Portuguese ex- 
ports to Germany rose from 29,000,ooo escudos in 1940 to  
565,000,ooo escudos in 1941-quite a tidy little boom for a 
neutral nation.) 

Despite the claims of our appeasers, it is painfully clear 
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that the only beneficiaries of Spanish neutrality are the Nazi 
masters of Spain. Similarly, it is also evident that for the sake 
of victory in this war, the United Nations must take imme- 
diate steps to end this Nazi-devised pseudo-neutrality. Even 
if this myth is ended by a formal declaration of war, the 
benefits to  be gained by this act will far outweigh the costs. 

Advocates of the continuing appeasement of Falangist 
Spain have one last-ditch argument: the effect of a United 
Nations stand against Franco on Latin America. Their 
claim, as stated, seems formidable. "The nations of Latin 
America are all firmly Catholic nations," runs this argument; 
"and Franco is a leader blessed by the Pope himself. As 
Catholics, Latin Americans support Falangist Spain. But 
more than religion binds the average Latin American to  
Falangist Spain. There are also the ties of race and blood 
with the mother country. These ties explain the widespread 
sympathy Franco has found in Latin America." 

Like most appeasement theses, this one simply fails to  
stand up against the truth. The political power and the size 
of the Catholic Church in Latin America are grossly over- 
rated. In most countries of Latin America, the political in- 
fluence of the Church has been on the decline for the last 
four decades. Whatever support native Fascists and Spanish 
Fascists won from the Church Hierarchies during the past 
few decades has speeded the decline of the Church's political 
influence with the common people of the Latin countries. 
For just as the power of the Church has been consistently 
overrated, so, too, have the inherent intelligence and instinct 
for democracy of the average Latin-American Catholic been 
vastly underrated. 

T h e  average Catholic, like the average Protestant or athe- 
ist, in Latin America is not a person of means. He  is a person 
who has to  work for a meager living, who suffers under 
tyranny, who benefits from even the slightest vestige of 
democracy. When he is forced to choose between fascism 
and democracy, the average Latin-American Catholic will 
choose democracy-whether or not his Church backs fas- 
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cism. In Latin America, when the Church has become ada- 
mant and demanded that communicants choose fascism or 
suffer excommunication, such ultimatums have generally 
seen the Church losing members in droves. 

The 1942 Uruguayan general elections are a fairly good 
reflection of the actual power of political clericalism. The 
candidate of the pro-United States and liberal Colorado 
(Red) Parry, Juan Jose Amezaga, won the Presidency by a 
vote of more than twice that given his Blanco (White) 
Party opponent-who ran on an isolationist, hate-Uncle 
Sam platform. The Colorados elected eighteen senators, the 
Blancos seven, the Independent Nationalists three, and the 
Catholic Party-exactly one senator. The  Chamber of Dep- 
uties, Uruguay's lower house, was formed of sixty-one Col- 
orado~, twenty-two Blancos, ten Independent Nationalists, 
three Catholics, two Communists, and one Socialist. . 

These figures show that Latin-American Catholics-Uru- 
guay is an almost completely Catholic country-are as in- 
dependent in their political thinking as are North American 
Protestants. Every candidate elected in the Uruguayan elec- 
tions-from the Colorados who stood for the democratic 
liberalism and the Communists who stood for the Marxism 
Franco has chosen to  designate as the twin evils of the 
modem world-was put into office by the ballots of Latin 
American Catholics. In the light of these figures, it is, there- 
fore easy to understand why, in 1943, Uruguay declared 
April 14-the twelfth anniversary of the founding of the 
Spanish Republic-a legal holiday. The Governments of 
Cuba, Chile, and Mexico sent official delegations to Monte- 
video to join in the initial celebration of this "Day of the 
Motherland." 

The racial ties which bind Latin Americans to Franco 
Spain are misunderstood. Every Latin American country 
has a comparative handful of Spaniards and sons of Span- 
iards of great wealth-men whose funds are in large or small 
measure tied up in Spanish investments. This element backed 
the Fascists against the Spanish Republic because they felt 
that this was best for their investments. Now that Hitler has 
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frozen all Spanish funds, these investments no longer pay 
dividends. Most of the wealthy Spaniards in Latin America 
are convinced that their Spanish funds will be unfrozen if 
the Axis wins the war. Consequently, to  guarantee their 
Spanish investments, they back Hitler and Hitler-Spain. 

But these Franco supporters represent a slim minority. 
The majority of the Spaniards and sons of Spaniards in Latin 
America are poor people who were driven to Latin America 
by the poverty of old Spain. A not inconsiderable number 
of them were Republicans and Freemasons and radicals who 
held the monarchy responsible for their misery. Their only 
stake in Franco Spain is their families-poor people, like 
themselves. Most poor people in Spain were and are Repub- 
licans, and, as such, are persecuted by the Falange in Spain. 

These people outnumber the Franco supporters in Latin 
America by about a hundred to one. During the Spanish 
War they fervently supported the Republic against the 
Fascists. 

Those Latin Americans who back the United Nations in 
this war-and they constitute the vast majority of the popu- 
lation of every country in Latin America, including Argen- 
tina-are against Franco as much as they are against Hitler. 
Precisely because of their racial, cultural, and often family 
ties with Spain, they were aware of the menace of Spain and 
the Falange long before Pearl Harbor. 

Beginning in July I 93 6, the people of the Latin-American 
countries have watched the spectacle of their own native 
Fascists, their own powerful enemies of democracy, line up 
solidly behind the Axis in Spain. Next to Spaniards today 
living under the iron heel of the Nazis in Spain itself or 
Spanish Republican emigres, our simple, average, hard- 
working Latin-American neighbors understand the real is- 
sues of Spain better than any other peoples in this world. 

If they actually seem a little anxious for the United Na- 
tions to invade Franco Spain, their anxiety can be traced to 
more than ideological tenets. Talk to a democratic United 
Nations statesman off the record, and the chances are that 
one phrase will crop up in the discussion. "To us Latin 
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Americans," he will say, "a long war is as bad as a lost war." 
What he means, of course, is that the war had just about 

completely cut off nonindustrial Latin America from its 
necessary quota of manufactured goods. In former years 
these necessities came largely from the United States and 
England-and to a lesser but considerable extent from the 
Axis nations. Unable to import manufactured goods, unable 
to  export their agricultural produce, the Latin-American 
nations are feeling the war more drastically than the United 
States. 

An example of how this pinch feels-and this case is 
chosen at random-is a typical Mexican town. This is a 
small but important town whose one sugar refining mill em- 
ploys some I 8,000 workers. The whole town draws its water 
from a central artesian well equipped with an American 
pump. Less than a year after Pearl Harbor, the pump began 
to  break down. Engineers who examined it pronounced i t  
beyond repair, and a hurry call was sent to the United States 
for a new pump and a new electric motor. After six months 
of agonizing negotiation, the town was able to secure a 
second-hand motor and a slightly used pump. During these 
six months, the pump broke down often. But the town was 
lucky. Many towns in Latin America have not been able to  
get needed pumps, or sewing machines, or even shoes, in 
time. 

Such hardships have been fuel for the Fascist fires burning 
all over Latin America. Falangistas-who control the press 
of so many Latin-American countries-play up these war- 
time hardships for all they are worth. The war will bring 
still wider misery to Latin America. In the wake of these 
hardships, the Falange Exterior-kept at top efficiency by 
its diplomatic network and the immunity of Spanish ships 
on the high seas-will pour Nazi oil on the war fires of 
Latin-American nations. 

"A long war is as bad as a lost war for us," the Latin- 
American democrats repeat. "Therefore any step that will 
shorten the war is one we will back. If this step is the inva- 
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sion of Falangist Spain, which most of us hate, so much the 
better." 

The appeasement sets of London and Washington suf- 
fered a shock when President Fulgencio Batista of Cuba 
visited the United States in January 1943 and frankly dis- 
cussed Spain with the reporters in New York. 

One reporter asked Batista: "What would be the effect 
in South America if the Allies should invade Spain? " 

Without hesitating Batista replied: "Everyone would love 
it!" H e  went on to explain in very graphic terms that such a 
move would meet with total support in all of Latin America. 

Perhaps President Batista was not speaking for all of the 
statesmen or the newspaper publishers of Latin America. But 
everyone who knows Latin America knows that Fulgencio 
Batista was voicing the sentiments of the overwhelming ma- 
jority of the people of the Latin-American nations. 

The facts, then, boil down to  one military possibility: 
thousands upon thousands of Latin Americans in belligerent 
and non-belligerent countries will be among the first to  vol- 
unteer for overseas duty if Falangist spain becomes a fight- 
ing front in this war. 

On  January 3 ,  1943, the American State Department is- 
sued a White Book on United States Foreign Policy during 
the decade 193 1-1941. Like the Carlton Hayes speech in 
Madrid, it was eloquent evidence that our State Department 
still persists in the disastrous belief that the international is- 
sues raised in July 1936-when Germany and Italy invaded 
Spain-were liquidated by the triumph of Axis arms in 
April 1939. 

The very thesis of the White Paper, stated on its opening 
page, exposes the fantastic blindness of the men responsible 
for our present costly policy toward Falangist Spain. The 
opening section of this important document is, correctly, 
entitled "The Fateful Decade." It starts with these words: 

The fateful decade, 193 1-1941, began and ended with acts 
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of violence by Japan. It was marked by the ruthless develop- 
ment of a determined policy of world domination on the part 
of Japan, Germany, and Italy. 

In 193 I Japan seized Manchuria. Two years later Germany 
withdrew from the Disarmament Conference and began re- 
arming. In 1934 Japan gave notice of termination of the Wash- 
ington Treaty for the Limitation of Naval Armament. 

In 1935 Italy invaded Ethiopia. In 1936 Hitler tore up the 
Treaty of Locarno and fortified the demilitarized Rhineland 
Zone. In 1937 Japan again attacked China. In 1938 Hitler oc- 
cupied Austria and dismembered Czechoslovakia. During the 
first half of 1939 Hitler completed the destruction of Czecho- 
slovakia and seized Memel, while Italy invaded Albania. 

In September 1939 Hitler struck at Poland, and during the 
two years that followed almost all of the countries of Europe 
were plunged or dragged into war. In 1940 Japan with threats 
of force entered French Indo-China. Finally, on December 7, 
1941, Japan launched an armed attack on the United States, 
followed immediately by declarations of war against the 
United States on the part of Japan, of Germany, of Italy, and 
of their satellites. 

During the decade described in these paragraphs, Italy 
and Germany invaded a sovereign republic about thirty 
times the size of Albania and subdued it after nearly three 
years of bloody warfare. It was the first major European 
battle of the World War  which finally hit us at Pearl 
Harbor in I 94 I. The world will never forget what happened 
in Spain. But the State Department evidently does not even 
know it happened. 

The White Book contains 144 pages of fairly small type. 
The chapter called "Civil Conflict in Spain" takes up just 
slightly less than one page. This page says, in part: 

Another threat to peace occurred in July 1936 with the out- 
break of a civil conflict in Spain. The attitude of this Govern- 
ment toward the conflict was based squarely upon the con- 
sistent policy of the United States of promoting peace and at s 

the same time avoiding involvement in war situations. . . . 



PROOF THAT SPANISH DIPLOMATS TAKE ORDERS from the
Falange Chiefs in Latin-American countries. This letter, sent by the Chief
of the Colombian Falange Valverde, was passed by the Spanish Censors.
(The important paragraphs are translated on page 29.) Luis Roldan
Moreno, recipient of this letter, later succeeded Valverde as Chief.

IN MANILA, BEFORE PEARL HARBOR, the Falange did not hide its
light beneath any bushel. Scenes like this were quite common. In the above
picture, published in La Democracia, of Manila, in July 7, 1941, the men
in the front row are (left to right) Antonio Porta, Falange Chief Martin
Pon, Andres Soriano, and Enrique Zobel. Soriano is now Secretary of The
Treasury in the Philippine Government-in-Exile.

ONE DAY AFTER José del Castano
(above) was appointed Spain’s Consul-
General in Manila, Arriba of Madrid
published official notice (right) of his
also being made Chief of the Falange
in the Philippines.

 



THE FALANGE EXTERIOR’S MYSTERIOUS “CAMARADA MAR-
TINEZ (wearing uniform) visits North and South American ports regu-
larly as a wireless operator on Spanish ships. (See Chapter Six.) With him
(above) are Sergio Cifuentes, Francisco Alvarez Garcia, and Miguel
Baguer. (See Chapter Three.)

CUBAN SECRET POLICE SEIZED THESE GUNS in the home of just one
Falange member in Havana during the raids of 1941 (see Chapter Three.)
Franco’s framed portrait was hidden with the rifles. Similar arsenals were
found in countless Falangist homes during the Cuban raids.
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IN THE SAME ROOM, at the same time, members and sympathizers
of the Falange of Puerto Rico posed under this picture of Hitler. The
first three men (left to right), José Maria del Valle, Dionisio Trigo
Jr., and Tomas Rodriguez were members of the Falange. Leopoldo
Martinez Ochoa, right, was Chief of the Puerto Rican Falange.

SECRET COURIERS have long carried special correspondence between
Spain and Falangist officials in the New World. Above is a letter from
Burgos (then capital of Franco Spain) to Puerto Rico, and the envelope
in which it arrived. Such letters—this one is addressed to the Chief of
Press and Propaganda of the Feminine Section of the Falange and prom-
ises to send certain requested materials–arrive on Spanish ships. They
are stamped “Franked Mail” but are carried by secret agents.

HEILS ACROSS THE BORDER was the order of the day when the
Nazi cruiser Meteor visited San Juan, Puerto Rico in 1938. The pro-
Falange Casa de Espana threw a party for the Nazi ship’s officers. The
Nazis assembled under Franco’s portrait, toasted the Falange, posed
for this picture. And the Captain made a pro-Franco speech.
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